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Across Alder Hey we use a range of technologies to 
support learning and our Simulation Special Interest 
Group (SIM-SIG) has gone from strength to strength 
in 2023/24, bringing together those with experience 
of and/or an interest in simulation. Partway through 
the year and reflective of the growth in simulation 
activity, a new approach to capturing and reporting 
simulation was introduced. During Quarter 3 and 
Quarter 4, 72 formal simulation sessions were run, 
covering topics such as sepsis, cardiac arrest, 
burns, anaesthetic emergencies and deterioration. 
Pre and post evaluations highlight the value of 
simulation in supporting staffs’ confidence, with 
participants typically recording a usefulness of 
between 9 and 10 (10 being the maximum) and an 
increase in confidence of between 3 to 5 points (on 
a 10-point scale). 

As a leading provider of paediatric care, we are 
keen to maximise opportunities for sharing our 
knowledge and expertise and to learn from others. 
Hundreds of learning events run throughout the 
year but some highlights include the 5th Annual 
Vestibular Conference in October 2023, which 
attracted delegates from as far afield as Mumbai, 
Bucharest, Nice and Barcelona. In addition, ENT 
colleagues hosted the prestigious European 
Society of Otorhinolaryngology 2023 Congress in 
the M&S Bank Arena, supported by the Academy 
Events Team. This reflects a shift in our ways of 
working as logistically not all events are able to be 
accommodated on-site. 

Other highlights include two practical paediatric 
radiology study days within our state-of-the-art 
Radiology Teaching Suite (provided in conjunction 
with the North West School of Radiology); our 
collaboration with Liverpool Medical Institute to 
offer an Aspiring Medics Programme (designed to 
enthuse, inspire, and support the next generation 
of doctors) and our work with Manchester 
Metropolitan University and the Alder Centre for 
education which ensures that all trainee teachers at 
MMU hear first-hand from young people about their 
experiences of mental health and how teachers/
schools can best support them. 

Reflecting our role as an anchor organisation within 
the city and given the need to attract talent from 
across a wide range of communities, we continue 
to work with internal and external partners to deliver 
our Inspiring Futures programmes.  

As part of this we:
•	Offer supported internships in partnership with 

Liverpool City 
Council, DfN 
Project Search 
and the Royal 
Liverpool 
University 
Foundation 
NHS Trust. 12 
young people 
are currently on 
the programme, 
which sees 
them develop 
skills across 
a range of 
placement 
areas during the 
year, with the 
aim of securing employment at the end of the 
programme.

•	Develop new partnerships to maximise the 
value of our placements and work experience 
opportunities for local young people with 
specific support needs.

•	Support a range of local careers related events 
for both primary and secondary schools. 

•	Run our Aspiring Medics Programme for those 
interested in medicine as a career.

•	Partner with The Prince’s Trust to offer 
employment support for young people aged 
16-29. 

•	Collaborate with other trusts across Cheshire 
and Merseyside in terms of career-related 
support for care experienced young people.

•	Deliver sessions for The Children’s University, 
which is an education programme working 
with children aged 5 - 14 to ignite a passion for 
learning, to raise aspirations and build self-
confidence. A recent Alder Hey broadcast saw 
over 2,000 children join online to explore all 
things ‘teeth’ related!

Simulation Exercise

Children’s University Mini Mouth Matters 
Zoom Broadcast by Alder Hey’s Dental Team.
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All Off-Payroll Workers Engaged at Any Point 
During the Year Ended 31st March 2024

2023/24
Number of Engagements

Number of Off-Payroll Workers Engaged During Year Ended March 2024 26
Of Which:   
No. Assessment as Within Scope of IR35 0
No. Assessment as Outside Scope of IR35 26
No. of Engagements Reassessed For Consistency/Assurance Purposes During the Year 0
No. of Engagements That Saw a Change To IR35 Status Following 
The Consistency Review 0

Number of Engagement Where the Status Was Disputed Under Provisions in the 
Off-Payroll Legislation 0

Of Which: Number of Engagements That Saw a Change to IR35 Status Following Review 0

Table 2: All Off-Payroll Workers Engaged at any Point During the Year Ended 31 March 2024

Table 3: For any Off-Payroll Engagements of Board Members, and/or Senior Officials, 
With Significant Financial Responsibility, Between 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024

No. of Off-Payroll Engagements of Board Members, and/or Senior Officials With 
Significant Financial Responsibility, During the Financial Year 1

No. of Individuals That Have Been Deemed “Board Members and/or Senior Officials 
With Significant Financial Responsibility” During the Financial Year. 38

Expenditure on Consultancy 
Expenditure on consultancy during 2023/24 was for specialist advice and operational delivery on an interim basis to 
ensure high quality services for children and families. Consultancy costs for the year 2023/24 where £611k (£549k 
2022/23).

Off Payroll Engagements 
The Trust has continued with its policy to use off-payroll arrangements only in circumstances where the skills market 
is limited in providing the level of expertise and availability required to fulfil a particular role or provide professional 
advice. 

Details of the Trust’s off-payroll engagements during the year are set out in the tables below:

For all Off-Payroll Engagements as of 31st March 2024, 
for More Than £245 per Day and That Last Longer Than Six Months

2023/24
Number of Engagements

No. Of Existing Engagements 31 March 2024 10

Of Which:   

Number That Have Existed for Less Than One Year at the Time of Reporting 1

Number That Have Existed for Between One and Two Years at the Time of Reporting 3

Number That Have Existed for Between Two and Three Years at the Time of Reporting 3

Number That Have Existed for Between Three and Four Years at the Time of Reporting 2

Number That Have Existed for Four or More Years at the Time of Reporting 1

Table 1: Off-Payroll Worker Engagements as at 31 March 2024
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Exit Packages: Other (Non-Compulsory) Departure Payments
Note 6.3 Exit packages: Other (Non-Compulsory) Departure Payment

2023/24 2023/24 2022/23 2022/23
Payments 

Agreed

Number

Total Value of 
Agreements

£000 

Payments 
Agreed

Number

Total Value of 
Agreements

£000 

Voluntary Redundancies Including Early Retirement 
Contractual Costs - - 2 18

Mutually Agreed Resignations (MARS) Contractual 
Costs - - - -

Early Retirements in the Efficiency of the Service 
Contractual Costs - - - -

Contractual Payments in Lieu of Notice 8 38 17 86
Exit Payments Following Employment Tribunals or 
Court Orders - - - -

Non-Contractual Payments Requiring HMT 
Approval (Special Severance Payments)* - - - -

Total 8 38 19 104

Of Which: Non-Contractual Payments Requiring 
HMT Approval Made to Individuals Where the 
Payment Value Was More Than 12 Months of Their 
Annual Salary

- - - -

Exit Packages 2023/24

Exit Package Cost Band 
(Including Any Special 
Payment Element)

Number of Compulsory 
Redundancies 

Number

Number of Other 
Departures Agreed

Number

Total Number of 
Exit Packages 
by Cost Band

Number

<£10,000 - 7 7 

£10,001 - £25,000 1 1 2

£25,001 - 50,000 - - - 

£50,001 - £100,000 1 - 1

£100,001 - £150,000 - - -

£150,001 - £200,000 - - -

>£200,000 - - -

Total Number of Exit Packages 
by Type 2 8 10

Total Resource Cost (£) £79,000 £38,000 £117,000
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Staff Survey 
Approach to Engagement
Over the past few years, we have focused our efforts to 
increase response rates and engagement in the Staff 
Survey by utilising a comprehensive communication 
plan. This plan ensures that staff across the Trust are 
aware of the importance of completing the survey, as 
well as the impact that their feedback has had in terms 
of improvements and changes within the Trust.

In addition to this, for 2023 we focused heavily on 
challenging and empowering our divisions and teams to 
drive engagement within their own areas.

As in the past few years, we continue to encourage 
local feedback and have a comprehensive feedback 
plan whereby each eligible team and department 
receive a copy of their local data to discuss together 
in a ‘Big Conversation’. These conversations are a 
chance to discuss feedback and agree local actions 
they can take together to improve staff experience and 
engagement. The overall Trust performance is reviewed 
at the Trust Board and has been shared with staff 
across the organisation. 

The annual Staff Survey is just one of the mechanisms 
that we have in place to monitor and learn from staff 
feedback. We gain valuable insights from the quarterly 
People Pulse and from other formal but more regular 
opportunities to hear staff voices and act on their 
feedback. This includes a newly developed Working 
Safe and Well Team Temperature Check, ad hoc 
surveys, the Ground Truth tool and of course through 
our staff networks.

In addition, we are constantly striving to improve 
opportunities for “everyday” listening opportunities 
through PDRs, health and wellbeing conversations, 
‘stay’ conversations, conversations with SALS Pals, 
professional nurse advocates and trainee wellbeing 
leads, targeted listening sessions (with teams, groups 
or issue specific, such as industrial action), weekly ‘Ask 
the Execs’ and regular team meetings.

Summary of Performance - 
Results from the NHS Staff Survey 
The NHS staff survey is conducted annually. Since 
2021/22 the survey questions align to the seven 
elements of the NHS ‘People Promise’ and retain the 
two previous themes of engagement and morale. 
These replaced the ten indicator themes used in 
previous years. All indicators are based on a score out 
of 10 for specific questions with the indicator score 
being the average of those.

The Trust achieved a 60% response rate in 2023, up 
from 54% in 2022. 71.15% of staff recommend Alder 
Hey as a place to work and 88.82% as a place for 
friends and family to receive care. Both results have 
improved since last year and both are significantly 
above the average of our comparator group, with the 
latter being “best-in-class” for our comparator group of 
122 acute and community trusts.

This year has seen excellent results for Alder Hey as 
we have seen improvements across all the People 
Promises and themes compared to last year’s results 
and scored higher than average across each of them in 
our comparator group. In addition to this we have seen 
improvements in all 21 of the Staff Survey sub-scores 
and scored above average for 20 out of 21, scoring just 
below average for appraisals despite some significant 
improvements this year.

The Trust is particularly proud of being ranked top in 
our comparator group for the below questions:
•	Care of patients/service users is my organisation’s 

top priority.
•	My organisation acts on concerns raised by patients/

service users.
•	My organisation encourages us to report errors, near 

misses or incidents.
•	 If a friend or relative needed treatment I would be 

happy with the standard of care provided by this 
organisation.

The Trust survey responses reflect a national picture 
of overall improvement as the NHS recovers from the 
exceptional challenges faced over the past few years 
due to the COVID-19 pandemic and its many impacts, 
as well as the resolution to some of the pay disputes 
that were ongoing during the last year.
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People Promise/Theme 2021 2022 2023 Change from
Last Year

We are compassionate and inclusive 9.4 9.4 9.4 9.1

We are recognised and rewarded 6.4 6.4 6.4 6.1

We each have a voice that counts 6.9 6.9 6.9 6.8

We are safe and healthy 6.6 6.6 6.6 6.2

We are always learning n/a n/a n/a n/a

We work flexibly 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.5

We are a team 8.7 8.7 8.7 8.1

Staff engagement 9.8 9.8 9.8 9.5

Morale 7.1 7.1 7.1 6.8

Top 5 Scores
Question 2021 2022 2023 National Average

13b: In the last 12 months how many times have you personally 
experienced physical violence at work from managers? 99.7% 99.8% 99.7% 99.2%

13c: In the last 12 months, how many times have you personally 
experienced physical violence at work from other colleagues? 99.1% 98.9% 99.2% 98%

17a: In the last 12 months, how many times have you been 
the target of unwanted behaviour of a sexual nature in the 
workplace from patients/service users, their relatives or other 
members of the public?

New question for 
2023, no previous 

data available.
99% 92%

17b: In the last 12 months, how many times have you been 
the target of unwanted behaviour of a sexual nature in the 
workplace from staff/colleagues?

New question for 
2023, no previous 

data available.
98.6% 96.1%

16c04: On what grounds have you experienced discrimination? 
Sexual Orientation. 96.4% 95.1% 98.4% 95.8%

Below and overleaf are the top five and bottom five scores from our results, showing comparisons over the last three 
years and national averages for each score. All scores are reported as positive percentages, meaning that higher % 
is better, regardless of the wording of the question/statement.

The table below provides an analysis of our results across the seven key NHS People Promises and the additional 
themes of staff engagement and morale over the last three years.
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Bottom 5 Scores
Question 2021 2022 2023 National Average
12e: How often, if at all, do you feel worn out at the end of your 
working day/shift? 18.5% 18.1% 19.2% 18.9%

12a: How often, if at all, do you find your work emotionally 
exhausting? 22.2% 20.9% 21.3% 22.6%

21d: (My Appraisal)... helped me to improve how I do my job. 18.1% 20.9% 23.1% 26.6%

12c: How often, if at all, does your work frustrate you? 20.9% 20.5% 23.4% 22.3%

5a: I have unrealistic time pressures. 24.5% 22.8% 26.5% 25.2%

Areas for Improvement 
Whilst there will always remain areas for improvement, 
there are many positive and very encouraging 
results from the Staff Survey, and we have shared 
and celebrated our results across the Trust and with 
individual teams and divisions.

Looking at our five lowest scoring questions, it is clear 
there is still more work needed to ensure that staff 
receive appropriate support. There is a requirement 
for a continued focus on staff wellbeing both physical 
and psychological, as well as work done to ensure staff 
aren’t overstretched.

Despite a consistent improvement over the last few 
years in staff opinion of the appraisal process, there 
is also still focus required around further improving 
the link between the appraisal conversation and the 
practical impact this has on staff performance in their 
role.

As well as the above, a particular area of emphasis for 
this year will be on improving the consistency of results 
across the Trust. It’s clear from our results that there 
is a real variation of experience depending on where 
staff work, their staff group, ethnicity and disability. In 
particular, we will look to explore these differences in 
experience around ethnicity and disability in more detail 
with our various networks to understand and improve 
experience.

LOUISE SHEPHERD CBE

Chief Executive
26th June 2024

While our results for 2023 are in the main very 
positive, we are conscious that 40% of staff chose 
not to complete the Staff Survey this year. As ever, 
our commitment for next year will be to encourage 
more staff than ever before to complete the 
survey and help us understand their experience of 
working at Alder Hey.

We will continue to strive for an improvement in 
all our results, but we will focus particularly on 
improving the number of staff who recommend 
Alder Hey as a place to work, increasing our target 
for 2024/25 from 80% to 85%.

Future Priorities
and Targets



In 2023 eight year old Teddy 
received Alder Hey’s first 
gene therapy treatment. 
The treatment was part of 
a research study aiming to 
enhance the care available 
to boys with Duchenne 
Muscular Dystrophy (DMD). 

DMD is a progressive 
condition that causes 
increasing muscular 
weakness in children, 
including difficulty standing 
and walking, and can lead 
to heart and breathing 
complications later in life. 
There currently is no cure for 
the condition. 

The treatment 
involved replacing 
the gene in Teddy’s 
cells that isn’t 
working with a 
healthy version. 

It would not have 
been possible for such a 
complex, highly specialist 
research study to take 
place without the support 
of charities such as Joining 
Jack and Duchenne UK, 
who have funded a number 
of roles in DMD research 
at Alder Hey and the DMD 
Hub who help coordinate 
study access across the UK. 

Teddy’s 
Story

This trial is the 
best opportunity 
that Teddy has 
been given. We 
have to stay 
positive and 
hopefully, it can 
help other boys 
with Duchenne 
Muscular 
Dystrophy in the 
future.

Mum Nicola 
said:

Pioneering 
breakthroughs
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All board reports are made available to the governors 
to equip them with the information they require to give 
feedback about the Trust’s activities to members and 
other stakeholders, including the host organisations 
of appointed governors. The governors use a variety 
of mechanisms to canvass the view of members and 
the wider community; some of these are informal 
and carried out through individuals’ networks and 
others more formal such as inviting comments via 
the newsletter and direct engagement at the Annual 
Members’ Meeting. Such views are fed back to the 
Board throughout the year at regular formal meetings, 
providing an opportunity for governors to discuss 
key strategies with board members. The Council has 
continued to work alongside the Board to understand 
and contribute to the Trust’s plans. 

The Council met formally four times during the year. The 
Council re-appointed one of the existing non-executives 
during 2023/24 for a third three-year term of office and 
approved the appointment of a new Non-Executive 
Director of the Trust. The Council also approved 
changes to the Constitution during the year.

Executive and non-executive directors attend the 
Council of Governors’ meetings and report on the work 
of their committees and the Chair and Chief Executive 
report on the Trust’s performance and on key strategic 
and operational issues and developments. This ensures 
that the agendas of the two bodies remain closely 
interlinked and appropriate decisions taken by each in 
accordance with its Standing Orders. 

The 2023 Annual Members’ Meeting (AMM) was held in 
November via Microsoft Teams where reflections from 
the previous year were shared, specifically highlighting 
the challenges facing the NHS and how Alder Hey 
responded through various mechanisms such as mutual 
support for our staff, new ways of working and working 
collaboratively with our system partners. 

The NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance was 
first published by Monitor in 2006. The purpose of 
the Code of Governance is to assist NHS foundation 
trust boards in improving their governance practices 
by bringing together the best practice of public and 
private sector corporate governance. The Code is 
issued by NHS England as best practice advice but 
imposes some disclosure requirements which are set 
out in the sections below. 

Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust has 
applied the principles of the NHS Foundation Trust 
Code of Governance on a ‘comply or explain’ basis. 

The arrangements put in place by the Trust in 
response to the Code are set out in the sections 
below and elsewhere in the report as appropriate. The 
Code of Governance for NHS provider trusts replaced 
the former NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance 
on 1 April 2023.

Our Council of Governors 
2023/24 again saw several changes on the Council 
of Governors following the annual elections. A 
comprehensive Trust induction programme continued 
to be delivered virtually to enable incoming governors 
to understand their new role as rapidly as possible. 
This training is also offered to existing governors 
annually to refresh their skills. Several Alder Hey 
governors also took advantage of the ongoing 
GovernWell development programme offered by 
NHS Providers; also provided virtually, which is 
an invaluable resource. A bespoke face-to-face 
training session was facilitated during the year by 
NHS Providers which focused on accountability and 
holding to account, ensuring governors are equipped 
with the skills and knowledge they require to hold 
the Board to account. Training and development 
opportunities remain flexible and responsive to meet 
the needs of the governors.

Governance

NHS 
Foundation 

Trust Code of
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The AMM also featured a video prepared by the Alder 
Hey Forum and Chameleons Group in the style of ‘Who 
Wants to be an Alder Hey Exec?’ to deliver just some 
of the highlights from the 2022/23 Annual Report and 
Accounts. This was followed by a formal presentation of 
the Trust’s Annual Accounts 2022/23 and the report of 
the Council of Governors. The meeting was concluded 
by showcasing our new strategy Vision 2030 and our 
ambitious plans to meet the changing needs of children 
and young people locally, regionally and nationally. 

The governors have also continued to input into a 
fully inclusive process for the Chair’s appraisal and 
agreement of annual objectives, led by the Senior 
Independent Director. In addition to its statutory role 
the Council contributes to the life of the Trust in a 
variety of ways including: observing various assurance 
committee meetings to better understand the workings 
of the Trust; holding the non-executive directors 
to account for the performance of the Board; and 
attending quality assurance rounds. 

The Lead Governor continued to hold regular 
meetings with the governors without members of the 
Board present. These discussions generate items 
for discussion at formal Council meetings to provide 
governors with additional assurance on key topics 
such as: the suitability of the beds for parents in patient 
rooms; the extent of the follow-up outpatient waiting 
list; the Trust’s management of initial appointments 
and follow-up appointments; the rollout of the new 
Electronic Patient Record (EPR) and whether it is 
working as well as indicated; the processes in place 
to identify and resolve issues that might result in a risk 
of ‘hidden’ waiting lists and restricted access to vital 
clinical information as a result of the transfer/changed 
processes of EPR; and the learning that has been taken 
from the Lucy Letby case to improve the culture at 
Alder Hey and the workforce in terms of addressing low 
morale and ensuring staff feel safe.

Informal governor meetings established by Dame Jo 
continued in-year and have been welcomed by the 
Council to allow information flows on important topics 
outside of the formal governor meetings. Updates on 
matters raised throughout the year were attended by 
subject matter experts.

In addition to the full Council meetings, governors have 
been involved in the Membership Strategy Committee, 
chaired by Public Governor Daniel Casson who 
reported: “Our ambition is to have a membership base 
which is engaged and actively involved in 	
co-producing future service design and delivery and 
is reflective of the needs of patients and the local 
community. We are particularly keen to ensure the 
voice of children and young people is central to our 
work and have benefited from the involvement of 
patient governors in sharing their insights. Through 

our Membership Strategy we are keen to continue to 
engage with and update members about Alder Hey, 
encourage active involvement and support further 
recruitment of members and governors. Together 
with meeting the requirements of a Foundation Trust, 
membership communications also has an integral role 
to play in the wider Trust Communications Strategy. 
We have welcomed the Director for Marketing and 
Communications to our committee meetings to work 
together. Many of our key stakeholders are current or 
potential members. We regularly engage with them via 
a refreshed newsletter which seeks to maintain their 
support and raise awareness of the Alder Hey brand. 
Every member is a potential advocate of Alder Hey who 
can support the hospital, build awareness of our brand 
as a world-leading children’s healthcare campus and 
even potentially fundraise. We continue to seek to offer 
members opportunities to be involved in and feel part 
of the Alder Hey family.

The Membership Strategy Committee 
continued to take forward its work plan and 
objectives in support of the Membership 
Strategy. Key activities in the year included:

Acting as an editorial board for the 
members’ newsletter, supported by 
members of the Communications and 
Marketing Team.
 
Exploring social media platforms for 
membership purposes.

Providing greater incentive and perks for 
members.

Planning and organisation of the Annual 
Members’ Meeting. 

Governors are contactable through the 
Trust’s Board Administrator based at Alder Hey 
on 0151 282 4888 or by email at 
membership@alderhey.nhs.uk. 
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The Council of Governors is made up of 25 elected 
governors and 10 appointed governors from nominated 
organisations and comprises six staff governors 
(elected by staff), nine public governors, four patient 
governors, six parent and carer governors (elected by 
members). The Council represents, as far as possible, 
every staff group and the communities that Alder Hey 
serves across England and North Wales. Elected 
governors are chosen as part of an independent 
process managed on behalf of the Trust by Civica UK 
Ltd., in accordance with the Constitution. Elections to 
the Council of Governors take place annually in the 

summer. On election or appointment all governors are 
required to sign the Council’s Code of Conduct and to 
complete their declaration of interests in accordance 
with the Trust’s policy.

The Council of Governors operates under the 
leadership of the Trust Chair and its endeavours are 
supported by the Lead Governor, Ana Samuel who 
was elected to this role in October 2023. The roles and 
responsibilities of governors are set out in the Trust’s 
Constitution and Council of Governors’ Standing 
Orders.

Governor Constituency Class Term Term of 
Office

Council Meetings 
Eligible to Attend 

in 2023/24

Total No.
of Attendances 

at Council 
Meetings

**Barbara Murray Appointed Local Authorities 
(LCC) - n/a 5 5

Rob Tabb Appointed Local Authorities 
(LCC) - n/a 5 5

Francine Watkins Appointed Liverpool 
University - n/a 5 4

Salman Khan Appointed
Stakeholders
(Local Dental 
Committee)

- n/a 5 3

Jane Roberts Appointed Edge Hill 
University - n/a 5 4

Lila Bennett Appointed Local Authorities 
(LCC) - n/a 2 0

Liz Parsons Appointed Local Authorities 
(LCC) - n/a 2 0

John Patterson Appointed Stakeholders 
(Education) - n/a 5 1

Monique Collier Appointed
Voluntary/ 

Local Interest/ 
Community 

Groups
- n/a 5 3

Howard Lewis Appointed
Voluntary/ 

Local Interest/ 
Community 

Groups
- n/a 5 4

Molly Wardle Patient Merseyside First Term 01-09-20 
31.08.23 1 0

Bella Plows Patient Merseyside First Term 01.09.22 – 
31.08.25 5 3

Emily Carragher-Leigh Patient Merseyside First term 01.09.22 – 
31.08.25 5 4

Composition of the Council of Governors
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Governor Constituency Class Term Term of 
Office

Council Meetings 
Eligible to Attend 

in 2022/23

Total No.
of Attendances 

at Council 
Meetings

Leah Priestly-Black Patient Rest of England 
and North Wales First Term 01.09.22 – 

31.08.25 5 1

Josh Martin Patient Merseyside First Term 01.09.23 –
31.08.26 4 0

Pippa Hunter-Jones Patient Parent & Carer Third Term 01-09-20 
– 31.08.23 1 1

Georgina Tang Patient Parent & Carer Third Term
01.09.22 

– 31.08.25 
Resigned 
Dec 2024

3 3

Cheryl Danher Patient Parent & Carer Second 
Term 

04.04.24 –
03.04.27 5 2

Naomi Grannell Patient Parent & Carer Third Term 01.09.20 – 
31.08.23 1 1

*Ana Samuel Patient Parent & Carer Second 
Term 

01-09-23 
– 31.08.26 5 4

Nicola Thorbinson Patient Parent & Carer Second 
Term 

01-09-23 
– 31.08.26 5 2

Hilary Peel Public Merseyside Third Term 01.09.22 – 
31.08.25 5 5

Micaela Dempsey Public Merseyside First Term 15.09.21 –
14.09.24 5 1

Rebecca Moore Public Merseyside First Term 01.03.23 – 
28.02.26 5 0

Brian Lawless Public Merseyside First Term 01.09.23 –
31.08.26 4 0

Sue Thoms Public Wider North 
West

Second 
Term 

01-09-23 
– 31.08.23 5 2

Simon Jacobs Public Wider North 
West

Second 
Term

01-09-20 
– 31.08.26 5 2

**Daniel Casson Public Rest of England Second 
Term

01.09.22 – 
31.08.25 5 3

Lowri Smith Public N. Wales First Term 15.09.21 –
14.09.24 5 2

**Sujata De Staff
Medical 

Practitioners 
and Dental 

Practitioners

Second 
Term 

15.09.21 –
14.09.24 5 2
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Governor Constituency Class Term Term of 
Office

Council Meetings 
Eligible to Attend 

in 2022/23

Total No.
of Attendances 

at Council 
Meetings

Mike Travis Staff Nursing Staff First Term 01.09.22 – 
31.08.25 5 2

Jacqui Pointon Staff Nursing Staff First Term 22.03.22 – 
21.03.25 5 4

Lachlan Stark Staff Other & Trust 
Volunteers First Term 01.09.22 – 

31.08.25 5 4

John Ashton Staff Other & Trust 
Volunteers First Term 22.03.23 – 

21.03.26 5 5

Michael Mander Staff Other & Trust 
Volunteers First Term 01-09-23 

– 31.08.26 5 4

* Lead Governor 
** Members of the Nominations Committee 
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Alfie Bass
Attended 4 meetings

Louise Shepherd 
Attended 3 meetings

John Kelly 
Attended 4 meetings

Dame Jo Williams 
Attended 4 meetings

Gerald Meehan 
n/a

Kerry Byrne 
Attended 4 meetings

Adam Bateman 
Attended 4 meetings

Erica Saunders
Attended 4 meetings

Kate Warriner
Attended 4 meetings

Fiona Marston 
Attended 2 meetings

Fiona Beveridge
Attended 3 meetings

Shalni Arora 
Attended 3 meetings

Melissa Swindell 
Attended 3 meetings

Dani Jones
Attended 3 meetings

Garth Dallas 
Attended 4 meeting

John Grinnell 
Attended 3 meetings

Nathan Askew 
Attended 3 meetings

Jo Revill 
Attended 3 meetings

There were four meetings 
held in 2023/24.

Attendance at Council of 
Governors by Board Members

Declaration of Interests
A copy of the Council’s Register of Interests 
is available on request from Erica Saunders, 
Director of Corporate Affairs via the 
Executive Office on 0151 282 4888 or by 
email at membership@alderhey.nhs.uk
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Our Membership 
It is important to us that membership is relevant to all 
sections of the communities we serve, and we continue 
to make every effort to reach all groups within our 
membership constituencies. We seek to ensure that our 
membership reflects the social and cultural mix of our 
catchment population. We also need to ensure that our 
Council of Governors reflects our membership, and we 
aim to address this challenge by encouraging a large, 
representative membership from all areas served by the 
Trust.

Alder Hey has three board membership constituencies: 
public, patients and staff. Within these there are 
different classes, each of which has at least one 
Governor representing them. We also have a group of 
appointed governors who represent the partnership 
arrangements the Trust has within the wider health and 
social care system. The wide geographical basis for the 
public constituencies is derived from the Trust’s patient 
footprint, since we are also a supra-regional centre 
which means that patients from all over the country 
(and the world!) are referred to us for treatment. In 
addition, a specific class for parents and carers reflects 
the vital role played by individuals who support and 
care for our patients. Membership is open to anyone 
over the age of seven who lives in the electoral wards 
specified. Once a patient reaches 20 years of age they 
are required to transfer to the public or parent and carer 
category, whichever is most applicable.

Membership Strategy 
The Trust’s Membership Strategy is owned and led 
by a committee of the Council of Governors called 
the Membership Strategy Committee. During 2023/24 
the Committee continued to meet as planned via 
Microsoft Teams and was chaired by one of our public 
governors, Daniel Casson. The terms of reference of the 
Committee were approved by the Council of Governors 
to undertake the following:
•	Devise a Membership Development Strategy on 

behalf of Council, which describes clearly the 
processes by which the Trust will develop as a 
membership organisation.

•	Ensure that regular analysis of the existing 
membership is undertaken to inform recruitment 
of new members, ensuring that the membership 
remains representative of the communities served by 
the Trust.

•	Devise a system of effective communication with 
the wider membership so that members are actively 
engaged with activities such as elections.

•	Develop and implement appropriate monitoring 
systems to evaluate the membership strategy in 
terms of openness, diversity, representativeness and 
sustainability.

•	Engage with other membership-based organisations 
on best practice recruitment and communication to 
determine if there is transferability to the Trust.

The Membership Strategy Committee is supported by 
the Trust’s Marketing and Communications Team and 
Corporate Governance Team and works to an agreed 
set of objectives created to reflect the overall aims 
of the Membership Strategy. Achievements during 
2023/24 included:
•	Continuing to communicate to our membership. 

Alder Hey continued to share useful information for 
patients, parents, families and members through our 
website. 

•	Delivery of the membership newsletter ‘Alder Hey 
Matters’ via email on a bi-monthly basis, featuring an 
introduction from a different Governor each issue, a 
‘look back’ calendar of other events and key updates 
from the Trust. The newsletter enables the Trust to 
communicate more effectively with its members and 
in a timely way, ensuring they remain up to date on 
the latest Alder Hey news.

•	Updating the Membership section of the Trust 
website to ensure it remained effective and useful. 
The section features information about the Council of 
Governors and its role, alongside up to date copies of 
the membership newsletter, annual reports and the 
ability to sign up to become a Member. 

•	Once again, we hosted our Annual Members’ 
Meeting virtually in November 2023 to share 
information with members about Alder Hey’s 
operational and financial performance. 
Particular highlights of the AMM included:

Reflections from the previous year, 
specifically highlighting the challenges 
facing the NHS and how Alder Hey 
responded through various mechanisms 
such as mutual support for our staff, 
new ways of working and working 
collaboratively with our system partners.

A video prepared by the Alder Hey Forum 
and Chameleons Group in the style of 
‘Who Wants to be an Alder Hey Exec?’ 
to deliver some of the highlights from the 
2022/23 Annual Report and Accounts.

A presentation of the Trust’s Annual 
Accounts 2022/23 and the report of 
the Council of Governors. The meeting 
was concluded by showcasing our new 
strategy Vision 2030 and our ambitious 
plans to meet the changing needs 
of children and young people locally, 
regionally and nationally.
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Our Board of Directors
The Trust’s constitution provides for a Board of 
Directors which is comprised of no more than seven 
executive and no more than eight non-executive 
directors excluding the Chair. All director roles have 
been occupied during 2023/24 in accordance with 
the strategy developed by the Trust in support of the 
constitution. The Trust considers that it operates a 
balanced, complete and unified Board with particular 
emphasis on achieving the optimum balance of 
appropriate skills and experience; this is reviewed 
whenever any vacancy arises and was rigorously tested 
in the year as part of the process to appoint executive 
directors and to appoint and re-appoint non-executive 
directors. 

The Board of Directors operates to clear Standing 
Orders and an annual work plan, which reflect the 
Trust’s Constitution and Provider Licence and which 
are in turn supported by detailed standing financial 
instructions, a scheme of delegation and a schedule of 
matters reserved for the Board which are set out in the 
Trust’s Corporate Governance Manual and Constitution. 

It is the role of the Board to set the organisation’s 
strategic direction in the context of an overall 
operational planning framework set by NHS regulators. 
It is responsible for all key business decisions but 
delegates the operationalisation of these to an 
appropriate committee or the Trust’s Operational 
Delivery Board to receive assurance that the 
organisation is fulfilling its responsibilities including 
compliance with standards and targets and the 
conditions set out in the Trust’s Provider Licence. 

•	Look at how we strengthen mechanisms by which the 
Council of Governors can consider the views of the 
‘public at large’. 

Membership Profile

Throughout our membership activities, the Trust 
endeavours to ensure that all the communities that it 
serves are provided with every opportunity to become 
an informed and engaged Member. It is our intention 
to continue to maintain our membership population 
at around 14,000 overall but with a continued focus 
on recruitment of more children and young people 
as members in the coming year. This strategy will be 
carried out in line with the Trust’s Vision 2030 Strategy 
and with all legislation pertaining to equality and 
diversity issues.

Plans for 2024/25 include a number of ideas to enhance 
membership engagement and ensure the Council’s 
legal duties are met:
•	 	Ongoing support and training to governors to 

enable them to effectively promote Alder Hey to their 
constituents and external connections. 

•	Liaising with community leads in the Trust and Alder 
Hey Children’s Charity to explore how the Trust can 
maximise support and sign ups from schools and 
local community groups. 

•	Engaging with members by collecting feedback 
through online surveys or questionnaires featured in 
membership newsletters. 

•	 Increasing awareness and recruiting members via 
Trust careers and apprenticeship events. 

•	Developing promotional material such as flyers and 
information leaflets to ensure that messaging is 
targeted internally and externally. 

•	Continuing with our social media campaign that 
targets a younger audience to drive membership 
recruitment within a younger age category.

•	Creating collateral and display boards for 
membership which can be used across various 
events and open days within the Trust and the 
community.

•	Continuing to maintain an effective membership 
section on the website. 

•	Re-launching membership and pathway options with 
a specific campaign involving a new website section, 
internal communications, social media messaging 
and sign-up stall in Atrium. 

•	Going digital where possible using the Trust website 
and social media. Bi-monthly newsletters are now 
communicated via email rather than mail. This 
supports the Trust’s Green Plan ambitions. 

•	Continuing to weave the overarching Trust 
brand narrative and core messages through all 
communications to members. 

•	Encouraging staff to engage with membership by 
increasing the visibility of staff governors. This can 
be achieved through internal staff communication 
channels including Alder Hey Life. 

Constituency Number of Members 2023/24
(Actual as at 31st March 2024)

Public 4,590

Patients & 
Parent Carer 4,310

Staff (Including 
Volunteers) 4,677

Total 13,577
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The Board meets on the first Thursday of each month 
except August. Board meetings are fully and accurately 
minuted, including challenges and concerns of 
individual directors as appropriate. The Chair meets 
separately with the non-executive directors directly 
before each meeting. All board meetings are open to 
the public. The dates, times and how to access the 
meetings are published on the Trust’s website and 
the papers posted shortly after. The Board’s agenda 
is structured around the Trust’s strategic priorities 
set out in the overarching plan for Vision 2030. Each 
meeting begins with a patient or staff story which is 
designed to ensure that patients and patient care 
remain at the centre of all discussions and decisions. 
At each meeting, the Board receives the integrated 
performance report which describes in detail how 
the organisation has performed against key local 
and national metrics, including a quality report which 
focuses on progress against the Trust’s quality aims. 
Accompanying the performance information is the 
Board Assurance Framework which demonstrates to 
the Board how the principal risks to the organisation’s 
business are being controlled and mitigated. 

Board governance is supported by several assurance 
committees which have oversight of key activities:
•	Safety and Quality Assurance Committee 
•	Resources and Business Development Committee
•	Audit and Risk Committee
•	Research and Innovation Committee 
•	People and Wellbeing Committee
•	Remuneration and Appointments Committee

Each assurance committee submits an annual report 
to the Board describing how it has fulfilled its terms of 
reference and work plan during the year; these are also 
considered by the Audit and Risk Committee in the 
context of its role on behalf of the Board to ensure that 
the Trust’s control environment is effective and fit for 
purpose. 

Non-executive directors are appointed by the Council 
of Governors at a general meeting, following a selection 
process undertaken on behalf of the Council by its 
Nominations Committee. The Council of Governors has 
adopted a standard term of office of three years for all 
non-executive appointments, in accordance with the 
‘NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance.’ The Chair 
and non-executive directors can also be removed by 
the Council of Governors through a process which is 
described in section 24 of the Constitution.

Members can contact all governors and directors by 
the following methods:
•	 	In writing, care of the Board Administrator, Alder 

Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust, Eaton Road, 
Liverpool, L12 2AP.

•	By telephone on 0151 282 4888
•	By email at membership@alderhey.nhs.uk

Independence of Non-Executive Directors
The Board considers all of its current non-executive 
directors to be independent. All appointments and 	
re-appointments are made by the Council of Governors 
specifically to meet the requirements set out in 
Monitor’s ‘NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance’.

Board Performance
Each member of the Board of Directors undergoes 
an annual appraisal to review his or her performance 
against agreed objectives, personal skills and 
competencies and progress against personal 
development plans. Since 2014/15, the Trust’s 
appraisal process has assessed how individuals have 
performed in relation to the Trust’s values of Excellence, 
Openness, Respect, Innovation and Togetherness. 
Non-executive director assessments and that of the 
Chief Executive are undertaken by the Chair of the 
Trust and Executive Director performance is assessed 
by the Chief Executive. The appraisal of the Chair 
includes input from all Board members and the Council 
of Governors as well as key external partners; it is led 
by the Senior Independent Director. The process is 
undertaken in accordance with guidance issued by 
NHS Improvement in 2019. 
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Board of 
Directors

Audit 
and Risk 

Committee

Safety & 
Quality 

Assurance 
Committee

Resources 
& Business 

Development 
Committee

People & 
Wellbeing 

Committee

Research 
and 

Innovation 
Committee

No. of Meetings Held 2023/24 11 5 11 12 6 4

Dame Jo 
Williams Chair 11 Not a 

Member 1 of 1 3 of 3 Not a 
Member

Not a 
Member

Louise 
Shepherd

Chief 
Executive 9 Not a 

Member
Not a 

Member
Not a 

Member
Not a 

Member 3

Gerald 
Meehan

Non-Executive 
Director 0 of 1 n/a n/a Not a 

Member
Not a 

Member
Not a 

Member

Fiona 
Beveridge

Non-Executive 
Director 9 Not a 

Member
11

Chair
Not a 

Member 6 Not a 
Member

Jo Revill Non-Executive 
Director 10 4 8 Not a 

Member 2 of 2 Not a 
Member

Shalni Arora Non-Executive 
Director 7 Not a 

Member
Not a 

Member 11 Not a 
Member

4
Chair

John Kelly Non-Executive 
Director 9 Not a 

Member
Not a 

Member 12 5 4

Fiona Marston Non-Executive 
Director 9 Not a 

Member
Not a 

Member 4 of 8 6
Chair 3 of 3

Kerry Byrne Non-Executive 
Director 11 5

Chair 10 1 of 1 Not a 
Member

Not a 
Member 

Garth Dallas Non-Executive 
Director 10 4 Not a 

Member
Not a 

Member 6 Not a 
Member

John Grinnell  Managing 
Director / CFO 10 3

Attendee 8 11 Not a 
Member 3

Adam 
Bateman

Chief 
Operating 
Officer

10
4

Attendee – 
Risk Only

10 9 3 Not a 
Member

Erica 
Saunders

Dir. of 
Corporate 
Affairs

11
Attendee 

4
Attendee 9 9

Attendee 5 3

Melissa 
Swindell 

Chief People 
Officer 9 Not a 

Member 10 8 5 Not a 
Member

Attendance at Board of Directors and Key Board Committee Meetings 
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Board of 
Directors

Audit 
and Risk 

Committee

Safety & 
Quality 

Assurance 
Committee

Resources 
& Business 

Development 
Committee

People & 
Wellbeing 

Committee

Research 
and 

Innovation 
Committee

No. of Meetings Held 2023/24 11 5 11 12 6 4

Alfie Bass Chief Medical 
Officer 8 Not a 

Member 8 not a Member 2 0 

Nathan Askew Chief Nursing 
Officer 9 Not a 

Member 10 Not a 
Member 2 3

Dani Jones
Chief 
Strategy and 
Partnerships 
Officer

10 Not a 
Member 9 9

 Attendee 
Not a 

Member
Not a 

Member

Mark 
Flannagan

Dir. Marketing 
and 
Communications

2 Not a 
Member

Not a 
Member

11
Attendee 7 Not a 

Member

Kate Warriner 
Chief 
Digital and 
Transformation 
Officer

10 Not a 
Member 6 9 Not a 

Member 5

Attendance at Board of Directors and Key Board Committee Meetings Cont’d. 

Audit and Risk Committee Report 
The Audit and Risk Committee is comprised of 	
non-executive directors only, excluding the Trust 
Chair. The Committee was chaired by Kerry Byrne, a 
Non-Executive Director with ‘recent relevant financial 
experience’ which is best practice. The Managing 
Director/CFO and Director of Corporate Affairs, 
together with the Director of Finance and Development 
and Assistant Director of Nursing and Governance, are 
invited to attend and the Committee may request the 
attendance of the Chief Executive and any other officer 
of the Trust to answer any points which may arise. 
Attendance by members is set out above.

The aim of the Audit and Risk Committee is to provide 
one of the key means by which the Board of Directors 
ensures effective internal control arrangements are 
in place. In addition, the Committee provides a form 
of independent check upon the Executive arm of the 
Board. As defined within the NHS Audit Committee 
Handbook (2024), the Committee has responsibilities 
for the review of governance, risk management and 
internal control covering both clinical and non-clinical 
areas. 

In discharging these duties, the Committee is 	
required to:
•	Establish and maintain an effective system of 

governance, risk management and internal control, 
across the whole of the organisation’s activities;

•	Ensure that there is an effective internal audit function;
•	Review the work and findings of the external auditors;
•	Receive updates from local counter fraud service on 

national and local matters;
•	Review the findings of other significant assurance 

functions;
•	Satisfy itself that the organisation has adequate 

arrangements in place for counter fraud, bribery and 
corruption;

•	Monitor the integrity of the financial statements; and
•	Review the effectiveness of the arrangements in 

place for allowing staff (and contractors) to raise (in 
confidence) concerns about possible improprieties.

The conduct of this remit is achieved firstly through 
the Committee being appropriately constituted and 
secondly, by the Committee being effective in ensuring 
internal accountability and the delivery of audit and 
assurance services.
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Internal Audit
The internal audit service is provided by Mersey 
Internal Audit Agency (MIAA), an independent NHS 
organisation. The Director of Internal Audit Opinion 
and Annual Report for 2023/24 reports that MIAA have 
demonstrated their compliance with Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards. Internal Audit provides an 
independent and objective opinion to the Accountable 
Officer, the Board and the Audit and Risk Committee 
on the degree to which risk management, internal 
control and governance support the achievement of the 
agreed objectives of the organisation.

Upon specific request they can also provide an 
independent and objective consultancy service 
specifically to help line management improve the 
organisation’s risk management, internal control and 
governance arrangements.

The Audit and Risk Committee contributed to the risk 
assessment to inform and subsequently approve the 
content of the Internal Audit Plan for 2022/23. This plan 
was structured to provide the Director of Internal Audit 
Opinion which gives an assessment of the:
•	 	Design and operation of the underpinning Assurance 

Framework, risk management and supporting 
processes; 

•	Range of assurances arising from risk-based 
internal audit assignments that have been reported 
throughout the period considering the relative 
materiality of systems reviewed and management’s 
progress in respect of addressing control 
weaknesses identified; and 

•	The organisations response to internal audit 
recommendations and the extent to which they have 
been implemented. 

The opinion is based upon the delivery of a range 
of individual opinions arising from risk-based audits 
that have been reported throughout the year. The 
assessment has taken account of the relative materiality 
of these areas and the findings and management’s 
progress in respect of addressing those findings.

The key conclusion from their work for 2023/24 as 
provided in the Director of Internal Audit Opinion and 
Annual Report, was that ‘Substantial Assurance’ can be 
given that that there is a good system of internal control 
designed to meet the organisation’s objectives and that 
controls are generally being applied consistently.

External Audit
The provision of external audit services is delivered 
by Ernst & Young, who, following a tendering exercise 
undertaken during summer 2022 were appointed by the 
Council of Governors in September 2022 for a three-
year period (extendable to five years). The external audit 
fees for the three-year contract were at a fixed price 
of £502,000, covering the audit of the Trust’s financial 
accounts and includes a total of 210 audit days per 
year. A further review of this fee was undertaken during 
2023/24 as a consequence of additional audit resource 
required due to a number of complex transactions 
and additional testing of data and, following thorough 
discussion on the rationale and benefit to the Trust 
an additional fee was approved by the Council of 
Governors of £19,680 for year ending 31st March 2024.

The work of the External Audit can be divided into three 
broad areas:
•	To audit the financial statements and provide an 

opinion thereon;
•	Report by exception, any significant weaknesses in 

our arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in our use of resources; and

•	Provide commentary on our arrangements in relation 
to Value for Money.

The Committee has approved an External Audit Plan 
and receives regular updates on the progress of audit 
work undertaken.

The Audit and Risk Committee considered the external 
audit results for 2023/24 which confirmed there were no 
matters to report.

The Audit and Risk Committee members have had 
regular opportunities to meet in private with internal 
audit, external audit and the Associate Director of 
Nursing and Governance during the year.

Five meetings were held during the financial year 
2023/24, of which one in June was devoted to 
consideration of the auditors’ report on the Annual 
Accounts and ISA 260. The Committee has an annual 
work plan with meetings timed to consider and act on 
specific issues within that plan.
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Clinical Audit
The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for the 
oversight of Clinical Audit activities, but the detailed 
oversight is undertaken by the Safety and Quality 
Assurance Committee on its behalf. The Committee 
received the Trust Clinical Audit Plan 2023/24 following 
its approval by SQAC. The Plan is designed to reflect 
mandatory national and regional audits, National 
Confidential Enquiries (NCE) and audits that the 
Trust has identified as areas of priority fulfilling the 
requirements of the NHS Quality Contract and Trust 
Quality Account. 

During 2023/24 the CEOG was established to oversee 
all clinical audit delivery reporting into SQAC.
CEOG is chaired by a senior clinician and it endorses 
the Trust Clinical Audit Plan prior to approval
by SQAC and oversees its delivery.

At each meeting the Audit and Risk Committee 
considered a range of key issues and tested the 
underpinning control and assurance mechanisms, 
including:
•	The Board Assurance Framework report;
•	The Corporate Risk Register;
•	A summary of the findings from internal audit reports 

in accordance with the approved 2023/24 work plan;
•	A summary of the outcome of the progress in 

implementing internal audit recommendations that 
have passed their due date; and

•	Counter fraud reports by the MIAA counter fraud 
specialist in accordance with the approved 2023/24 
work plan.

In addition, throughout the year the Audit and Risk 
Committee has reviewed and dealt with the following 
matters:
•	Annual Governance Statement
•	Consideration of the 2023/24 Annual Accounts (for 

the year ending 31 March 2024)
•	External Audit report on the financial statements to 31 

March 2024 and ISA 260
•	 Internal Audit work plan for 2023/24
•	 Internal Audit Charter
•	Ernst & Young External Audit Year-End Report 

2023/24
•	External Audit Strategy and Accounting Issues 

relating to the Audit of the Trust’s 2023/24 Accounts
•	Accounting policies for the 2023/24 financial 

statements
•	Audit and Risk Committee workplan 2023/24
•	Terms of reference and workplan for the Audit and 

Risk Committee

•	Annual reports from all the Trust’s assurance 
committees

•	Gifts and hospitality registers
•	Assurances in relation to the implementation of 

InPhase
•	Effectiveness review of External Audit
•	Corporate Governance Manual
•	Financial statement audit risks for 2023/24 
•	Waiver Activity Report including exemptions to the 

waiver process 
•	Reports from key risk areas including project 

assurance, data protection, cyber security, data 
quality, Freedom of Information and EPRR

•	Clinical Audit 
	- Annual Report 2023/24
	- Plan 2023/24

•	Presentations of risk management processes within 
the divisions

•	Update on the actions from the ARC self-assessment 
that was completed in 2021/22

The Board Assurance Framework is reviewed monthly 
by the Board and used by the assurance committees 
to inform standing agenda items. In addition, each 
of the assurance committees provides assurance to 
ARC in their Annual Report as to the effectiveness of 
managing those risks within their area of responsibility 
with the exception of R&I Committee. Scrutiny of 
the management of the financial and operational 
risks to the organisation is the responsibility of the 
Resources and Business Development Committee. 
Risks pertaining to our workforce fall under the remit 
of the People and Wellbeing Committee. Clinical risks 
are overseen by the Safety and Quality Assurance 
Committee and risks that affect the delivery of 
the Trust’s Research and Innovation Strategy are 
the responsibility of the Research and Innovation 
Committee. 

The Audit and Risk Committee maintains a regular 
overview of these key risks via its consideration of the 
Board Assurance Framework which details the controls 
in place to mitigate them, any gaps in assurance and 
the action being taken to address them. In this way 
the cycle of control is maintained between the various 
elements of the governance framework. The Risk 
Management Forum is the operational assurance 
mechanism that also reviews the BAF and Corporate 
Risk Register and reports to the Audit and Risk 
Committee. 

Nominations Committees
The Trust has established separate nominations/
appointments committees to oversee the appointments 
of executive and non-executive directors.
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The Nominations Committee of the Council of 
Governors is responsible for the appointment and 
removal of non-executive directors. It is chaired by 
the Trust Chair apart from when it is concerned with 
the appointment or re-appointment of the Trust Chair. 
Other members of the Committee are:
•	Barbara Murray – Appointed Governor
•	Su De – Staff Governor
•	Daniel Casson – Public Governor

During 2023/24 the Committee considered:
•	The re-appointment of Non-Executive Director, Kerry 

Byrne for a further three year extension; and
•	The appointment of Non-Executive Director, Gerald 

Meehan.

NHS Oversight Framework
NHS England and NHS Improvement’s Oversight 
Framework provides the framework for overseeing 
systems including providers and identifying potential 
support needs. NHS organisations are allocated to one 
of four ‘segments’.

A segmentation decision indicates the scale and 
general nature of support needs, from no specific 
support needs (segment 1) to a requirement for 
mandated intensive support (segment 4). A segment 
does not determine specific support requirements. By 
default, all NHS organisations are allocated to segment 
2 unless the criteria for moving into another segment 
are met. These criteria have two components:
a) objective and measurable eligibility criteria based on 

performance against the six oversight themes using 
the relevant oversight metrics (the themes are: quality 
of care, access and outcomes; people; preventing 
ill-health and reducing inequalities; leadership and 
capability; finance and use of resources; local 
strategic priorities); and

b) additional considerations focused on the assessment 
of system leadership and behaviours, and 
improvement capability and capacity.

An NHS Foundation Trust will be in segment 3 or 4 only 
where it has been found to be in breach or suspected 
breach of its license conditions.

Segmentation
Alder Hey has been placed in segment 2. This 
segmentation information is the Trust’s position as of 
31st March 2024. Current segmentation information for 
NHS trusts and foundation trusts is published on the 
NHS England website: 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-system-
oversight-framework-segmentation/.

Voluntary Disclosures 
Equality Report 
Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust is 
committed to enhancing equality, diversity, and 
inclusion, creating a welcoming experience for all our 
patients, families, visitors and colleagues. Supporting 
a diverse workforce, we understand the importance of 
recognising difference; different backgrounds, different 
views, beliefs, or different ways of working and/or 
learning. 

Appreciating this diversity is key to success, enabling 
the delivery of the best possible care to our children, 
young people, and their families. Patient care is at the 
heart of everything that we do, and this is reflected 
in Alder Hey values. Equality, diversity and inclusion 
flow through the Trust values and are key to delivering 
the organisational objectives. As a public sector 
organisation, we recognise our role and responsibility 
to provide equal opportunities and advance inclusion, 
working to eliminate discrimination and foster good 
relationships as defined in the Equality Act 2010. It’s not 
only our legal duty but it is fundamental to our practices 
at Alder Hey. We believe that everyone has a part to 
play in adopting a culture of inclusion and belonging 
and challenging inequality. We encourage and support 
our people to work together, respect each other, 
appreciate and embrace differences and deliver the 
best care to our children and young people. 

Patient care is at the 
heart of everything 
that we do, and this is 
reflected in Alder Hey 
values.



Research into new treatments is crucial for 
advancing healthcare, improving patient 
outcomes, and ultimately enhancing quality of 
life for people around the world. Alder Hey is 
always striving to drive research and innovation 
forward and we’re excited to see how this new 
ecosystem will improve the lives of our children 
and young people long
in to the future.

Jaidon’s 
Story

Five year old Jaidon from Crewe was 
diagnosed with Autosomal Recessive 
Polycystic Kidney Disease (ARKPD) 
when he was just four days old. 1 in 
20,000 babies are born with this rare 
genetic condition where the kidneys 
and liver eventually fail. Jaidon is on 
the organ waiting list for a kidney and 
liver transplant. 

The impact Jaidon’s condition has 
on his life and his family can be 
overwhelming.  His mum Kayleigh 
travels with him to Alder Hey six days 
a week from their home in Crewe so he 
can receive 5-6 hours of dialysis at a 
time. 

Now thanks to a huge funding boost 
from medical charities LifeArc and 

Kidney Research UK, 
children and young people 
with kidney disease will be 
given better access in the 
future to improved diagnostics, 
treatments and potentially cures.

Over the next five years, the LifeArc-Kidney 
Research UK Centre for Rare Kidney 
Diseases will create a £9.4m ‘UK Kidney 
Ecosystem’. Led by experts from Alder Hey 
and the University of Liverpool, the Centre 
will bring together scientists, clinicians, 
patients, and other stakeholders to work 
together as one kidney community and will 
be supported by an additional £1m funding 
from Kidney Research UK. The Centre will 
initially focus on finding new, improved 
treatments for children like Jaidon.

Director of Research and Innovation 
Professor John Chester said

Collaborate for children and young people
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The National Health Service Act 2006 states that the 
Chief Executive is the Accountable Officer of the NHS 
Foundation Trust. The relevant responsibilities of the 
Accountable Officer, including their responsibility for 
the propriety and regularity of public finances for which 
they are answerable, and for the keeping of proper 
accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Accountable Officer Memorandum issued by NHS 
England.

NHS England has given accounts directions which 
require Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust 
to prepare for each financial year a statement of 
accounts in the form and on the basis required by 
those directions. The accounts are prepared on an 
accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation 
Trust and of its income and expenditure, other items of 
comprehensive income and cash flows for the financial 
year.

In preparing the accounts and overseeing the use of 
public funds, the Accountable Officer is required to 
comply with the requirements of the Department of 
Health Group Accounting Manual and in particular to:
•	 	Observe the accounts direction issued by NHS 

England, including the relevant accounting and 
disclosure requirements and apply suitable 
accounting policies on a consistent basis; 

•	 	Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable 
basis;

•	 	State whether applicable accounting standards as set 
out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual (and the Department of Health and Social 
Care Group Accounting Manual) have been followed, 
and disclose and explain any material departures in 
the financial statements;

•	 	Ensure that the use of public funds complies with 
the relevant legislation, delegated authorities and 
guidance; 

•	 	Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts, taken 
as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable 
and provides the information necessary for patients, 
regulators and stakeholders to assess the NHS 
Foundation Trust’s performance, business model and 
strategy; and 

•	 	Prepare the financial statements on a going concern 
basis and disclose any material uncertainties over 
going concern. 

The Accountable Officer is responsible for keeping 
proper accounting records which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position 
of the NHS Foundation Trust and to enable them to 
ensure that the accounts comply with requirements 
outlined in the above-mentioned Act. The Accountable 
Officer is also responsible for safeguarding the assets 
of the NHS Foundation Trust and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of 
fraud and other irregularities. 

As far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the Foundation Trust’s auditors are 
unaware, and I have taken all the steps that I ought to 
have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the Trust’s auditors are 
aware of that information.

To the best of my knowledge and belief the information 
in the document is accurate; I have properly discharged 
the responsibilities set out in Monitor’s NHS Foundation 
Trust Accountable Officer Memorandum.

Signed.

Statement of the Chief Executive’s 
Responsibilities as the Accountable 
Officer of Alder Hey Children’s 
NHS Foundation Trust 

LOUISE SHEPHERD CBE
Chief Executive
26th June 2024



It feels amazing to 
be able to hear by 
myself. Everything 
is so clear. I can wear 
my hair down for 
the first time now, 
as I had to wear it up 
for external hearing 
aids to work. I want 
to say a big thank 
you to the ENT team 
who I’ve grown up 
with, they’ve been 
amazing.

13 year old Niamh was born with 
a bilateral cleft lip and palate. She 
has been a patient at Alder Hey 
since she was just three months old 
and has had several operations over 
the years.

Because of her condition, Niamh 
has had several ear infections and 
hearing difficulties. This is because 
the muscles of the palate play a 
crucial role in regulating airflow 
into the middle ear and draining 
fluids from it. When this process 
is disrupted, fluid accumulates in 
the ear, resulting in a temporary 
hearing impairment. The fluid also 
increases the risk of middle ear 
infections, potentially resulting 
in permanent hearing loss if left 
untreated. 

Niamh recently had an operation 
to insert an active middle ear 
implant into her ear. This is the 
first operation of its kind at Alder 
Hey and one of the few times an 
implant of this type has been used 
on a child in the North of England.

The operation involved attaching 
the implant to one of the bones in 
Niamh’s middle ear. The implant 
has an external processor that picks 
up sound waves. The implant turns 
the sound waves into mechanical 
vibrations which are amplified and 
get sent to the inner ear and then 
to the brain, just like in the normal 
hearing process. 

Niamh’s 
Story

Niamh said 

Revolutionising care
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Statement

The Purpose of the System of 
Internal Control
The system of internal control is designed to manage 
risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk 
of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can 
therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal 
control is based on an ongoing process designed to 
identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the 
policies, aims and objectives of Alder Hey Children’s 
NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of 
those risks being realised and the impact should they 
be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively 

and economically. The system of internal control has 
been in place in Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation 
Trust for the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the 
date of approval of the annual report and accounts.

Capacity to Handle Risk
Every member of staff at Alder Hey has an individual 
responsibility for the management of risk within the 
organisation. Managers at all levels must understand 
the Trust’s Risk Management Strategy and be aware 
that they have the authority to manage risk within their 
area of responsibility.

As Chief Executive and Accountable Officer, I have 
overall responsibility and accountability for risk 
management; I am informed of significant risk issues via 
the established reporting mechanisms and assurance 
committees, ensuring that my role in relation to risk 
management is fulfilled. The Chief Medical Officer is 
jointly accountable with the Chief Nurse to the Board 
of Directors and the Chief Executive for clinical risk 
management and clinical governance via appropriate 
reporting mechanisms. The Chief Nurse is responsible 
for embedding compliance with CQC standards across 
the organisation. The Director of Corporate Affairs is the 
executive lead for risk management and is accountable 
to the Board and the Chief Executive for the Trust’s 
risk management activities. The Associate Director of 
Nursing and Governance is the operational lead for risk 
management, accountable to the Director of Corporate 
Affairs and has line management responsibility for 
the Trust’s corporate level Risk Management Team. 
They are responsible for ensuring that the Trust’s risk 
management systems and processes are effective and 
operate in accordance with best practice. The Chief 
Operating Officer is the executive lead for Estates 
and Facilities and is responsible for the effective 
management of risk in those areas. The Chief People 
Officer retains an overview of workforce risks and is 
responsible for the health and safety management 
function. The Director of Corporate Affairs is the 
executive lead for regulatory, reputational and legal 
risks. The Managing Director/Chief Finance Officer 
is responsible for ensuring that the Trust carries 
out its business within sound financial governance 
arrangements that are controlled and monitored 
through effective audit and accounting systems. The 
Chief Digital and Information Officer is responsible 
for information management and technology risk, is 
responsible for information governance and is the 
nominated Senior Information Risk Owner, whilst the 
Chief Nurse is the Trust’s Caldicott Guardian.

Divisional directors and associate chief operating 
officers and their senior teams, including associate 
chief nurses and risk and governance leads, are 
responsible for ensuring that risk management 
systems within the divisions are effective and meet 

Annual 
Governance 

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility 
for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement 
of the NHS Trust’s policies, aims and 
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public 
funds and departmental assets for which I 
am personally responsible, in accordance 
with the responsibilities assigned to me. 
I am also responsible for ensuring that 
the NHS Trust is administered prudently 
and economically and that resources are 
applied efficiently and effectively. I also 
acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in 
the NHS Foundation Trust Accountable Officer 
Memorandum.

Scope of Responsibility
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the objectives outlined within the Risk Management 
Strategy. Divisional boards have a key role in assuring 
the effectiveness of risk management, including 
regular scrutiny of divisional risk registers. Associate 
chief nurses and divisional risk and governance leads 
monitor and review incidents, risk assessments, claims 
and complaints and ensure that agreed actions are 
carried out and feedback is given to staff.

Ward and department line managers ensure that 
relevant staff are trained on InPhase, the Trust’s 
electronic incident reporting system and that incidents 
are reported and actions taken as required. They 
provide feedback to staff, ensuring that Trust policies, 
procedures and guidelines are followed to minimise 
risk and share learning from incidents and near misses. 
Individuals are responsible for reporting any identified 
risks in order that they can be addressed and are 
accountable for ensuring their own competency and 
that their training needs are met in discussion with their 
line managers. They attend induction and statutory 
and mandatory training as required. They ensure that 
they practice within the standards of their professional 
bodies, national standards and Trust policies, 
procedures and guidelines.

During the year 2023/24, Alder Hey continually 
encouraged a strong reporting culture. The Trust’s 
performance position in relation to incident reporting 
improved compared to previous years with 8,572 
incidents recorded, compared to 7,740 in 2022/23.

Alder Hey transitioned to the new reporting system, 
Learning from Patient Safety Events (LFPSE) on 2nd 
May 2023 in line with national guidance. The incident 

reporting per 1,000 bed days previously published by 
the National Reporting and Learning System NRLS is 
no longer available due to the LFPSE changes. 

LFPSE data is not directly comparable to NRLS 
data and NHS England recommend when reviewing 
trends/changes over time to use a full year of data. 
As there is no historic data when comparing data 
across the current time periods, no data publication 
will be possible during the first 12-18 months of LFPSE 
operation. Work is currently in progress with the LFPSE 
NHS England Team to produce a new recorded data 
dashboard due for release in late 2024.

Through the new national framework, the Trust 
continues to demonstrate a positive safety ethos and 
promotes an open, transparent incident reporting 
culture to prioritise immediate learning and ensure 
remedial actions are implemented and embedded, 
leading to changes in practice and improved services 
for children and young people.

In May 2023, following a joint procurement process with 
Liverpool Heart and Chest Hospital NHS Foundation 
Trust a new electronic risk management system 
‘InPhase’ was implemented. Alder Hey’s previous risk 
management system, Ulysses, did not fully comply 
with the requirements under the Patient Safety Incident 
Response Framework (PSIRF). The new system has 
delivered several benefits to enable analysis to be used 
for learning and improvements in practice ensuring the 
safety of patients, staff and public. 

Risk registers continue to be used interactively 
throughout the organisation and are fully embedded 
in the Trust’s governance structures including the 
Board, its sub-committees, the Trust Risk Management 
Forum and divisional integrated assurance governance 
groups, to better drive the management, including 
mitigation of risks.

To support the effective delivery of the Trust’s Risk 
Management Strategy, work continues to improve the 
functionality of the InPhase risk management system, 
including the development of divisional risk heat maps 
and dashboards to allow for real time interrogation of 
risks.

During the year, regular monthly meetings continued 
to validate risks on risk registers with operational 
teams, ensuring that risks are identified, assessed, 
mitigated, and reviewed promptly. Work has also 
continued to develop the governance of risk processes, 
thus assuring the Trust Board about the effective 
management of risk.

The Trust continues 
to demonstrate a 
positive safety ethos 
and promotes an open, 
transparent incident 
reporting culture.
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A new and improved risk management training package 
was developed for staff aligned to the new InPhase 
system and will be rolled out from April 2024. 

During Quarter 3 2023/24, the Board revised the 
Board Assurance Framework (BAF) to align with the 
risks to delivery of our revised Vision and ambitious 
2030 Strategy. The Board of Directors maintained its 
regular and robust oversight of the Board Assurance 
Framework during the year, with the assurance 
committees also keeping their related risks under 
regular review and where appropriate requesting 
further scrutiny of a particular risk or issue by another 
committee. In addition, assurance committees 
undertook several ‘deep dives’ of the strategic risks 
under its purview during the year, using a standard 
approach developed for consistency in helping to 
gauge risk appetite. The focus of these exercises was 
to review the rationale for the current score, examine 
the mitigations currently in place and establish if the 
actions planned were sufficiently robust. During the 
year, the Board and assurance committees continued 
to maintain oversight of corporate risks directly linked to 
the BAF risks allowing a line of sight on key operational 
risks that could threaten delivery of the strategic plan. 
The BAF continues to support the construction and 
delivery of the Board agenda and has contributed 
towards the achievement of a positive opinion from the 
Trust’s internal auditors under the annual review of the 
assurance framework which states that:

Structure: 	 The organisation’s AF is structured to 	
		  meet the NHS requirements. 

Risk Appetite: 	The organisation does consider the risk 	
		  appetite regularly and the risk appetite 	
		  is used to inform the management of 	
		  the AF.

Engagement: 	 The AF is visibly used by the 		
		  organisation. 

Quality & 	 The AF clearly reflects the risks
Alignment: 	 discussed by the Board. 

The Trust received a rating of ‘substantial assurance’ 
for its AF confirmed by the Director of Audit Opinion for 
2023/24.

The Risk and Control Framework
Implementation of the Trust’s Risk Management 
Strategy is monitored through the Audit and Risk 
Committee supported by the Risk Management Forum. 
The Board of Directors and its assurance committees 
have maintained their focus on key risks in 2023/24 to 
ensure there is a strategic oversight of any changes to 
the organisation’s risk profile. 

The risk management strategy provides a robust 
framework for the systematic identification, 
assessment, treatment and monitoring of risks, whether 
the risks are clinical, organisational, technological, 
financial or environmental. Its purpose is to minimise 
risks to patients, staff, visitors and the organisation 
by ensuring that effective risk management systems 
and processes are implemented in all areas of service 
provision and that these are regularly reviewed.

•	A definition of risk management;
•	The Trust’s policy statement and 

organisational philosophy in relation to 
risk management as an integral part 
of our corporate objectives, goals and 
management systems;

•	Strategic vision for risk management 
across the organisation;

•	Roles, responsibilities and accountabilities; 
and

•	Governance structures in place to support 
risk management, including terms of 
reference of key committees.

The key elements of 
the strategy include:
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The Board Assurance Framework, which focuses on 
identifying and monitoring the principal strategic risks 
to the organisation at corporate level, is embedded 
within the Trust and is regularly reviewed and updated. 
The Assurance Framework has been reviewed by the 
Board of Directors on a monthly basis during the year 
and oversees the following elements:
•	 Identification of principal risks to the achievement of 

strategic objectives;
•	An assessment of the level of risk in-month, 

calculated in accordance with the Trust’s risk matrix, 
described below;

•	 Internal controls in place to manage the risks;
•	 Identification of assurance mechanisms which relate 

to the effectiveness of the system of internal control;
•	 Identification of gaps in controls and assurances; 
•	A target risk score that reflects the level of risk that 

the Board is prepared to accept; and

•	The actions taken by the Trust to address control and 
assurance gaps.

The Trust uses a robust, well-established risk 
assessment process. Risks are analysed to determine 
their cause, their potential impact on patient and staff 
safety, the achievement of local objectives and strategic 
objectives, the likelihood of them occurring or recurring 
and how they may be managed. Risks are evaluated 
using the Trust’s Framework for the Grading of Risks, 
which reflects industry best practice. This framework 
provides a consistent approach to the grading of risks 
as they are identified and enables all risks to be graded 
in the same manner against the same generic criteria. 
This allows for comparisons to be made between 
different types of risk and for judgments and decisions 
about individual risk appetite and the prioritisation of 
resource allocation to be made on that basis. It enables 
decisions to be taken about the level of management of 
each risk within the Trust.

Risk Key Controls 
Children and 
young people 
waiting beyond 
the national 
standard to 
access planned 
care and urgent 
care

•	Clinical review of long waiting patients
•	Safe Waiting List Management Programme
•	Controls for waiting time in the Emergency Department
•	Controls for referral to treatment times for planned care
•	Controls for access to care in Community Paediatrics
•	Controls for access to care in specialist mental health services
•	Urgent operating lists
•	 Additional weekend working in Outpatients and Theatres to increase capacity

Impact of 
worsening 
financial 
environment

•	Organisation-wide financial plan 
•	NHSE financial regime, regulatory and ICS 
•	Capital Planning Review Group 
•	Financial review panel meetings
•	Financial systems, budgetary control and financial reporting processes
•	CIP subject to programme assessment and sub-committee performance 

management
•	Assurance committee deep dive into any areas or departments that are off 

track and high risk

System working 
to deliver 2030 
Strategy

•	Joint development of new models of care on a wider footprint
•	PLACE partnerships
•	Working relationships with key system leaders and regulators
•	Membership of CMAST and MHLDC provider collaboratives
•	 Impact assessment re: delegation of specialist services into ICS guidance 

(national, regional, ICS level) to enable understanding of risks/opportunities 
and influence for CYP

The top three risks during the year were:

3

2

1
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The Trust’s risk appetite statement was agreed in 
February 2022 incorporating risk tolerances linked to 
the various defined risk categories, including safety 
and quality, regulation and compliance, financial 
environment and innovation, using a risk appetite 
framework based upon best practices promoted by the 
Good Governance Institute. 

In 2022/23 each of the main assurance committees was 
asked to undertake a review of the risk tolerance scores 
for the BAF risks within the categories under their 
remit, including current scoring, impact and likelihood 
threshold descriptors where they exist and to determine 
what those may be where they do not. This work was 
placed on hold following the implementation of InPhase 
whilst we developed a number of system reports. 

During the latter part of 2023/24 this work resumed and 
the next phase is for the Audit and Risk Committee to 
consider the risk profile that this presents during the first 
quarter of 2024/25 and make any recommendations 
that arise to the Board when it next considers its overall 
appetite; this may include the adjustment of thresholds 
or differentiation of risk categories that are more 
reflective of Alder Hey’s strategic direction e.g. Futures.

A cornerstone of the Trust’s approach to risk is to 
continue to further embed risk management within 
its clinical divisions and corporate functions. In order 
to achieve that, each division and corporate function 
has a lead for risk and governance who acts as the 
focus for the various aspects of governance and risk 
management within their area. They coordinate all such 
work and liaise with the Risk Management Team and 
with other governance professionals across the Trust. 
Regular updates to departmental and divisional risk 
registers are fed into the Corporate Risk Register. The 
Risk Management Forum engages in an active analysis 
of the Corporate Risk Register (a subset of the TRR for 
risks scored 15+) and Trust Risk Register (TRR) report at 
each meeting taken in the broader context of the Board 
Assurance Framework. The Forum also invites specific 
risk owners to present a deep dive of a particular risk 
at each meeting, usually as a result of the position that 
has emerged during the analysis of the corporate risk 
register at the previous meeting. The deep dives often 
lead to escalation of the particular risk to another senior 
forum such as the Executive Team or an assurance 
committee.

Now in its second year of operation, the Corporate 
Services Collaborative continues to meet monthly with 
good engagement across the 12 non-clinical service 
departments; its ethos is to operate as a supportive 
collective of senior managers, with a focus on service 
improvement using a Brilliant Basics approach - our 
method to improving quality, safety, effectiveness, and 
experience. 

Particular issues and areas for improvement are 
identified via aggregated performance data across the 

same metrics used to monitor performance within the 
clinical divisions. In addition to workforce and financial 
data, the monthly collaborative meetings which are 
chaired by the Director of Corporate Affairs and 
attended by corporate heads of department or deputy 
directors, also look at a corporate services risk register 
for risks rated high moderate and above. The group 
uses a ‘hot spots’ approach to focus on particular 
areas of risk. This collective and mutually supportive 
methodology has been welcomed by participants as 
a means of reducing the risk of ‘silo’ working across 
these areas and look for opportunities for sharing 
of good practice, resources and solutions to better 
support clinical service provision.

Alder Hey continues to operate a successful clinically 
led management model, with the divisional clinical 
directors for medicine, surgery, community and mental 
health services and research and innovation attending 
all board meetings as members of the Executive Team. 
This has demonstrably improved engagement and 
cross-divisional working over the eight years it has 
been in operation, also providing enriched debate 
and decision-making. This way of working is now fully 
embedded within the Trust’s governance mechanisms 
and underpins the operation of the unitary board 
concept.

The Trust is fully compliant with the registration 
requirements of the Care Quality Commission (CQC). 

The Trust remains rated as ‘Good’ overall with 
‘Outstanding’ in the Caring domain following the 
last inspection of seven core services in January 
and February 2020. The Trust is also rated ‘Good’ 
in the Well-Led domain, reflecting the continued 
focus on improving the Trust’s risk and governance 
arrangements.

Monitoring compliance with registration requirements 
and essential standards takes place routinely; the 
clinical divisions provide assurance via monthly 
submissions of their key issues reports through to 
the Safety and Quality Assurance Committee (SQAC) 
incorporating a set of key quality indicators and metrics. 
The divisional key issue reports include compliance 
against CQC standards and other constitutional and 
regulatory targets. They also include assurance against 
clinical effectiveness, patient experience and patient 
safety indicators such as incidents, risks, medication 
errors and infections. The weekly patient safety meeting 
continues to scrutinise key incidents in a timely fashion, 
agreeing any immediate actions required; action 
plans from serious incidents are also presented and 
monitored with dissemination to divisions for shared 
learning. 

Regular engagement meetings continued to be held 
between the Trust’s local CQC inspectors and several 
executive directors during the year. This has also 
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Successes
•	Services demonstrate best practice
•	 Improved reporting of incident themes
•	Positive feedback from FFT Survey
•	Good governance structures within 

MDT’s
•	Proactive research and audit within 

the services
•	Staff go above and beyond
•	Strong leadership within the service
•	Training and development 

opportunities for staff

Challenges
•	Recruitment and workforce issues

	- Staff retention, turnover and skill mix
	- Some service staffing levels under resourced
	- Recruitment and workforce issues due to national 
staff shortages

	- Staff resilience - staff sickness and burnout
	- Risk of insufficient medical staffing and succession 
planning

•	Service delivery concerns
	- Increasing number of referrals, acuity of patients 
greater than service capacity

	- Waiting list backlog

provided an invaluable means by which to continually 
self-assess performance against expected standards. 
The Trust has worked with CQC colleagues to develop 
an ongoing dialogue regarding the performance of 
the Trust’s core services based on an agreed data 
set submitted to the inspectors in advance. The Trust 
has found this ongoing relationship to be a positive 
and constructive one, as well as a means of sharing 
information about how the CQC is progressing with the 
implementation of its new strategy and approach to 
inspection from March 2024.

The Board at Alder Hey continues to regularly review 
its quality governance arrangements and underpinning 
systems and processes to ensure that they remain fit 
for purpose and able to respond to both internal and 
external factors. The Safety and Quality Assurance 
Committee (SQAC), whose membership includes all 
divisional directors as well as board directors, has 
delegated authority from the Board to undertake 
scrutiny and oversight of the Trust’s compliance with 
any quality requirements set out by regulators, as 
well as the delivery of the Trust’s quality priorities, 
incorporating measures of clinical effectiveness, patient 
safety and positive patient experience. 

In May 2023, SQAC approved the proposal to disband 
the Clinical Quality Steering Group, previously 
reporting into SQAC, to enable the formation of a 
clinical effectiveness and outcomes group, a revised 
and refreshed patient safety group and a patient 
experience group to progress to an improved model 
of oversight and quality assurance. Regular reports 
were also received on the Trust’s three key quality and 
safety priorities relating to the deteriorating patient, safe 

medicines management and parity of esteem. The work 
of the Audit and Risk Committee complements this 
by discharging its responsibility for the maintenance 
of an effective system of integrated governance, risk 
management and internal control across the whole of 
the organisation’s activities.

In 2023/24 the Trust’s programme of quality assurance 
ward/department rounds (QARs) continued via MS 
Teams as we came to the end of the pandemic. The 
key purpose of the process is to demonstrate to the 
Board the golden thread of quality assurance from 
ward to board and as such they have continued to be 
attended by the multidisciplinary teams and executive 
and non-executive directors and governors. The rounds 
facilitate a deep dive at ward/department/specialty 
level into quality, safety and performance, focusing on 
areas of good practice and actions being taken at a 
local level to address areas of concern. The rounds are 
also an opportunity for teams to seek and gain support 
from executives and non-executives for any areas of 
patient safety, experience and effectiveness they have 
concerns about. The assurance rounds provide both 
quantitative and qualitative information to demonstrate 
that the services are safe, effective, responsive, caring 
and well-led in line with the CQC’s five domains and 
supporting Key Lines of Enquiry (KLOEs). 

In January 2024, Trust executives and non-executives 
approved the transition from the current delivery of all 
QARs via MS Teams to a hybrid model from April 2024 
and opportunity for all stakeholders to support a more 
dynamic QAR approach. The revised hybrid approach 
to QARs aligned to the new CQC single assessment 
framework will commence from April 2024.

During the year a total of 33 QAR’s were held which is nearing the pre-pandemic level the organisation had 
historically achieved in order to gain widespread coverage across our complex service portfolio. Key themes 
to emerge from the process were as follows:
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Any risks associated with the identified QAR challenges 
are addressed at the point of presentation with a 
solution focused approach.

The Integrated Performance Report remains the 
principal mechanism for ensuring that the Board 
and its committees receive timely, accurate and 
comprehensive information on the performance of the 
organisation. The report is structured around the CQC 
domains and was updated during the year to align to 
the Trust’s strategic objectives and priorities, in line 
with the Annual Plan and implementation of Vision 
2030. The new report was implemented from June 
2023. The non-executive directors were involved in the 
development of the new report and continue to provide 
regular feedback on the report and on the presentation 
of individual indicators. A recent benchmarking 
exercise of performance reports across NHS trusts 
resulted in a commendation of the Alder Hey IPR as 
an example of best practice. As a result of changes to 
the Trust’s corporate calendar during 2023/24 a new 
real time ‘flash report’ was created to capture headline 
performance metrics straight after month end to be 
submitted to the Board meeting at the end of the 
first week of the following month. This approach has 
proved very effective in supporting existing reporting 
arrangements to enable immediate oversight of 
emerging issues without any data lag.

The Trust has continued with its Brilliant Basics 
programme. The aim of Brilliant Basics is to drive 
strategy into action through a number of workstreams, 
managed by an Executive scorecard to provide a 
monthly snapshot of whether the organisation is 
moving towards delivery against its strategic priority 
areas. This dashboard consists of driver and watch 
metrics which will assist the Board and its committees 
in measuring effectiveness. Over the last 12 months 
we have continued to make significant progress in 
embedding the Brilliant Basics approach into how 
we work at Alder Hey including the introduction 
of improvement connectors; a community of staff 
volunteers who help drive our shared vision of driving 
forward improvements. Bespoke training has continued 
for frontline teams and senior leaders across all 
divisions. The Leader Standard Work approach to our 
performance routines and meetings has remained in 
place throughout 2023/24 including the continuation of 
the Daily Safety Briefing each morning, chaired by an 
Executive Director, that focuses and centres our Trust 
leadership team each day on the issues and risks that 
may impact upon the delivery of safe care, but always 
with a practical, solution-based approach. 

As the NHS emerged from the pandemic the Board 
turned its attention to the recovery of services; issues 
arising from the backlog including acute attention to 
the safe management of waiting lists; and anticipation 
of a surge in ‘normal’ paediatric respiratory viruses that 
had been suppressed during the pandemic, specifically 

RSV. The Board Assurance Framework remained as 
the chief tool in assessing and mitigating the threats to 
delivery of the Trust’s strategic plan underpinned by the 
annual risk appetite review, which as described above, 
will in the coming year be informed by the in-depth 
review of risk tolerances. 

Members of Alder Hey’s staff groups participated in 
the national ballots held by the major health trades 
unions during the year with regard to historical pay 
issues and their impact. This resulted in lawful industrial 
action being taken by a number of professional 
staff groups including hospital consultants, nurses, 
physiotherapists, radiographers and junior doctors over 
the agreed periods of time. The Trust engaged fully 
with regional and national representatives and strike 
committees to ensure that there was clarity with regard 
to service derogations and that commensurate internal 
contingency plans were in place. The first priority for 
all concerned was the continuing safety of our patients 
and preservation of the highest quality services. At no 
time was this compromised and Alder Hey was pleased 
to work in partnership with trade union colleagues 
and staff to ensure that this promise was upheld. As 
part of this process, the Executive Team reinstated 
the Gold Command structure that it had effectively 
employed during the COVID-19 pandemic to manage 
business continuity issues. This tried and tested system 
ensured that the organisation was safely managed for 
the duration of each period of industrial action with no 
patient safety issues reported. 

Although in 2022/23 the Board undertook no formal 
review of its performance against the Well Led 
Governance Framework, it engaged in a wide range 
of activities to ensure that the organisation was 
continuing to follow best practice in leadership and 
good governance. Focus continued to be placed upon: 
effective ward to board governance and assurance; 
the effective management of emerging risks; and the 
demonstration of strong and supportive leadership at 
all levels. Good communication was fundamental to 
this and the all staff live briefings continued in the year, 
in the format of a weekly ‘Ask the Execs’ question and 
answer session with a monthly post-Board broadcast 
to give timely feedback from the meeting. The Staff 
Advice and Liaison Service (SALS) continued to 
provide vital support to staff in relation to their health 
and wellbeing and the Trust continued to work on 
implementation of the national wellbeing guardian 
principles led by Jo Revill, one of our non-executive 
directors, underpinning both the SALS concept and 
Trust values. There has continued to be significant 
focus for the Board on providing resources for staff 
to have their voice heard at Alder Hey, alongside the 
well-established Freedom to Speak Up model. The 
Board was pleased to see that the results of the 2023 
Staff Survey demonstrated that staff continue to feel 
confident to raise concerns and that they will be acted 
upon.
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The Board undertook its annual formal gap analysis 
against the conditions contained within its Provider 
License during the year. Regarding Condition FT4 – 
NHS Foundation Trust Governance Arrangements, 
the exercise did not identify any material risks to 
compliance with this condition. Alder Hey remains 
in segment ‘2’ under NHS Improvement’s Oversight 
Framework – providers offered targeted support - 
reflecting the Trust’s financial position.
 
As previously described, the Board continues to keep 
its governance arrangements under regular review and 
itself appraised of any new guidance or best practice 
advice that is published through the year including the 
NHS Leadership Competency Framework for board 
members and revised guidance in relation to the fit and 
proper person test in response to the 2019 Tom Kark 
KC review.

The Board’s main assurance committees each provides 
an annual report on its work to the Board, describing 
how the committee has fulfilled its terms of reference 
and annual work plan and outlining key areas of 
focus during the year, together with an overview of its 
priorities for the coming year. These are also submitted 
to the Audit and Risk Committee for it to assure itself 
that the activities of the committees are contributing 
effectively to the Trust’s overall control environment 
and that the work of the assurance committees is 
directly linked to the Board Assurance Framework. The 
assurance committees review their terms of reference 
on an annual basis to provide assurance to the Board 
that its structures continue to reflect the changing 
needs of the organisation and the environment in which 
it operates, including clear lines of accountability.

The Trust has in place an established process for 
incorporating equality impact assessments (EIAs) into 
the organisation’s decision-making processes. The 
purpose of this was to secure better integration from 
a process perspective and ensure that the Trust is 
properly responding to the different needs of staff and 
patients to meet its statutory and policy obligations, 

as well as its own values and the commitments made 
under the NHS Constitution. The EIA process is carried 
out in relation to the development of Trust policies 
or procedures, service redesign or development, 
strategic or business planning, organisational changes 
affecting patients, employees or both, procurement, 
cost improvement programmes and the commissioning 
or decommissioning of services. Subsequently, the 
EIA process was embedded into the quality impact 
assessment process to inextricably link the two key 
priorities.

The Trust has reviewed the Developing Workforce 
Safeguards recommendations issued by NHS 
Improvement in October 2018 and is confident that 
the principles are embedded in the existing workforce 
planning framework. The Chief Nurse reports annually 
to the Trust Board with regard to standards and 
processes to provide assurance that nursing staffing 
is safe, effective and sustainable in accordance with 
the CQC’s well led assessment. During the year, Alder 
Hey continued to proactively recruit nursing staff to 
ensure sufficient numbers in post to cover known and 
anticipated gaps for maternity leave and long-terms 
sickness. International recruitment was again a key 
strand of the Trust’s strategy and a further cohort of 
nurses from India joined us midway through the year. In 
addition, the Trust successfully recruited to key senior 
nursing leadership posts in 2022/23, including the new 
role of Deputy Director of Allied Health Professionals, as 
well as heads of nursing in the Emergency Department 
and Community. 

As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the 
NHS Pension Scheme, control measures are in place 
to ensure all employer obligations contained within the 
scheme regulations are complied with. This includes 
ensuring that deductions from salary, employer’s 
contributions and payments into the scheme are in 
accordance with the scheme rules, and that member 
pension scheme records are accurately updated 
in accordance with the timescales detailed in the 
regulations.

Over the last 12 months we have continued 
to make significant progress in embedding 
the Brilliant Basics approach into how 
we work at Alder Hey including the 
introduction of improvement connectors.
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Control measures are in place to ensure that the 
organisation’s obligations under equality, diversity and 
human rights legislation are complied with. The Trust 
maintains continuing compliance with the statutory 
and regulatory duties related to equality, diversity 
and human rights, with the publication of information 
to meet the Public Sector Equality Duty. The Trust’s 
equality objectives will continue to be aligned with NHS 
EDS 2, the WRES and the WDES and will respond to 
the associated commissioning requirements. 

Arrangements for the strategic oversight of progress 
towards the Trust’s equality objectives have continued 
to be a key priority during the year. The Equality, 
Diversity, and Inclusion Steering Group, chaired by 
Non-Executive Director, Garth Dallas plays a crucial 
governance role in providing strategic coherence and 
oversight across all matters related to equality, diversity 
and inclusion. 

In addition, the Trust has recently signed up to the 
North West BAME Assembly Anti-Racist Framework 
and will be working with the REACH network leads to 
explore and agree future actions.

The Foundation Trust has undertaken risk assessments 
on the effects of climate change and severe weather 
and had developed a Green Plan following the guidance 
of the Greener NHS Programme. The Trust ensures 
that its obligations under the Climate Change Act and 
the Adaption Reporting requirements are complied 
with. The Alder Hey in the Park campus is being 
developed to act as a catalyst for improving the health 
and wellbeing of our children, young people, families, 
staff, and surrounding communities. A number of initial 
workstreams have been implemented to enable us to 
deliver the pathway to net zero including travel; waste 
(especially clinical); energy and procurement. We have 
formed a clinically focused Green Steering Group to 
oversee the implementation and to embed a focus on 
health, science, and inequalities into our plan.

In terms of the Trust’s Emergency Preparedness, 
Resilience and Response (EPRR) Core Standards 
return, the Trust submitted a position of ‘non-
compliance’, in common with many other trusts.

LGBTQIA+
ACE (Disability Network)
REACH (black and minority ethnic)
Menopause
Armed Forces Community

The Trust has set up five staff networks 
which are going from strength to strength: 

This was due to a much more stringent check and 
challenge processes into each individual standard, 
alongside several changes to national guidance relating 
to EPRR. This submission was agreed by the Board, 
with an additional robust remedial action plan agreed 
with ICB partners to improve compliance.

The Trust has published on its website an up-to-date 
register of interests, including gifts and hospitality, 
for decision-making staff (as defined by the Trust 
with reference to the guidance) within the past twelve 
months, as required by the ‘Managing Conflicts of 
Interest in the NHS’ guidance. Members of the public 
can view register by visiting 
https://alderhey.mydeclarations.co.uk/home 

Review of Economy, Efficiency 
and Effectiveness of the Use of 
Resources 
As Accountable Officer, I am responsible for ensuring 
arrangements are in place for securing value for money 
in the use of the Trust’s resources. The Financial Plan is 
approved by the Board and submitted to NHS England. 
The plan, including forward projections, is monitored 
in detail by the Resources and Business Development 
Committee, a formal assurance committee of the 
Board. During 2023/24, the Trust continued to review 
a number of operational efficiency metrics through the 
Integrated Performance Report including productivity 
and recovery. The Trust’s resources are managed 
within the framework set by the Corporate Governance 
Manual, which includes Standing Financial Instructions 
and Scheme of Reservation and Delegation. Financial 
governance arrangements are supported by internal 
and external audit to ensure economic, efficient and 
effective use of resources.

The Trust made good progress on reducing care 
backlogs, meeting the target set by the national team 
and within the financial plan approved by NHSE for 
the year. This included delivery of the £75m cost 
improvement programme and reduction in the number 
of patients waiting over 65 weeks for treatment. The 
Trust was one of the highest performers nationally in 
terms of the 4 hour A&E target at 81%.

Quality Improvement remains a key focus and 
the organisation has continued to embrace the 
Brilliant Basics Improvement System; our vehicle for 
empowering staff to implement improvements and 
make work-related processes better for the benefit of 
our services, and for the ultimate benefit of our children, 
young people and their families.

During the year 2023/24, the contracting arrangements 
have continued to follow the simplified arrangements 
and financial framework put back into place in 2022/23. 
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The Trust has continued to play an active role in the 
Cheshire and Merseyside system and support in 
providing a robust response to the financial challenges 
set out. During the year, the Board have continued to 
shape the financial strategy that will ensure delivery of 
the 2030 vision and financial sustainability. 
 
The directors have considered and kept under review 
throughout the year the financial governance framework 
that operates within the Trust and its flexibility and to 
maintain their response to the financial challenges 
imposed upon the organisation and the Cheshire and 
Mersey system. 
 
Taking into account potential planning scenarios 
and the robust financial framework and governance 
structures in place within the Trust, the directors have a 
reasonable expectation that the NHS Foundation Trust 
will have adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future.

Financial Governance and Intelligence 
•	Alder Hey is nationally recognised for finance staff 

development and training as a Level 2 Finance Skills 
Development accredited organisation. 

•	We continue to embed the workforce sustainability 
plan across the Trust with successful achievement of 
the NHSI agency cap threshold in year. 

•	To deliver the arrangements for 2023/24 the Trust 
set robust budgets signed off in line with the SFIs 
(Standing Financial Instructions) of the organisation. 

In year monitoring was undertaken through the 
appropriate governance process and escalation 
where required. 

•	The Resource and Business Development Committee 
received monthly assurance on the ongoing financial 
position and associated risks.

•	The Trust continued to report financial position and 
risks to the ICB on a monthly basis alongside formal 
submission to NHSIE. 

Operationally, the Executive Team uses a range of 
mechanisms through which it monitors performance, 
identifies emerging risks to delivery and takes mitigating 
action to address issues as they arise. These processes 
have continued during the year and include three times 
daily patient flow huddles, a weekly activity meeting 
and a weekly dashboard report to the Executive Team 
meeting.

The Board’s assurance system is underpinned by the 
work of the Trust’s internal auditors, Mersey Internal 
Audit Agency (MIAA) which is overseen by the Audit 
and Risk Committee. Each year the Committee agrees 
an audit programme which aims to focus on areas 
of weakness or potential risk in internal control and 
make recommendations to address deficits where 
these are identified. MIAA retain a database of agreed 
management actions arising from audits and these 
are followed up by the Audit and Risk Committee until 
completed. During the last 12 months the Committee 
Chair has retained a strong focus on the processes 
around the monitoring of the implementation of internal 
audit recommendations and the provision of regular 
reports both from lead officers and internal audit, to 
ensure that agreed action is undertaken on a timely 
basis. 

In addition, the Trust engages MIAA to provide counter 
fraud services. The Local Counter Fraud Specialist, 
supported by the Trust, has continued to enhance 
the overall anti-fraud arrangements at Alder Hey 
through the conduct of a range of agreed proactive 
activities specified in the Trust’s Anti-Fraud Work 
Plan for 2023/24 as well as undertaking investigations 
as required. Routine reports on progress against its 
delivery are received by the Audit and Risk Committee. 
The key to the success of these activities is the 
achievement of outcomes across the defined areas of 
anti-fraud work. 

Digital and Data Futures 
Following the launch of Digital and Data Futures in 
2022, a number of solutions have been implemented 
delivering a wide range of benefits for staff, patients 
and families. In early 2023, the Trust launched its brand 
new website and intranet with improved functionality. 
The feedback has been extremely positive, with users 
reporting a much better experience and a reduction in 
time when searching for key information.

•	Continuation of a system level financial 
envelope and expectation of system financial 
balance; 

•	Continuation of block income payments with 
exception of elective care;

•	Continuation of a national Elective Recovery 
Fund (ERF) with providers paid on a payment 
by results (PBR) model for activity levels 
delivered;

•	Recovery target set by each commissioner 
for elective care based on exceeding 		
pre-pandemic levels;

•	Changes made through the year to activity 
targets to recognise impact of industrial 
action; and

•	Continued emphasis on system working and 
collaboration.

The key areas of the 2023/24 
financial framework included:
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The most significant digital achievement in 2023 
was the transition to Alder Care, which is the latest 
version of the Trust’s Electronic Patient Record. The 
system went live in September 2023 and was a huge 
collaborative effort across all clinical and support 
teams. The new platform provides a much better 
user interface and enhanced patient safety features. 
The deployment was one of the first digital enablers 
contributing to the Trust’s 2030 Vision and successful 
delivery of the Trust’s 2030 Strategy. 

iDigital, an integrated digital service supporting both 
Alder Hey and Liverpool Heart and Chest Hospital, 
has gone from strength to strength and celebrated its 
2nd birthday in 2023. The service has delivered many 
benefits and has expanded by integrating further 
services across both trusts since its inception.

Information Governance 
The Data Security and Protection Toolkit (DSPT) 
baseline assessment for 2023/24 was submitted 
in February 2024, with the final submission to be 
completed in June 2024. The submission process is 
supported by an independent two-phase audit process 
by Mersey Internal Audit Agency, with an assurance 
opinion provided regarding robustness of evidence and 
information risk management. It is anticipated the Trust 
will submit a compliant return for 2023/24.

The information governance function continues to 
work collaboratively in partnership with Liverpool Heart 
and Chest Hospital across all areas of information 
governance and cyber security. Outputs and delivery 
of the information governance work programme 
are monitored through the Trust’s governance and 
committee structures. The Information Governance 
Team were shortlisted as finalists for the National 
Health and Social Care Information Governance Annual 
Awards 2024.

During 2023/24, two data security incidents were 
reported to the Information Commissioners Office 
(ICO), with no further action deemed necessary by the 
ICO.

Data Quality and Governance
The Chief Medical Officer and Chief Nurse are jointly 
responsible at Board level for leading the quality 
agenda within the Trust, supported by the Director of 
Nursing, Deputy Director of Nursing and Associate 
Director of Risk and Governance. The Chief Operating 
Officer, supported by the divisional associate chief 
operating officers, is responsible for access to services 
and the Chief Information and Digital Officer is 
responsible for data quality.

During the year the Trust’s internal quality and 
performance metrics, which form the Integrated 
Performance Report, continued to be reported and 
scrutinised by the relevant Trust committees. The 
quality metrics are reviewed in detail by the Safety 
and Quality Assurance Committee and the totality of 
indicators by the Board of Directors on a monthly basis. 

In the 2023, a significant amount of work has been 
undertaken by the Trust to ensure accurate and timely 
data and reporting:
•	A full review of the Trusts high priority, internal and 

external reports following the transition to Alder Care. 
The review provided robust assurance on the integrity 
of the data following the transition to a new electronic 
patient record.

•	The review was supported by NHS England who 
met weekly with the implementation team to provide 
guidance and support around national statutory 
submissions.

•	The review included a focussed effort on validating 
the Trust’s waiting lists, following a similar approach 
that was previously employed via the Safer Waiting 
List Management Group. 

•	The Data Quality Steering Group continues to meet 
regularly and reports into the Digital Oversight 
Collaborative and Resource and Business 
Development Committee for assurance.

•	 In 2023, the Trust refreshed the Terms of Reference 
for its Data Access Committee, chaired by the 
Chief Nurse. The Committee ensures that any data 
generated by the Trust is only accessed, processed 
or used to benefit the hospital or its patients. 

The Trust continues to participate in the Specialist 
Children’s Hospital Benchmarking Group to look at 
benchmarking national specialised services indicators.

Alder Hey’s Board has identified a strategic risk 
relating to timely access to high quality services for our 
children and young people that accumulated during the 
COVID-19 crisis. The key determining factors driving 
this risk include industrial action (which has affected 
hospital capacity), coupled with a surge in demand for
services including mental health support and 
neuro-diversity services, and a rise in referrals for 
elective care. Across community and mental health 
services, elective surgery and emergency services, a 
range of interventions and transformation programmes 
have been implemented to mitigate this risk. In 2023-24 
our position is: 
•	Virtually eliminated the number of children and 

young people waiting over 65 weeks for treatment in 
consultant-led care pathways.
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•	 In Quarter 4, we treated over 81% of patients within 
four hours of arrival to our Emergency Department, 
making Alder Hey one of the best performing trusts in 
England. Our good performance has been driven by 
transformational change including:
	- establishing a new urgent care service, providing 
convenient appointments for low acuity patients;

	- a consistent senior decision-making model, 
extended later into the evening;

	- transforming our acute medical service through 
a Paediatric Assessment Service that enables 
primary care to send referrals direct to this unit, 
bypassing ED; and

	- establishing the largest children’s virtual ward in 
the UK.

•	Delivery of increased activity across all areas of 
community services (66% more than 2019/20).

•	Outstanding access to in-region critical care services, 
due to a strong and resilient workforce.

•	Our ASD and ADHD services have seen a surge in 
demand and our largest operational access risk relates 
to the large number of children and young people 
waiting over 65 weeks for a diagnosis. Within Alder 
Hey a pathway improvement programme has been 
launched and we are supporting the national review of 
neuro-diversity services. 

Review of Effectiveness 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for 
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control is informed by the work of the internal 
auditors, clinical audit, counter fraud and the executive 
managers and clinical leads within the Trust who have 
responsibility for the development and maintenance 
of the internal control framework. I have drawn on the 
information provided in this annual report and other 
performance information available to me. My review 
is also informed by comments made by the external 
auditors in their management letter and other reports. 
I have been advised on the implications of the result of 
my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control by the Board and the Audit and Risk Committee. 
A plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous 
improvement of the system is in place.

The process that has been applied in maintaining and 
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control includes the following elements:
•	The Board of Directors provides active leadership of 

the Trust within a framework of prudent controls that 
enable risk to be assessed and managed;

•	The Audit and Risk Committee, as part of an integrated 
governance structure, is pivotal in advising the Board 
on the effectiveness of the system of internal control;

•	The assurance committees of the Board are 
key components by which I am able to assess 
the effectiveness and assure the Board of risk 
management generally and clinical risk in particular 
via the Safety and Quality Assurance Committee, 
supported by the Risk Management Forum and 
divisional performance reviews;

•	 Internal Audit provides quarterly reports to the Audit 
and Risk Committee and full reports to the Chief 
Finance Officer and other Trust officers;

•	Routine reports from Counter Fraud to the Audit and 
Risk Committee against delivery of the Trust’s Anti-
Fraud Work Plan;

•	The Chief Finance Officer also meets regularly with 
internal and external audit managers;

•	The Audit and Risk Committee holds clinical divisions 
and corporate departments to account for the 
effective management of their key risks via the Risk 
Management Forum;

•	Other explicit review and assurance mechanisms 
include divisional risk registers linked to the Trust’s 
operational plan and a range of independent 
assessments against key areas of control, as set out 
in the Assurance Framework; and

•	Full registration with the CQC.

Any significant internal control issues would be reported 
to the Board via the appropriate Assurance Committee. 

I receive reports from royal colleges and following 
Deanery visits; although these remain fewer in number 
than usual because of COVID-19 backlog and recovery 
across the whole healthcare system, there have been 
other independent assessments against key areas of 
control which provide assurance, for example:
•	Higher Level Responsible Officer (NHS England)
•	Major Trauma Peer Review
•	Patient Led Assessments of the Care Environment 
•	Navajo Assessment 
•	Sickle Cell Peer Review 

The Board of Directors is committed to continuous 
improvement and development of the system of 
internal control and the recommendations from all 
visits and inspections are monitored through the Trust’s 
governance processes until completion.

Conclusion
In conclusion, for 2023/24 no significant internal control 
issues have been identified.
Signed:

LOUISE SHEPHERD CBE
Chief Executive
26th June 2024



A new research project aiming 
to understand the causes of 
Hirschsprung’s Disease and develop 
new treatments is taking place at 
Alder Hey. 

Hirschsprung’s Disease is a rare 
condition which causes a blockage of 
the bowel and can lead to life-long 
issues with bowel control and, in a 
small number of children, death. It 
affects around 170 babies every year 
in the UK.

Nerves that control bowel function 
grow from specific stem cells. 
Researchers were surprised to find 
these stem cells were still present in 
babies with Hirschsprung’s Disease, 
indicating they had the potential 
for normal nerve development, but 
something went wrong.

This new project funded by Bowel 
Research UK aims to understand what 
stopped those stem cells forming 
functioning nerves and whether those 
cells can be ‘switched on’ to grow 
functioning nerves in the patient 
retrospectively.

No new parent wants to hear that 
their newborn baby has a condition 
that needs surgery and will likely 
affect them for life. Our research 
aims to understand Hirschsprung’s 
Disease better so that we can 
develop smarter treatments which 
improve their outcomes and 
quality of life.

Dr Rachel Harwood, Researcher 
and Paediatric Surgeon said:

Understanding Diseases and 
Developing New Treatments

Pioneering 
breakthroughs



Annual 
Accounts

Foreword to the Accounts
Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust	
	
These accounts, for the year ended 31 March 2024, 
have been prepared by Alder Hey Children’s NHS 
Foundation Trust in accordance with paragraphs 24 
& 25 of Schedule 7 within the National Health Service 
Act 2006.	

Signed:

LOUISE SHEPHERD CBE

Chief Executive
26th June 2024
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Note 2023/24
£000

2022/23
£000

Operating Income from Patient Care Activities 3 379,299 350,663 

Other Operating Income 4 36,626 40,578 

Operating Expenses 7, 9 (410,726) (364,829)

Operating Surplus from Continuing Operations 5,198 26,411 

Finance Income 11 4,403 1,709 

Finance Expenses 12 (12,701) (9,151)

PDC Dividends Payable (3,042) (2,296)

Net Finance Costs (11,340) (9,738)
Other Gains/(Losses) 13 (369) 55 

Share of Profit/(Losses) of Associates/Joint Arrangements 21 - - 

Gains/(Losses) arising from transfers by absorption 46 - - 

Corporation Tax Expense - - 

(Deficit)/Surplus for the Year From Continuing Operations (6,511) 16,728 
Surplus/(Deficit) on Discontinued Operations and the Gain/
(Loss) on Disposal of Discontinued Operations 15 - - 

(Deficit)/Surplus for the Year (6,511) 16,728 

Other Comprehensive Income

Will Not be Reclassified to Income and Expenditure:

Impairments 8 - (564)

Revaluations 18 156 19,523 
Share of Comprehensive Income from Associates and 
Joint Ventures 21 - - 

Fair Value Gains/(Losses) On Equity Instruments Designated 
at Fair Value Through OCI 22 - - 

Other Recognised Gains and Losses - - 
Remeasurements of the Net Defined Benefit Pension Scheme 
Liability/Asset 38 - - 

Gains/(Loss) arising from on transfers by modified absorption 46 - - 

Other Reserve Movements - - 

May be Reclassified to Income and Expenditure when 
Certain Conditions are Met:

Fair Value Gains/(Losses) on Financial Assets Mandated at 
Fair Value through OCI 22 - - 

Recycling Gains/(Losses) on Disposal of Financial Assets 
Mandated at Fair Value through OCI 13 - - 

Foreign Exchange Gains/(Losses) Recognised Directly in OCI - - 

Total Comprehensive Income/(Expense) for the Period (6,355) 35,687 

Statement of Comprehensive Income
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Statement of Financial Position
Note 31 March 2024

£000
31 March 2023

£000
Non-Current Assets
Intangible Assets 15 28,602 31,434 
Property, Plant And Equipment 16 263,504 266,343 
Right of Use Assets 19 5,540 4,744 
Investment Property 20 - - 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 21 - - 
Other Investments/Financial Assets 22 - - 
Receivables 25 299 388 
Other Assets 27 - - 
Total Non-Current Assets 297,945 302,909 
Current Assets
Inventories 24 4,972 4,449 
Receivables 25 20,831 28,093 
Other Investments/Financial Assets 22 - - 
Other Assets 27 - - 
Non-Current Assets For Sale and Assets in Disposal Groups 28.1 - - 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 29 78,280 83,478 
Total Current Assets 104,083 116,020 
Current Liabilities
Trade and Other Payables 30 (59,637) (70,312)
Borrowings 32 (10,139) (6,032)
Other Financial Liabilities 33 - - 
Provisions 34 (7,839) (11,149)
Other Liabilities 31 (1,955) (4,142)
Liabilities in Disposal Groups 28.2 - - 
Total Current Liabilities (79,570) (91,635)
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities 322,458 327,295 
Non-Current Liabilities
Trade and Other Payables 30 - - 
Borrowings 32 (133,801) (132,917)
Other Financial Liabilities 33 - - 
Provisions 34 (635) (2,282)
Other Liabilities 31 (2,850) (3,067)
Total Non-Current Liabilities (137,286) (138,266)
Total Assets Employed 185,172 189,029 
Financed by 
Public Dividend Capital 107,939 99,299 
Revaluation Reserve 21,063 20,907 
Financial Assets Reserve - - 
Other Reserves - - 
Merger Reserve - - 
Income and Expenditure Reserve 56,170 68,823 
Total Taxpayers' Equity 185,172 189,029 

The notes on pages 131 to 186 
form part of these accounts.

LOUISE SHEPHERD CBE
Chief Executive
26th June 2024

Signed:
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year Ended 31 March 2024
Public

Dividend
Capital 
£000

Revaluation
Reserve

£000

Financial 
Assets 

Reserve
£000

Other 
Reserves

£000

Merger 
Reserve

£000

Income and
Expenditure

Reserve
£000

Total

£000
Taxpayers’ and Others’ Equity at 
1 April 2023 - 
Brought Forward

99,299 20,907 - - - 68,823 189,029 

Application of IFRS 16 
Measurement Principles to PFI 
Liability on 1 April 2023

- - - - - (6,142) (6,142) 

Surplus/(Deficit) for the Year - - - - - (6,511) (6,511) 
Gain/(Loss) Arising from Transfers 
by Modified Absorption - - - - - - - 

Transfers by Absorption: 
Transfers Between Reserves - - - - - - - 

Transfer from Revaluation Reserve 
to Income And Expenditure Reserve 
for Impairments Arising from 
Consumption of Economic Benefits

- - - - - - - 

Other Transfers Between Reserves - - - - - - - 
Impairments - - - - - - -
Revaluations - 156 - - - - 156 
Transfer to Retained Earnings on 
Disposal of Assets - - - - - - - 

Share Of Comprehensive Income 
From Associates and Joint Ventures - - - - - - - 

Fair Value Gains/(Losses) on 
Financial Assets Mandated at Fair 
Value Through OCI

- - - - - - - 

Fair Value Gains/(Losses) on Equity 
Instruments Designated at Fair 
Value Through OCI

- - - - - - - 

Recycling Gains/(Losses) on 
Disposal of Financial Assets 
Mandated at Fair Value Through 
OCI

- - - - - - - 

Foreign Exchange Gains/(Losses) 
Recognised Directly Through OCI - - - - - - - 

Other Recognised Gains and 
Losses - - - - - - - 

Remeasurements of the Defined 
Net Benefit Pension Scheme 
Liability/Asset

- - - - - - - 

Public Dividend Capital Received 8,640 - - - - - 8,640

Public Dividend Capital Repaid - - - - - - - 

Public Dividend Capital Written Off - - - - - - - 

Other Movements in Public 
Dividend Capital In Year - - - - - - - 

Other Reserve Movements - - - - - - - 
Taxpayers’ and Others’ Equity at 
31 March 2024 107,939 21,063 - - - 56,170 185,172 
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year Ended 31 March 2023
Public

Dividend
Capital 
£000

Revaluation
Reserve

£000

Financial 
Assets 

Reserve
£000

Other 
Reserves

£000

Merger 
Reserve

£000

Income and
Expenditure

Reserve
£000

Total

£000
Taxpayers' and Others' Equity at 
1 April 2022 - Brought Forward 94,539 7,107 - - - 46,936 148,582 

Prior Period Adjustment - - - - - - - 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 
1 April 2022 - restated 94,539 7,107 - - - 46,936 148,582 

Implementation of IFRS 16 on 1 
April 2022 - - - - - - - 

Surplus/(Deficit) for the Year - - - - - 16,728 16,728 
Gain/(Loss) Arising from Transfers 
by Modified Absorption - - - - - - - 

Transfers by Absorption: Transfers 
Between Reserves - - - - - - - 

Transfer from Revaluation Reserve 
to Income and Expenditure Reserve 
For Impairments Arising from 
Consumption of Economic Benefits

- - - - - - - 

Other Transfers Between Reserves - - - - - - - 
Impairments - (564) - - - - (564)
Revaluations - 19,523 - - - - 19,523 
Transfer to Retained Earnings on 
Disposal of Assets - - - - - - - 

Share of Comprehensive Income 
From Associates and Joint Ventures - - - - - - - 

Fair Value Gains/(Losses) on 
Financial Assets Mandated At Fair 
Value Through OCI

- - - - - - - 

Fair Value Gains/(Losses) on Equity 
Instruments Designated at Fair 
Value Through OCI

- - - - - - - 

Recycling Gains/(Losses) on 
Disposal of Financial Assets 
Mandated at Fair Value Through OCI

- - - - - - - 

Foreign Exchange Gains/(Losses) 
Recognised Directly Through OCI - - - - - - - 

Other Recognised Gains and Losses - - - - - - - 
Remeasurements of the Defined 
Net Benefit Pension Scheme 
Liability/Asset

- - - - - - - 

Public Dividend Capital Received 4,760 - - - - - 4,760 
Public Dividend Capital Repaid - - - - - - - 
Public Dividend Capital Written Off - - - - - - - 
Other Movements in Public 
Dividend Capital in Year - - - - - - - 

Other Reserve Movements - (5,159) - - - 5,159 -

Taxpayers' and Others' Equity at 
31 March 2023 99,299 20,907 - - - 68,823 189,029 
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Information on Reserves
Public Dividend Capital
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public 
sector equity finance based on the excess of assets 
over liabilities at the time of establishment of the 
predecessor NHS organisation. Additional PDC may 
also be issued to trusts by the Department of Health 
and Social Care. A charge, reflecting the cost of capital 
utilised by the Trust, is payable to the Department of 
Health as the public dividend capital dividend.

Revaluation Reserve
Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are 
recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, 
and to the extent that, they reverse impairments 
previously recognised in operating expenses, in 
which case they are recognised in operating income. 
Subsequent downward movements in asset valuations 
are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent 
that a previous gain was recognised unless the 
downward movement represents a clear consumption 
of economic benefit or a reduction in service potential.

Financial Assets Reserve
This reserve comprises changes in the fair value of 
financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income. When these instruments are 
derecognised, cumulative gains or losses previously 
recognised as other comprehensive income or 
expenditure are recycled to income or expenditure, 
unless the assets are equity instruments measured at 
fair value through other comprehensive income as a 
result of irrevocable election at recognition.

Other Reserves
The Trust currently has no other reserves.

Merger Reserve
This legacy reserve reflects balances formed on 
previous mergers of NHS bodies.

Income and Expenditure Reserve
The balance of this reserve is the accumulated 
surpluses and deficits of the Trust.	
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Statement of Cash Flows
Note 2023/24

£000
2022/23

£000
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Operating Surplus 5,198 26,411 

Non-Cash Income and Expense:
Depreciation and Amortisation 7.1 16,577 14,067 
Net Impairments 8 12,390 (10,109)
Income Recognised in Respect of Capital Donations 4 (851) (3,254)
Amortisation of PFI Deferred Credit (137) (137)
Non-Cash Movements in on-SoFP Pension Liability - - 
(Increase)/Decrease in Receivables and Other Assets 8,263 (5,141)
(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories (523) (697)
(Increase)/Decrease in Payables and Other Liabilities (14,843) (1,989)
(Increase)/Decrease in Provisions (4,950) (108)
Tax (Paid)/Received - - 
Operating Cash Flows from Discontinued Operations - - 
Other Movements in Operating Cash Flows - - 
Net Cash Flows From/(Used in) Operating Activities 21,125 19,044 

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Interest Received 4,028 1,709 
Purchase and Sale of Financial Assets/Investments - - 
Purchase of Intangible Assets (4,741) (8,030)
Sales of Intangible Assets - - 
Purchase of PPE and Investment Property (14,906) (13,943)
Sales of PPE and Investment Property 178 55 
Initial Direct Costs or Up Front Payments in Respect of New Right of Use 
Assets (Lessee)

- - 

Receipt of Cash Lease Incentives (Lessee) - - 
Lease Termination Fees Paid (Lessee) - - 
Receipt of Cash Donations to Purchase Assets 851 3,254 
Prepayment of PFI Capital Contributions - - 
Finance Lease Receipts (Principal and Interest) - - 
Investing Cash Flows from Discontinued Operations - - 
Cash from Acquisitions/Disposals of Subsidiaries - - 
Net Cash Flows From/(Used in) Investing Activities (14,590) (16,955)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Public Dividend Capital Received 8,640 4,760 
Public Dividend Capital Repaid - - 
Movement on Loans from DHSC (2,759) (2,759)
Movement on Other Loans - - 
Other Capital Receipts - - 
Capital Element of Finance Lease Rental Payments (954) (683)
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Note 2023/24
£000

2022/23
£000

Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

Capital Element of PFI, LIFT and Other Service Concession Payments (3,126) (2,429)
Interest on Loans (855) (923)
Other Interest - - 
Interest Paid on Finance Lease Liabilities (46) (44)
Interest Paid on PFI, LIFT and Other Service Concession Obligations (7,837) (8,183)
PDC Dividend (Paid)/Refunded (4,796) 186 
Financing Cash Flows of Discontinued Operations - - 
Cash Flows From (Used in) Other Financing Activities - - 
Net Cash Flows From/(Used in) Financing Activities (11,733) (10,075)
Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (5,198) (7,985)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at 1 April - Brought Forward 83,478 91,463 
Prior Period Adjustments - 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at 1 April - Restated 83,478 91,463 
Cash and Cash Equivalents Transferred Under Absorption Accounting 46 - - 
Unrealised Gains/(Losses) on Foreign Exchange - - 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at 31 March 29.1 78,280 83,478 
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Notes to the Accounts
1. Accounting Policies and 
Other Information
1.1 Basis of Preparation
NHS England has directed that the financial statements 
of the Trust shall meet the accounting requirements 
of the Department of Health and Social Care Group 
Accounting Manual (GAM), which shall be agreed with 
HM Treasury. Consequently, the following financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the GAM 2023/24 issued by the Department of Health 
and Social Care. The accounting policies contained 
in the GAM follow International Financial Reporting 
Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and 
appropriate to the NHS, as determined by HM Treasury, 
which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory 
Board. Where the GAM permits a choice of accounting 
policy, the accounting policy that is judged to be most 
appropriate to the particular circumstances of the 
Trust for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has 
been selected. The particular policies adopted are 
described below. These have been applied consistently 
in dealing with items considered material in relation to 
the accounts.

1.1.1 Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention modified to account for the 
revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible 
assets, inventories and certain financial assets and 
financial liabilities.

1.2 Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on a going 
concern basis. The financial reporting framework 
applicable to NHS bodies, derived from the HM 
Treasury Financial Reporting Manual, defines that the 
anticipated continued provision of the entity’s services 
in the public sector is normally sufficient evidence 
of going concern. The directors have a reasonable 
expectation that this will continue to be the case.  
The directors of the Trust have considered whether 
there are any local or national policy decisions that 
are likely to affect the continued funding and provision 
of services by the Trust. The Trust is a member of the 
Cheshire and Merseyside ICS and continues to provide 
specialist services across the North West that are part 
of the ICS forward looking plans. No circumstances 
were identified causing the Directors to doubt the 
continued provision of NHS services.

This year the Trust reported an operating surplus of 
£5,198k and recorded an accounting deficit of £6,511k, 
primarily due in year impairments against assets 

brought into use. The Trust also achieved a control 
total surplus of £10.3m against which its financial 
performance as measured by NHSE.

Income from Commissioners was largely based on 
a ‘blended’ approach to funding in England. Some 
elements will be ‘variable’: elective points of delivery 
will be funded based on actual activity undertaken, and 
there will be some adjustments for quality performance. 
All other areas will remained block funded.

The Trust has produced its financial plans for 2024/25 
based on these assumptions which have been 
approved by the Trust Board and by the Cheshire & 
Merseyside ICS level. The control target for the 2024/25 
year agreed with ICS is a £3.38m surplus. The Trust 
has a proven track record of consistently meeting the 
performance and control totals set by the regulator 
and over the last five years has delivered significant 
surpluses to support the sustainability of the Trust, 
and the Trust is therefore reasonably assured of the 
achievability of this financial targets.

Our going concern assessment is made up to 
30/09/2025, with internal base case and downside 
scenarios for liquidity assessed to September 2025. 
This includes assessment of the full 2024/25  
financial year.

This models downside risk in relation to failure to 
achieve operating targets and non delivery of cost 
improvement plans.

The Trust has assumed that; 
•	Service requirements will remain broadly unchanged 

over the period,
•	The Trust expenditure to meet these requirements will 

remain stable,
•	The income received from commissioners and the 

ICS will as a minimum match the levels agreed and 
included in the 2024/25 plans; and 

•	Capital development plans and capital expenditure 
cash requirements will progress in line with the 
current plans and timetable.

The Trust has prepared a cash forecast modelled on 
the above expectations for funding during the going 
concern period to 30 September 2025. The cash 
forecast shows sufficient liquidity for the Trust to 
continue to operate during that period with a minimum 
cash position of £64m. Interim support can be 
accessed if it were required, but there is currently no 
such requirement identified

In conclusion, these factors, and the anticipated future 
provision of services in the public sector, support the 
Trust’s adoption of the going concern basis for the 
preparation of the accounts.
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1.3 Interests in Other Entities

Associates
Associate entities are those over which the Trust has 
the power to exercise a significant influence. Associate 
entities are recognised in the Trust’s financial statement 
using the equity method. The investment is initially 
recognised at cost. It is increased or decreased 
subsequently to reflect the Trust’s share of the entity’s 
profit or loss or other gains and losses (e.g. revaluation 
gains on the entity’s property, plant and equipment) 
following acquisition. It is also reduced when any 
distribution, e.g., share dividends are received by the 
Trust from the associate.

Associates which are classified as held for sale are 
measured at the lower of their carrying amount and  
“fair value less costs to sell”.

Joint Ventures
Joint ventures are arrangements in which the Trust has 
joint control with one or more other parties, and where 
it has the rights to the net assets of the arrangement. 
Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity 
method.

Joint Operations
Joint operations are arrangements in which the Trust 
has joint control with one or more other parties and has 
the rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, 
relating to the arrangement. The Trust includes within 
its financial statements its share of the assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses.

1.4 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Where income is derived from contracts with 
customers, it is accounted for under IFRS 15.  
The GAM expands the definition of a contract to 
include legislation and regulations which enables an 
entity to receive cash or another financial asset that 
is not classified as a tax by the Office of National 
Statistics (ONS).

Revenue in respect of goods/services provided is 
recognised when (or as) performance obligations are 
satisfied by transferring promised goods/services 
to the customer and is measured at the amount of 
the transaction price allocated to those performance 
obligations. At the year end, the Trust accrues income 
relating to performance obligations satisfied in that 
year. Where the Trust’s entitlement to consideration 
for those goods or services is unconditional a contract 
receivable will be recognised. Where entitlement to 
consideration is conditional on a further factor other 
than the passage of time, a contract asset will be 
recognised. Where consideration received or receivable 
relates to a performance obligation that is to be 

satisfied in a future period, the income is deferred and 
recognised as a contract liability.

The value of payment for Elective Recovery and Drug 
and Device activities, are not fully known until three 
months after the reporting period. Therefore, the Trust 
has included a number of accounting estimates in its 
financial statements, which will be transacted within the 
first quarter of the next reporting period.

Revenue from NHS Contracts
The main source of income for the Trust is contracts 
with commissioners for healthcare services. Funding 
envelopes are set at an Integrated Care System (ICS) 
level. The majority of the Trust’s NHS income is earned 
from NHS commissioners under the NHS Payment 
Scheme (NHSPS) which replaced the National Tariff 
Payment System on 1 April 2023. The NHSPS sets  
out rules to establish the amount payable to trusts for 
NHS-funded secondary healthcare.

Aligned payment and incentive contracts form the main 
payment mechanism under the NHSPS. In 2023/24 API 
contracts contain both a fixed and variable element. 
Under the variable element, providers earn income for 
elective activity (both ordinary and day case), outpatient 
procedures, outpatient first attendances, diagnostic 
imaging and nuclear medicine, and chemotherapy 
delivery activity. The precise definition of these activities 
is given in the NHSPS. Income is earned at NHSPS 
prices based on actual activity. The fixed element 
includes income for all other services covered by 
the NHSPS assuming an agreed level of activity with 
‘fixed’ in this context meaning not varying based on 
units of activity. Elements within this are accounted for 
as variable consideration under IFRS 15 as explained 
below. 

High cost drugs and devices excluded from national  
HRG tariffs are reimbursed on an actual usage basis. 
The exception is some high costs drugs paid for by 
spec comm on a fixed basis (as per national policy).

In 2022/23 fixed payments were set at a level assuming 
the achievement of elective activity targets within 
aligned payment and incentive contracts.

The Trust also receives income from commissioners 
under Commissioning for Quality Innovation (CQUIN) 
and Best Practice Tariff (BPT) schemes. Delivery under 
these schemes is part of how care is provided to 
patients. As such CQUIN and BPT payments are not 
considered distinct performance obligations in their 
own right; instead they form part of the transaction 
price for performance obligations under the overall 
contract with the commissioner and accounted for 
as variable consideration under IFRS 15. Payment for 
CQUIN and BPT on non-elective services is included 
in the fixed element of API contracts with adjustments 
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for actual achievement being made at the end of the 
year. BPT earned on elective activity is included in the 
variable element of API contracts and paid in line with 
actual activity performed.

Where the relationship with a particular integrated 
care board is expected to be a low volume of activity 
(annual value below £0.5m), an annual fixed payment is 
received by the provider as determined in the NHSPS 
documentation. Such income is classified as ‘other 
clinical income’ in these accounts.

Elective recovery funding provides additional funding 
to integrated care boards to fund the commissioning of 
elective services within their systems. In 2023/24, trusts 
do not directly earn elective recovery funding, instead 
earning income for actual activity performed under API 
contract arrangements as explained above. The level 
of activity delivered by the Trust contributes to system 
performance and therefore the availability of funding to 
the Trust’s commissioners. In 2022/23 elective recovery 
funding for providers was separately identified within 
the aligned payment and incentive contracts.

Revenue from Research Contracts
Where research contracts fall under IFRS 15, revenue 
is recognised as and when performance obligations 
are satisfied. For some contracts, it is assessed that 
the revenue project constitutes one performance 
obligation over the course of the multi-year contract. 
In these cases it is assessed that the Trust’s interim 
performance does not create an asset with alternative 
use for the Trust, and the Trust has an enforceable  
right to payment for the performance completed to 
date. It is therefore considered that the performance 
obligation is satisfied over time, and the Trust 
recognises revenue each year over the course of the 
contract. Some research income alternatively falls 
within the provisions of IAS 20 for government grants.

NHS Injury Cost Recovery Scheme
The Trust receives income under the NHS injury 
cost recovery scheme, designed to reclaim the cost 
of treating injured individuals to whom personal 
injury compensation has subsequently been paid, 
for instance by an insurer. The Trust recognises the 
income when performance obligations are satisfied. 
In practical terms this means that treatment has been 
given, it receives notification from the Department of 
Work and Pension’s Compensation Recovery Unit, 
has completed the NHS2 form and confirmed there 
are no discrepancies with the treatment. The income 
is measured at the agreed tariff for the treatments 
provided to the injured individual, less an allowance for 
unsuccessful compensation claims and doubtful debts 
in line with IFRS 9 requirements of measuring expected 
credit losses over the lifetime of the asset.

1.5 Other Forms of Income

Grants and Donations
Government grants are grants from government bodies 
other than income from commissioners or trusts for 
the provision of services. Where a grant is used to 
fund revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income to match that expenditure. 
Where the grants is used to fund capital expenditure, it 
is credited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
once conditions attached to the grant have been met. 
Donations are treated in the same way as government 
grants.

Apprenticeship Service Income
The value of the benefit received when accessing 
funds from the Government’s apprenticeship service 
is recognised as income at the point of receipt of the 
training service. Where these funds are paid directly to 
an accredited training provider from the Trust’s Digital 
Apprenticeship Service (DAS) account held by the 
Department for Education, the corresponding notional 
expense is also recognised at the point of recognition 
for the benefit.

1.6 Expenditure on Employee Benefits

Short-Term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments 
such as social security costs and the apprenticeship 
levy are recognised in the period in which the service 
is received from employees. The cost of annual leave 
entitlement earned but not taken by employees at 
the end of the period is recognised in the financial 
statements to the extent that employees are permitted 
to carry-forward leave into the following period.

Pension Costs

NHS Pension Scheme
Past and present employees are covered by the 
provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Both 
schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that 
cover NHS employers, general practices and other 
bodies, allowed under the direction of Secretary of 
State for Health and Social Care in England and Wales. 
The scheme is not designed in a way that would enable 
employers to identify their share of the underlying 
scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme 
is accounted for as though it is a defined contribution 
scheme: the cost to the Trust is taken as equal to 
the employer’s pension contributions payable to the 
scheme for the accounting period. The contributions 
are charged to operating expenses as and when they 
become due. 



Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report & Accounts 2023/24134

Additional pension liabilities arising from early 
retirements are not funded by the scheme except 
where the retirement is due to ill-health. The full amount 
of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the 
operating expenses at the time the Trust commits itself 
to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

Holiday Pay Accrual
The accrual for outstanding leave has been calculated 
on an actual basis.

The accrual is calculated based upon an estimate 
of leave outstanding following feedback from 
management. The Trust’s annual leave policy clearly 
states that annual leave is expected to be taken in 
the year it relates to and only carried forward on an 
exceptional basis and with agreement from managers 
up to five days.

1.7 Expenditure on other Goods and Services 
Expenditure on goods and services is recognised 
when, and to the extent that they have been received, 
and is measured at the fair value of those goods and 
services. Expenditure is recognised in operating 
expenses except where it results in the creation of 
a non-current asset such as property, plant and 
equipment.

1.8 Discontinued Operations
Discontinued operations occur where activities either 
cease without transfer to another entity, or transfer to an 
entity outside of the boundary of Whole of Government 
Accounts, such as private or voluntary sectors. Such 
activities are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 
5. Activities that are transferred to other bodies within 
the boundary of Whole of Government Accounts are 
‘machinery of government changes’ and treated as 
continuing operations.

1.9 Property, Plant and Equipment

Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where: 
•	 It is held for use in delivering services or for 

administrative purposes;
•	 It is probable that future economic benefits will flow 

to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust;
•	 It is expected to be used for more than one financial 

year; 
•	The cost of the item can be measured reliably;
•	The item has cost of at least £5,000, or;
•	Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least 

£5,000 and individually have cost of more than £250, 
where the assets are functionally interdependent, had 

broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated 
to have similar disposal dates and are under single 
managerial control.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a 
number of components with significantly different asset 
lives, e.g. plant and equipment, then these components 
are treated as separate assets and depreciated over 
their own useful lives.

Subsequent Expenditure
Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, 
plant and equipment is recognised as an increase in 
the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable 
that additional future economic benefits or service 
potential deriving from the cost incurred to replace 
a component of such item will flow to the enterprise 
and the cost of the item can be determined reliably. 
Where a component of an asset is replaced, the cost 
of the replacement is capitalised if it meets the criteria 
for recognition above. The carrying amount of the part 
replaced is de-recognised. Other expenditure that does 
not generate additional future economic benefits or 
service potential, such as repairs and maintenance, is 
charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in 
the period in which it is incurred.

Measurement

Valuation
All property, plant and equipment assets are  
measured initially at cost, representing the costs 
directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the 
asset and bringing it to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management.

Assets are measured subsequently at valuation. Assets 
which are held for their service potential and are in use 
(ie operational assets used to deliver either front line 
services or back office functions) are measured at their 
current value in existing use. Assets that were most 
recently held for their service potential but are surplus 
with no plan to bring them back into use are measured 
at fair value where there are no restrictions on sale at 
the reporting date and where they do not meet the 
definitions of investment properties or assets held  
for sale.
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Revaluations of property, plant and equipment are 
performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that 
carrying values are not materially different from those 
that would be determined at the end of the reporting 
period. Current values in existing use are determined  
as follows:
•	Land and non-specialised buildings – market value 

for existing use
•	Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost 

on a modern equivalent asset basis.

For specialised assets, current value in existing use 
is interpreted as the present value of the asset’s 
remaining service potential, which is assumed to be 
at least equal to the cost of replacing that service 
potential. Specialised assets are therefore valued 
at their depreciated replacement cost (DRC) on a 
modern equivalent asset (MEA) basis. An MEA basis 
assumes that the asset will be replaced with a modern 
asset of equivalent capacity and meeting the location 
requirements of the services being provided. Assets 
held at depreciated replacement cost have been valued 
on an alternative site basis where this would meet the 
location requirements.

Valuation guidance issued by the Royal Institute 
of Chartered Surveyors states that valuations are 
performed net of VAT where the VAT is recoverable by 
the entity. This basis has been applied to the Trust’s 
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) scheme where the 
construction is completed by a special purpose vehicle 
and the costs have recoverable VAT for the Trust.

Properties in the course of construction for service 
or administration purposes are carried at cost, less 
any impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees 
and, where capitalised in accordance with IAS 23, 
borrowings costs. Assets are revalued and depreciation 
commences when the assets are brought into use.

IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and 
fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for 
operational use are valued at depreciated historic 
cost where these assets have short useful lives or low 
values or both, as this is not considered to be materially 
different from current value in existing use.

Depreciation
Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated 
over their remaining useful lives in a manner consistent 
with the consumption of economic or service delivery 
benefits. Freehold land is considered to have an infinite 
life and is not depreciated. 

Property, plant and equipment which has been 
reclassified as ‘held for sale’ cease to be depreciated 
upon the reclassification. Assets in the course of 
construction and residual interests in off-Statement 
of Financial Position PFI contract assets are not 

depreciated until the asset is brought into use or reverts 
to the Trust, respectively.

Revaluation gains and losses
Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation 
reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they 
reverse a revaluation decrease that has previously been 
recognised in operating expenses, in which case they 
are recognised in operating expenditure.

Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation 
reserve to the extent that there is an available balance 
for the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to 
operating expenses. 

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve 
are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive income’.

Impairments
In accordance with the GAM, impairments that arise 
from a clear consumption of economic benefits or of 
service potential in the asset are charged to operating 
expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the 
revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure 
reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the 
impairment charged to operating expenses; and (ii) the 
balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that 
asset before the impairment.

An impairment that arises from a clear consumption 
of economic benefit or of service potential is reversed 
when, and to the extent that, the circumstances 
that gave rise to the loss is reversed. Reversals are 
recognised in operating expenditure to the extent that 
the asset is restored to the carrying amount it would 
have had if the impairment had never been recognised. 
Any remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation 
reserve. Where, at the time of the original impairment, 
a transfer was made from the revaluation reserve to 
the income and expenditure reserve, an amount is 
transferred back to the revaluation reserve when the 
impairment reversal is recognised.

Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. 
Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as 
revaluation gains.

De-Recognition
Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘held 
for sale’ once the criteria in IFRS 5 are met. The sale 
must be highly probable and the asset available for 
immediate sale in its present condition.

Following reclassification, the assets are measured at 
the lower of their existing carrying amount and their 
‘fair value less costs to sell’. Depreciation ceases to be 
charged and the assets are not revalued, except where 
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the ‘fair value less costs to sell’ falls below the carrying 
amount. Assets are de-recognised when all material 
sale contract conditions have been met.

Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped 
or demolished does not qualify for recognition as ‘held 
for sale’ and instead is retained as an operational asset 
and the asset’s useful life is adjusted. The asset is  
de-recognised when scrapping or demolition occurs.

Donated and Grant Funded Assets
Donated and grant funded property, plant and 
equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on 
receipt. The donation/grant is credited to income at the 
same time, unless the donor has imposed a condition 
that the future economic benefits embodied in the 
grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the 
donor, in which case, the donation/grant is deferred 
within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial 
years to the extent that the condition has not yet been 
met.

The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently 
accounted for in the same manner as other items of 
property, plant and equipment.

This includes assets donated to the Trust by the 
Department of Health and Social Care or NHS England 
as part of the response to the coronavirus pandemic. 
As defined in the GAM, the Trust applies the principle 
of donated asset accounting to assets that the Trust 
controls and is obtaining economic benefits from at the 
year end.

Private Finance Initiative (PFI) and Local 
Improvement Finance Trust (LIFT) Transactions
PFI and LIFT transactions which meet the IFRIC 1 
2 definition of a service concession, as interpreted  
in HM Treasury’s FReM, are accounted for as  
‘on-Statement of Financial Position’ by the Trust.  
Annual contract payments to the operator (the unitary 
charge) are apportioned between the repayment of 
the liability including the finance cost, the charges for 
services and lifecycle replacement of components of 
the asset.

Initial Recognition

In accordance with HM Treasury’s FReM, the 
underlying assets are recognised as property, plant 
and equipment, together with an equivalent liability. 
Initial measurement of the asset and liability are in 
accordance with the initial measurement principles of 
IFRS 16 (see leases accounting policy).

Subsequent Measurement
Assets are subsequently accounted for as property, 
plant and equipment and/or intangible assets as 
appropriate.

The liability is subsequently reduced by the portion of 
the unitary charge allocated as payment for the asset 
and increased by the annual finance cost. The finance 
cost is calculated by applying the implicit interest rate to 
the opening liability and is charged to finance costs in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The element 
of the unitary charge allocated as payment for the 
asset is split between payment of the finance cost and 
repayment of the net liability. 

Where there are changes in future payments for the 
asset resulting from indexation of the unitary charge, 
the Trust remeasures the PFI liability by determining  
the revised payments for the remainder of the  
contract once the change in cash flows takes effect. 
The remeasurement adjustment is charged to finance 
costs in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The service charge is recognised in operating expenses 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Initial Application of IFRS 16 Liability 
Measurement Principles to PFI and LIFT Liabilities
IFRS 16 liability measurement principles have been 
applied to PFI, LIFT and other service concession 
arrangement liabilities in these financial statements 
from 1 April 2023. The change in measurement basis 
has been applied using a modified retrospective 
approach with the cumulative impact of remeasuring 
the liability on 1 April 2023 recognised in the income 
and expenditure reserve. 

Comparatives for PFI, LIFT and other service 
concession arrangement liabilities have not been 
restated on an IFRS 16 basis, as required by the DHSC 
Group Accounting Manual. Under IAS 17 measurement 
principles which applied in 2022/23 and earlier, 
movements in the liability were limited to repayments 
of the liability and the annual finance cost arising from 
application of the implicit interest rate. The cumulative 
impact of indexation on payments for the asset was 
charged to finance costs as contingent rent as incurred.
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Minimum 
Life

Years

Maximum 
Life

Years
Land - - 

Buildings, Excluding 
Dwellings 1 80 

Dwellings 40 40 

Plant & Machinery 1 20 

Transport Equipment - - 

Information Technology 5 11 

Furniture & Fittings 2 11 

Useful Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment

Useful lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the 
remaining life of an asset. The range of useful lives are 
shown in the table below: 

1.10 Intangible Assets

Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without 
physical substance which are capable of being sold 
separately from the rest of the Trust’s business or  
which arise from contractual or other legal rights.  
They are recognised only where it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to, or service 
potential be provided to, the Trust and where the  
cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Internally Generated Intangible Assets
Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, 
publishing titles, customer lists and similar items are not 
capitalised as intangible assets.

Expenditure on research is not capitalised. Expenditure 
on development is capitalised where it meets the 
requirements set out in IAS 38.

Software
Software which is integral to the operation of hardware, 
e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of 
the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. 
Software which is not integral to the operation of 
hardware, e.g. application software, is capitalised as an 
intangible asset.

Measurement
Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, 
comprising all directly attributable costs needed to 
create, produce and prepare the asset to the point that 

it is capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management.

Subsequently intangible assets are measured at current 
value in existing use. Where no active market exists, 
intangible assets are valued at the lower of depreciated 
replacement cost and the value in use where the asset 
is income generating. Revaluations gains and losses 
and impairments are treated in the same manner as 
for property, plant and equipment. An intangible asset 
which is surplus with no plan to bring it back into use 
is valued at fair value where there are no restrictions on 
sale at the reporting date and where they do not meet 
the definitions of investment properties or assets held 
for sale.

Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower 
of their carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.

Amortisation
Intangible assets are amortised over their expected 
useful lives in a manner consistent with the 
consumption of economic or service delivery benefits.

Useful Lives of Intangible Assets
Useful lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the 
remaining life of an asset. The range of useful lives are 
shown in the table below:

Minimum 
Life

Years

Maximum 
Life

Years
Information Technology - - 

Development 
Expenditure - - 

Websites - - 

Software Licences 1 10 

Licences & Trademarks - - 

Patents - - 

Other (Purchased) - - 

Goodwill - - 

1.11 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. The cost of inventories is measured 
using the first in, first out (FIFO) method.

The Trust received inventories including personal 
protective equipment from the Department of Health
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and Social Care at nil cost. In line with the GAM 
and applying the principles of the IFRS Conceptual 
Framework, the Trust has accounted for the receipt of 
these inventories at a deemed cost, reflecting the best 
available approximation of an imputed market value for 
the transaction based on the cost of acquisition by the 
Department.

1.12 Investment Properties
Investment properties are measured at fair value. 
Changes in fair value are recognised as gains or losses 
in income/expenditure.

Only those assets which are held solely to generate 
a commercial return are considered to be investment 
properties. Where an asset is held, in part, for support 
service delivery objectives, then it is considered to be 
an item of property, plant and equipment. Properties 
occupied by employees, whether or not they pay 
rent at market rates, are not classified as investment 
properties.

1.13 Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial 
institution repayable without penalty on notice of not 
more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments 
that mature in three months or less from the date of 
acquisition and that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in 
value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash 
equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are 
repayable on demand and that form an integral part 
of the Trust’s cash management. Cash, bank and 
overdraft balances are recorded at current values.

1.14 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities arise where 
the Trust is party to the contractual provisions of a 
financial instrument, and as a result has a legal right 
to receive or a legal obligation to pay cash or another 
financial instrument. The GAM expands the definition of 
a contract to include legislation and regulations which 
give rise to arrangements that in all other respects 
would be a financial instrument and do not give rise to 
transactions classified as a tax by ONS. 

This includes the purchase or sale of non-financial 
items (such as goods or services), which are entered 
into in accordance with the Trust’s normal purchase, 
sale or usage requirements and are recognised when, 
and to the extent which, performance occurs, ie, when 
receipt or delivery of the goods or services is made.

Classification and Measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value plus or minus directly 
attributable transaction costs except where the asset 
or liability is not measured at fair value through income 
and expenditure. Fair value is taken as the transaction 
price, or otherwise determined by reference to quoted 
market prices or valuation techniques.

Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of 
assets acquired or disposed of through leasing 
arrangements are recognised and measured in 
accordance with the accounting policy for leases 
described below.

Financial assets are classified as subsequently 
measured at amortised cost.

Financial liabilities classified as subsequently measured 
at amortised cost.

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities at 
Amortised Cost
Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised 
cost are those held with the objective of collecting 
contractual cash flows and where cash flows are solely 
payments of principal and interest. This includes cash 
equivalents, contract and other receivables, trade and 
other payables, rights and obligations under lease 
arrangements and loans receivable and payable.

After initial recognition, these financial assets and 
financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method less any impairment (for 
financial assets). The effective interest rate is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
or receipts through the expected life of the financial 
asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of 
a financial asset or to the amortised cost of a financial 
liability.

Interest revenue or expense is calculated by applying 
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset or amortised cost of a 
financial liability and recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and a financing income or 
expense. In the case of loans held from the Department 
of Health and Social Care, the effective interest rate is 
the nominal rate of interest charged on the loan.
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Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value Through 
Other Comprehensive Income
A financial asset is measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income where business model 
objectives are met by both collecting contractual cash 
flows and selling financial assets and where the cash 
flows are solely payments of principal and interest. 
Movements in the fair value of financial assets in this 
category are recognised as gains or losses in other 
comprehensive income except for impairment losses. 
On de-recognition, cumulative gains and losses 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
are reclassified from equity to income and expenditure, 
except where the Trust elected to measure an equity 
instrument in this category on initial recognition.

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities at Fair 
Value Through Income and Expenditure
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit 
or loss are those that are not otherwise measured 
at amortised cost or at fair value through other 
comprehensive income. This category also includes 
financial assets and liabilities acquired principally for 
the purpose of selling in the short term (held for trading) 
and derivatives. Derivatives which are embedded in 
other contracts, but which are separable from the host 
contract are measured within this category. Movements 
in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities in 
this category are recognised as gains or losses in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Impairment of Financial Assets
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost 
including lease receivables, contract receivables 
and contract assets or assets measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income, the Trust 
recognises an allowance for expected credit losses.

The Trust adopts the simplified approach to impairment 
for contract and other receivables, contract assets 
and lease receivables, measuring expected losses as 
at an amount equal to lifetime expected losses. For 
other financial assets, the loss allowance is initially 
measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected 
credit losses (stage 1) and subsequently at an amount 
equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk 
assessed for the financial asset significantly increases 
(stage 2).

Expected credit losses are determined using historical 
losses as a guide. Specific impairment provisions are 
made for non contract receivables where required. 
Credit losses with other NHS bodies are not normally 
recognised unless there is evidence of impairment.

For financial assets that have become credit impaired 
since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses 
at the reporting date are measured as the difference 

between the asset’s gross carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted 
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

Expected losses are charged to operating expenditure 
within the Statement of Comprehensive Income and 
reduce the net carrying value of the financial asset in the 
Statement of Financial Position.

De-Recognition
Financial assets are de-recognised when the 
contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets 
have expired or the Trust has transferred substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the 
obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.

1.15 Leases
A lease is a contract or part of a contract that 
conveys the right to use an asset for a period of time 
in exchange for consideration. An adaptation of the 
relevant accounting standard by HM Treasury for the 
public sector means that for NHS bodies, this includes 
lease-like arrangements with other public sector entities 
that do not take the legal form of a contract. It also 
includes peppercorn leases where consideration paid 
is nil or nominal (significantly below market value) but  
in all other respects meet the definition of a lease.  
The Trust does not apply lease accounting to new 
contracts for the use of intangible assets.

The Trust determines the term of the lease term with 
reference to the non-cancellable period and any options 
to extend or terminate the lease which the Trust is 
reasonably certain to exercise.

The Trust as a Lessee

Recognition and Initial Measurement
At the commencement date of the lease, being when 
the asset is made available for use, the Trust recognises 
a right of use asset and a lease liability.
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The right of use asset is recognised at cost comprising 
the lease liability, any lease payments made before or 
at commencement, any direct costs incurred by the 
lessee, less any cash lease incentives received. It also 
includes any estimate of costs to be incurred restoring 
the site or underlying asset on completion of the  
lease term.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present 
value of future lease payments discounted at the 
interest rate implicit in the lease. Lease payments 
includes fixed lease payments, variable lease payments 
dependent on an index or rate and amounts payable 
under residual value guarantees. It also includes 
amounts payable for purchase options and termination 
penalties where these options are reasonably certain to 
be exercised.

Where an implicit rate cannot be readily determined, 
the Trust’s incremental borrowing rate is applied. This 
rate is determined by HM Treasury annually for each 
calendar year. A nominal rate of 3.51% applied to new 
leases commencing in 2023 and 4.72% to new leases 
commencing in 2024.

The Trust does not apply the above recognition 
requirements to leases with a term of 12 months or 
less or to leases where the value of the underlying 
asset is below £5,000, excluding any irrecoverable 
VAT. Lease payments associated with these leases are 
expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
Irrecoverable VAT on lease payments is expensed as it 
falls due.

Subsequent Measurement
As required by a HM Treasury interpretation of 
the accounting standard for the public sector, the 
Trust employs a revaluation model for subsequent 
measurement of right of use assets, unless the cost 
model is considered to be an appropriate proxy 
for current value in existing use or fair value, in line 
with the accounting policy for owned assets. Where 
consideration exchanged is identified as significantly 
below market value, the cost model is not considered 
to be an appropriate proxy for the value of the right of 
use asset.

The Trust subsequently measures the lease liability 
by increasing the carrying amount for interest arising 
which is also charged to expenditure as a finance 
cost and reducing the carrying amount for lease 
payments made. The liability is also remeasured for 
changes in assessments impacting the lease term, 
lease modifications or to reflect actual changes in lease 
payments. Such remeasurements are also reflected 
in the cost of the right of use asset. Where there is a 
change in the lease term or option to purchase the 
underlying asset, an updated discount rate is applied to 
the remaining lease payments. 

The Trust as a Lessor
The Trust assesses each of its leases and classifies 
them as either a finance lease or an operating 
lease. Leases are classified as finance leases when 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified 
as operating leases.

Where the Trust is an intermediate lessor, classification 
of the sublease is determined with reference to the right 
of use asset arising from the headlease.

Finance Leases
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are 
recorded as receivables at the amount of the Trust’s 
net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is 
allocated to accounting periods to reflect a constant 
periodic rate of return on the Trust’s net investment 
outstanding in respect of the leases.

Operating Leases
Income from operating leases is recognised on a 
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over 
the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in 
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are 
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and 
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term.

Initial Application of IFRS 16 in 2022/23
IFRS 16 Leases as adapted and interpreted for the 
public sector by HM Treasury was applied to these 
financial statements with an initial application date of 
1 April 2022. IFRS 16 replaced IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 
Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease 
and other interpretations.

The standard was applied using a modified 
retrospective approach with the cumulative impact 
recognised in the income and expenditure reserve on 
1 April 2022. Upon initial application, the provisions of 
IFRS 16 were only applied to existing contracts where 
they were previously deemed to be a lease or contain 
a lease under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. Where existing 
contracts were previously assessed not to be or 
contain a lease, these assessments were not revisited.

The Trust as a Lessee
For continuing leases previously classified as operating 
leases, a lease liability was established on 1 April 2022 
equal to the present value of future lease payments 
discounted at the Trust’s incremental borrowing rate 
of 0.95%. A right of use asset was created equal 
to the lease liability and adjusted for prepaid and 
accrued lease payments and deferred lease incentives 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position 
immediately prior to initial application. Hindsight 
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was used in determining the lease term where lease 
arrangements contained options for extension or earlier 
termination.

No adjustments were made on initial application in 
respect of leases with a remaining term of 12 months or 
less from 1 April 2022 or for leases where the underlying 
assets had a value below £5,000. No adjustments 
were made in respect of leases previously classified as 
finance leases.

Trust as a Lessor
Leases of owned assets where the Trust was lessor 
were unaffected by initial application of IFRS 16. 
For existing arrangements where the Trust was an 
intermediate lessor, classification of all continuing 
sublease arrangements was been reassessed with 
reference to the right of use asset.

1.16 Provisions
The Trust recognises a provision where it has a present 
legal or constructive obligation of uncertain timing or 
amount; for which it is probable that there will be a 
future outflow of cash or other resources; and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount. The amount 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position is the 
best estimate of the resources required to settle the 
obligation. Where the effect of the time value of money 
is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows 
are discounted using HM Treasury’s discount rates 
effective from 31 March 2024: 

HM Treasury provides discount rates for general 
provisions on a nominal rate basis. Expected future 
cash flows are therefore adjusted for the impact of 
inflation before discounting using nominal rates. 
The following inflation rates are set by HM Treasury, 
effective from 31 March 2024:

Nominal 
Rate

Prior Year 
Rate

Short-term Up to 5 years 4.26% 3.37%

Medium-
term

After 5 years 
up to 10 years

4.03% 3.20%

Long-term After 10 years 
up to 40 years

4.72% 3.51%

Very long-
term

Exceeding 40 
years

4.40% 3.00%

Inflation Rate Prior Year Rate

Year 1 3.60% 7.40%

Year 2 1.80% 0.60%

Into Perpetuity 2.00% 2.00%

Early retirement provisions and injury benefit provisions 
both use the HM Treasury’s post-employment benefits 
discount rate of 2.45% in real terms (prior year: 1.70%).

Clinical Negligence Costs
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme 
under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to 
NHS Resolution, which, in return, settles all clinical 
negligence claims. Although NHS Resolution is 
administratively responsible for all clinical negligence 
cases, the legal liability remains with the Trust. The total 
value of clinical negligence provisions carried by NHS 
Resolution on behalf of the Trust is disclosed at Note 
34.2 but is not recognised in the Trust’s accounts. 

Non-Clinical Risk Pooling
The Trust participates in the Property Expenses 
Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. 
Both are risk pooling schemes under which the Trust 
pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution and 
in return receives assistance with the costs of claims 
arising. The annual membership contributions, and any 
excesses payable in respect of particular claims are 
charged to operating expenses when the liability arises.

1.17 Contingencies
Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past 
events whose existence will only be confirmed by one 
or more future events not wholly within the entity’s 
control) are not recognised as assets, but are disclosed 
in Note 35 where an inflow of economic benefits is 
probable.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are 
disclosed in Note 35, unless the probability of a transfer 
of economic benefits is remote. 



Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report & Accounts 2023/24142

Contingent liabilities are defined as:
•	Possible obligations arising from past events whose 

existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of 
one or more uncertain future events not wholly within 
the entity’s control; or

•	Present obligations arising from past events but for 
which it is not probable that a transfer of economic 
benefits will arise or for which the amount of the 
obligation cannot be measured with sufficient 
reliability. 

1.18 Public Dividend Capital 
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public 
sector equity finance based on the excess of assets 
over liabilities at the time of establishment of the 
predecessor NHS organisation. HM Treasury has 
determined that PDC is not a financial instrument  
within the meaning of IAS 32. 

The Secretary of State can issue new PDC to, and 
require repayments of PDC from, the Trust. PDC is 
recorded at the value received.

A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the 
Trust, is payable as public dividend capital dividend. 
The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury 
(currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets of 
the Trust during the financial year. Relevant net assets 
are calculated as the value of all assets less the value 
of all liabilities, with certain additions and deductions as 
defined by the Department of Health and Social Care.

In accordance with the requirements laid down by  
the Department of Health and Social Care (as the  
issuer of PDC), the dividend for the year is calculated  
on the actual average relevant net assets as set out 
in the “pre-audit” version of the annual accounts. 
The dividend calculated is not revised should any 
adjustment to net assets occur as a result the audit of 
the annual accounts.

1.19 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope 
of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and 
input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable 
VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category 
or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed 
assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is 
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.20 Corporate Tax
As an NHS Body the Trust is not directly subject to 
Corporation Tax.

1.21 Climate Change Levy
Expenditure on the climate change levy is recognised in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income as incurred, 
based on the prevailing chargeable rates for energy 
consumption.

1.22 Foreign Exchange
The functional and presentational currency of the Trust 
is sterling.

A transaction which is denominated in a foreign 
currency is translated into the functional currency at the 
spot exchange rate on the date of the transaction. 

Where the Trust has assets or liabilities denominated  
in a foreign currency at the Statement of Financial 
Position date:
•	Monetary items are translated at the spot exchange 

rate on 31 March
•	Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at 

historical cost are translated using the spot exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction and;

•	Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair 
value are translated using the spot exchange rate at 
the date the fair value was determined.

Exchange gains or losses on monetary items (arising on 
settlement of the transaction or on re-translation at the 
Statement of Financial Position date) are recognised in 
income or expense in the period in which they arise.

Exchange gains or losses on non-monetary assets and 
liabilities are recognised in the same manner as other 
gains and losses on these items.

1.23 Third Party Assets
Assets belonging to third parties in which the Trust has 
no beneficial interest (such as money held on behalf of 
patients) are not recognised in the accounts. However, 
they are disclosed in a separate note to the accounts 
in accordance with the requirements of HM Treasury’s 
FReM.

1.24 Losses and Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament 
would not have contemplated when it agreed funds 
for the health service or passed legislation. By their 
nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They 
are therefore subject to special control procedures 
compared with the generality of payments. They are 
divided into different categories, which govern the 
way that individual cases are handled. Losses and 
special payments are charged to the relevant functional 
headings in expenditure on an accruals basis. 
The losses and special payments note is compiled 
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directly from the losses and compensations register 
which reports on an accrual basis with the exception of 
provisions for future losses.

1.25 Gifts
Gifts are items that are voluntarily donated, with no 
preconditions and without the expectation of any 
return. Gifts include all transactions economically 
equivalent to free and unremunerated transfers, such 
as the loan of an asset for its expected useful life, and 
the sale or lease of assets at below market value.

1.26 Transfers of Functions (to/from) 
(Other NHS Bodies/Local Government 
Bodies)
There have been no transfers of functions either into 
or out of Alder Hey to any other NHS bodies/local 
government bodies.

1.27 Early Adoption of Standards, 
Amendments and Interpretations
No new accounting standards or revisions to existing 
standards have been early adopted in 2023/24.

1.28 Standards, Amendments and 
Interpretations in Issue but not yet 
Effective or Adopted

IFRS 18 — Presentation and Disclosure in 
Financial Statements
From 1st April 2027 the Trust will have to adopt the 
above standard which set out requirements for the 
presentation and disclosure of information in general 
purpose financial statements (financial statements) 
to help ensure they provide relevant information that 
faithfully represents an entity’s assets, liabilities, equity, 
income and expenses.

1.29 Critical Judgements in Applying 
Accounting Policies
The following are the judgements, apart from those 
involving estimations (see below) that management has 
made in the process of applying the Trust accounting 
policies and that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

The Trust has nothing significant to disclose in this area.

1.30 Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are assumptions about the future and 
other major sources of estimation uncertainty that have 
a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year:

In the current reporting period, the Trust has applied 
indices to determine the movement in valuation since 
the last full asset revaluation of PPE, in line with the 
trust’s policy for asset valuation. The Trust has a full 
asset revaluation, undertaken independently, every five 
years, the last valuation was as at 31st March 2023.

2. Operating Segments
The Trust has considered segmental reporting and 
the Chief Executive and the Board receive sufficient 
and appropriate high level information to enable the 
business to be managed effectively and to monitor 
and manage the strategic aims of the Trust. Sufficiently 
detailed information is used by middle and lower 
management to ensure effective management at 
an operational level. Neither of these are sufficiently 
discrete to profile operating segments, as defined 
by IFRS8, that would enable a user of these financial 
statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects 
of the business activities that the Trust undertakes. 
Therefore the Trust has decided that it has one 
operating segment for healthcare provision.



Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report & Accounts 2023/24144

2023/24
£000

2022/23
£000

Acute Services 
Income from Commissioners Under API Contracts - Variable Element* 74,746  
Income from Commissioners Under API Contracts - Fixed Element* 174,133 227,563 
High Cost Drugs Income from Commissioners 44,682 38,013 
Other NHS Clinical Income 31,592 20,711 
Mental Health Services
Income from Commissioners Under API Contracts* 23,884 20,063 
Services Delivered Under a Mental Health Collaborative - - 
Income for Commissioning Services in a Mental Health Collaborative - - 
Clinical Partnerships Providing Mandatory Services (Including S75 Agreements) - - 
Clinical Income for the Secondary Commissioning of Mandatory Services - - 
Other Clinical Income from Mandatory Services - - 
Ambulance Services
A&E Income - - 
Patient Transport Services Income - - 
Other Income - - 
Community Services
Income from Commissioners Under API Contracts* 18,845 19,263 
Income from Other Sources (e.g. Local Authorities) 418 818 
All Services
Private Patient Income 273 114 
Elective Recovery Fund - 7,486 
National Pay Award Central Funding*** 228 7,544 
Additional Pension Contribution Central Funding** 9,517 8,684 
Other Clinical Income 981 403 
Total Income from Activities 379,299 350,663 

3. Operating Income from Patient Care Activities
All income from patient care activities relates to contract income recognised in line with accounting policy 1.4.

3.1 Income from Patient Care Activities (by Nature)

*

*Aligned payment and incentive contracts are the main form of contracting between NHS providers and their 
commissioners. More information can be found in the 2023/25 NHS Payment Scheme documentation.

https://www.england.nhs.uk/pay-syst/nhs-payment-scheme/			 

**The employer contribution rate for NHS pensions increased from 14.3% to 20.6% (excluding administration charge) 
from 1 April 2019. Since 2019/20, NHS providers have continued to pay over contributions at the former rate with the 
additional amount being paid over by NHS England on providers’ behalf. The full cost and related funding have been 
recognised in these accounts.

***In March 2023 the Government announced an additional pay offer for 2022/23, in addition to the pay award earlier 
in the year. Additional funding was made available by NHS England for implementing this pay offer for 2022/23 and 
the income and expenditure has been included in these accounts as guided by the Department of Health and Social 
Care and NHS England. In May 2023 the government confirmed this offer will be implemented as a further pay award 
in respect of 2022/23 based on individuals in employment at 31 March 2023.

https://www.england.nhs.uk/pay-syst/nhs-payment-scheme/
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3.2 Income from Patient Care Activities (by Source) 2023/24 
£000

2022/23
£000

Income from Patient Care Activities Received from:
NHS England 232,595 221,674 
Clinical Commissioning Groups 24,821 
Integrated Care Boards 114,873 76,793 
Department of Health and Social Care - - 
Other NHS providers 1,335 1,481 
NHS Other - - 
Local Authorities 418 818 
Non-NHS: Private Patients 273 114 
Non-NHS: Overseas Patients (Chargeable to Patient) 61 3 
Injury Cost Recovery Scheme 920 401 
Non NHS: Other 28,824 24,559 
Total Income from Activities 379,299 350,663 
Of which:
Related to Continuing Operations 379,299 350,663 
Related to Discontinued Operations - - 

2023/24
£000

2022/23
£000

Income Recognised this Year 61 3 
Cash Payments Received In-Year 61 3 
Amounts Added to Provision for Impairment of Receivables - - 
Amounts Written off In-Year - 5

3.3 Overseas Visitors (Relating to Patients 
Charged Directly by the Provider)
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31 March 2024 
£000

31 March 2023
£000

Revenue from Existing Contracts Allocated to Remaining Performance 
Obligations is Expected to be Recognised:
Within One Year
After One Year, Not Later Than Five Years
After Five Years
Total Revenue Allocated to Remaining Performance Obligations - - 

4. Other Operating Income 2023/24 2022/23
Contract 

Income
Non-

Contract 
Income

Total Contract 
Income

Non-
Contract 

Income
Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Research and Development 5,876 - 5,876 5,270 - 5,270 
Education and Training 10,790 - 10,790 9,821 - 9,821 
Non-Patient Care Services to Other Bodies 12,453 12,453 10,977 10,977 
Reimbursement and Top Up Funding 296 296 
Income in respect of Employee Benefits Accounted on 
a Gross Basis

669 669 612 612 

Receipt of Capital Grants and Donations and 
Peppercorn Leases

851 851 3,254 3,254 

Charitable and Other Contributions to Expenditure 777 777 1,182 1,182 
Support from the Department of Health and Social 
Care for Mergers

- - - - 

Revenue from Finance Leases (Variable Lease Receipts) - - - - 
Revenue from Operating Leases - - - - 
Amortisation of PFI Deferred Income/Credits 137 137 137 137 
Other Income 5,073 - 5,073 9,029 - 9,029 
Total Other Operating Income 34,861 1,765 36,626 36,005 4,573 40,578 
Of which:
Related to Continuing Operations 36,626 40,578 
Related to Discontinued Operations - - 

Other income is primarily made up of; car park income, catering, rental, membership contributions, procurement 
rebates, proceeds from insurance, other grants, other income generation schemes.

5.1 Additional Information on Contract Revenue
(IFRS 15) Recognised in the Period 2023/24

£000
2022/23

£000
Revenue Recognised in the Reporting Period that was Included in Within 
Contract Liabilities at the Previous Period End
Revenue Recognised from Performance Obligations Satisfied (or Partially 
Satisfied) in Previous Periods

5.2 Transaction Price Allocated to Remaining Performance
Obligations

The Trust has exercised the practical expedients permitted by IFRS 15 paragraph 121 in preparing this disclosure. 
Revenue from (i) contracts with an expected duration of one year or less and (ii) contracts where the Trust recognises 
revenue directly corresponding to work done to date is not disclosed.
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2023/24 
£000

2022/23
£000

Lease Receipts Recognised as Income in Year - -
Minimum Lease Receipts - -
Variable Lease Receipts/Contingent Rents - -
Total In-Year Operating Lease Income - - 

2023/24 
£000

2022/23
£000

Future Minimum Lease Receipts Due In: - -
- Not Later Than One Year - -
- Later Than One Year and Not Later Than Two Years - -
- Later Than Two Years and Not Later Than Three Years - -
- Later Than Three Years and Not Later Than Four Years - -
- Later Than Four Years and Not Later Than Five Years - -
- Later Than Five Years - -
Total - - 

5.3 Income from Activities Arising from Commissioner Requested Services
The Trust is required to analyse the level of income from activities that has arisen from commissioner requested and 
non-commissioner requested services. Commissioner requested services are defined in the provider licence and are 
services that commissioners believe would need to be protected in the event of provider failure. This information is 
provided in the table below:

2023/24 
£000

2022/23
£000

Income from Services Designated as Commissioner Requested Services 366,216 321,758
Income from Services Not Designated as Commissioner Requested Services 50,836 55,313
Total 417,052 377,071 

5.4 Profits and Losses on Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment
The Trust has experienced no material gains or losses in relation to the disposal of property, plant and equipment.

5.5 Fees and Charges
The following disclosure is of income from charges to service users where the full cost of providing that service 
exceeds £1 million and is presented as the aggregate of such income. The cost associated with the service that 
generated the income is also disclosed.

2023/24 
£000

2022/23 
£000

Income - -
Full Cost - -
Surplus/(Deficit) - - 

6.1 Operating Lease Income

6. Operating Leases - Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust as 
a Lessor
This note discloses income generated in operating lease agreements where Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation 
Trust is lessor.

6.2 Future Lease Receipts
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2023/24
£000

2022/23
£000

Purchase of Healthcare from NHS and DHSC bodies 2,367 - 

Purchase of Healthcare from non-NHS and non-DHSC bodies 1,931 2,261 

Purchase of Social Care - - 

Staff and Executive Directors Costs 242,454 226,550 

Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors 144 148 

Supplies and Services - Clinical (Excluding Drugs Costs) 28,862 28,090 

Supplies and Services - General 2,276 2,329 

Drug Costs (Drugs Inventory Consumed and Purchase of Non-Inventory Drugs) 51,663 49,724 

Inventories Written Down - - 

Consultancy Costs 611 549 

Establishment 2,439 2,411 

Premises 17,069 16,036 

Transport (Including Patient Travel) 746 630 

Depreciation on Property, Plant and Equipment 12,334 9,174 

Amortisation on Intangible Assets 4,243 4,893 

Net Impairments 12,390 (10,109)

Movement in Credit Loss Allowance: Contract Receivables/Contract Assets 21 416 

Movement in Credit Loss Allowance: All Other Receivables and Investments 62 139 

Increase/(Decrease) in Other Provisions - 1,288 

Change in Provisions Discount Rate(s) - (62)

Fees Payable to the External Auditor

Audit Services - Statutory Audit 249 195 

Other Auditor Remuneration (External Auditor Only) - - 

Internal Audit Costs - - 

Clinical Negligence 4,372 3,831 

Legal Fees 1,072 348 

Insurance 435 377 

Research and Development 5,455 5,042 

Education and Training 10,836 10,579 

Expenditure on Short Term Leases - 12 

Expenditure on Low Value Leases - - 

Variable Lease Payments not Included in the Liability - - 

Early Retirements 2 102 

Redundancy 78 18 

Charges to Operating Expenditure for on-SoFP IFRIC 12 schemes (e.g. PFI/LIFT) 5,099 4,912 

Charges to operating expenditure for off-SoFP PFI/LIFT schemes - - 

Car Parking and Security 1,021 997 

Hospitality 8 25 

Losses, Ex-Gratia and Special Payments - - 

Grossing Up Consortium Arrangements - - 

Other Services, e.g. External Payroll 434 379 

Other 2,053 3,546 

Total 410,726 364,829 

Of which:

Related to Continuing Operations 410,726 364,829 

Related to Discontinued Operations - - 

7.1 Operating Expenses 
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2023/24 
£000

2022/23
£000

Other Auditor Remuneration Paid to the External Auditor:

1. Audit of Accounts of any Associate of the Trust - -

2. Audit-Related Assurance Services - -

3. Taxation Compliance Services - -

4. All Taxation Advisory Services not Falling Within Item 3 Above Local Authorities - -

5. Internal Audit Services - -

6. All Assurance Services not Falling Within Items 1 to 5 - -

7. Corporate Finance Transaction Services not Falling Within Items 1 to 6 Above - -

8. Other Non-Audit Services not Falling Within Items 2 to 7 Above - -

Total - - 

7.2 Other Auditor Remuneration

7.3 Limitation on Auditor’s Liability
The limitation on auditor’s liability for external audit work is £2 million (2022/23: £2 million).

8. Impairment of Assets
This note discloses income generated in operating lease agreements where Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation 
Trust is lessor.

2023/24
£000

2022/23
£000

Net Impairments Charged to Operating Surplus/Deficit Resulting From:

Loss or Damage from Normal Operations - - 

Over Specification of Assets - - 

Abandonment of Assets In Course of Construction - - 

Unforeseen Obsolescence - - 

Loss as a Result of Catastrophe - - 

Changes in Market Price 10,885 (10,109) 

Other 1,505 - 

Total Net Impairments Charged to Operating Surplus/Deficit 12,390 (10,109) 

Impairments Charged to the Revaluation Reserve - 564 

Total Net Impairments 12,390 (9,545) 

The impairments above relate to the change in asset 
value from the cost of the asset to the value in use. 
The Sunflower/Catkin building was fully completed in 
year and was valued by Cushman and Wakefield the 
Trust valuers, and the Impairment of £10.8m was the 
impairment to the asset value.

For the Trusts Electronic Patient Record system,  
Alder Care, due to contract complications, it was 
decided that an element of the cost towards the  
system would be impaired.
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9. Employee Benefits 2023/24
£000

2022/23
£000

Salaries and Wages 196,308 186,080 

Social Security Costs 19,183 17,199 

Apprenticeship Levy 929 806 

Employer's Contributions to NHS Pensions 31,275 28,514 

Pension Cost - Other - - 

Other Post Employment Benefits - - 

Other Employment Benefits - - 

Termination Benefits - - 

Temporary Staff (Including Agency) 12,903 10,706 

Total Gross Staff Costs 260,598 243,305 

Recoveries in Respect of Seconded Staff (2,109) (1,998)

Total Staff Costs 258,489 241,307 

Of which
Costs Capitalised as Part of Assets 3,171 2,590 

9.1 Retirements Due to Ill-Health
During 2023/24 there was one early retirement from 
the Trust agreed on the grounds of ill-health (3 in the 
year ended 31 March 2023). The estimated additional 
pension liabilities of these ill-health retirements is £33k 
(£582k in 2022/23). 

These estimated costs are calculated on an average 
basis and will be borne by the NHS Pension Scheme.

10. Pension Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the 
provisions of the NHS Pension Schemes. Details  
of the benefits payable and rules of the schemes
can be found on the NHS Pensions website at  
www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both the 1995/2008 
and 2015 schemes are accounted for, and the scheme 
liability valued, as a single combined scheme. Both 
are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover 
NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, 
allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State 
for Health and Social Care in England and Wales. They 
are not designed to be run in a way that would enable 
NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying 
scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme 
is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution 
scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in 
each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions 
payable to that scheme for the accounting period. 

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised 
in the financial statements do not differ materially from 
those that would be determined at the reporting date by 
a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the 
period between formal valuations shall be four years, 
with approximate assessments in intervening years”. 
An outline of these follows:

a) Accounting Valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually 
by the scheme actuary (currently the Government 
Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting 
period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the 
previous accounting period in conjunction with updated 
membership and financial data for the current reporting 
period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust 
figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation 
of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2024, is based on 
valuation data as 31 March 2023, updated to 31 March 
2024 with summary global member and accounting 
data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the 
methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM 
interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by  
HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme 
is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, 
which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme 
Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS 
Pensions website and are published annually. Copies 
can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
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b) Full Actuarial (Funding) Valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of 
liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes 
(taking into account recent demographic experience), 
and to recommend contribution rates payable by 
employees and employers.

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the  
NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31  
March 2020. The results of this valuation set the 
employer contribution rate payable from April 2024. 
The Department of Health and Social Care has recently 
laid Scheme Regulations confirming the employer 
contribution rate will increase to 23.7% of pensionable 
pay from 1 April 2024 (previously 20.6%). The core cost 
cap cost of the scheme was calculated to be outside 
of the 3% cost cap corridor as at 31 March 2020. 
However, when the wider economic situation was taken 
into account through the economic cost cap cost of 
the scheme, the cost cap corridor was not similarly 
breached. As a result, there was no impact on the 
member benefit structure or contribution rates.

11. Finance Income 	
Finance income represents interest received on assets 
and investments in the period.

2023/24
£000

2022/23
£000

Interest on Bank Accounts 4,403 1,709 

Interest Income on 
Finance Leases

- - 

Interest on Other 
Investments/Financial 
Assets

- - 

Other Finance Income - - 

Total Finance Income 4,403 1,709 

12.1 Finance Expenditure
Finance expenditure represents interest and other charges involved in the borrowing of money or asset financing.

2023/24
£000

2022/23
£000

Interest expense:
Interest on Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care 857 915 

Interest on Other Loans - - 

Interest on Overdrafts - - 

Interest on Lease Obligations 46 44 

Interest on Late Payment of Commercial Debt - - 

Finance Costs on PFI, LIFT and Other Service Concession Arrangements:

Main Finance Costs 7,837 7,259 

Contingent Finance Costs* - 924 

Remeasurement of the Liability Resulting from Change in Index or Rate* 3,969 

Total Interest Expense 12,709 9,142 

Unwinding of Discount on Provisions (8) 9 

Other Finance Costs - - 

Total Finance Costs 12,701 9,151 

* From 1 April 2023, IFRS 16 liability measurement principles are applied to PFI, LIFT and other service concession 
liabilities. Increases to imputed lease payments arising from inflationary uplifts are now included in the liability, and 
contingent rent no longer arises. More information is provided in Note 40.
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12.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998/ 
Public Contract Regulations 2015 

2023/24
£000

2022/23
£000

Total Liability Accruing in Year Under this Legislation as a Result of Late 
Payments - - 

Amounts Included Within Interest Payable Arising From Claims Made Under this 
Legislation - - 

Compensation Paid to Cover Debt Recovery Costs Under this Legislation - - 

2023/24
£000

2022/23
£000

Gains on Disposal of Assets 113 55 
Losses on Disposal of Assets (482) - 

Total Gains/(Losses) on Disposal of Assets (369) 55 

Gains/(Losses) on Foreign Exchange - - 

Fair Value Gains/(Losses) on Investment Properties - - 

Fair Value Gains/(Losses) on Financial Assets/Investments - - 

Fair Value Gains/(Losses) on Financial Liabilities - - 

Recycling Gains/(Losses) on Disposal of Financial Assets Mandated as Fair Value Through OCI - - 
Gains/(Losses) on Remeasurement of Finance Lease Receivables (Lessor) - - 

Gains/(Losses) on Termination of Finance Leases (Lessor) - - 

Other Gains/(Losses) - - 

Total Other Gains/(Losses) (369) 55 

13. Other Gains/(Losses) 

2023/24
£000

2022/23
£000

Operating Income of Discontinued Operations - - 
Operating Expenses of Discontinued Operations - - 
Gain on Disposal of Discontinued Operations - - 
(Loss) on Disposal of Discontinued Operations - - 
Corporation Tax Expense Attributable to Discontinued Operations - - 
Total - -

14. Discontinued Operations 
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Software 
Licences

Intangible 
Assets Under 
Construction

Total

£000 £000 £000
Valuation/Gross Cost at 1 April 2023 - Brought Forward 37,590 12,768 50,358 

Transfers by Absorption - - - 

Additions 1,727 1,189 2,916 

Impairments (1,505) - (1,505)

Reversals of Impairments - - - 

Revaluations - - - 

Reclassifications 6,348 (6,348) - 

Transfers to/from Assets Held for Sale - - - 

Disposals/De-Recognition (42) - (42)

Valuation/Gross Cost at 31 March 2024 44,118 7,609 51,727 

Amortisation at 1 April 2023 - Brought Forward 18,924 - 18,924 

Transfers by Absorption - - - 

Provided During the Year 4,243 - 4,243 

Impairments - - - 

Reversals of Impairments - - - 

Revaluations - - - 

Reclassifications - - - 

Transfers to/from Assets Held for Sale - - - 

Disposals/De-Recognition (42) - (42)

Amortisation at 31 March 2024 23,125 - 23,125 

Net Book Value at 31 March 2024 20,993 7,609 28,602 

Net Book Value at 1 April 2023 18,666 12,768 31,434 

15.1 Intangible Assets - 2023/24
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Software 
Licences

Intangible 
Assets Under 
Construction

Total

£000 £000 £000

Valuation/Gross Cost at 1 April 2022 - as Previously Stated 37,642 8,941 46,583 

Prior Period Adjustments - - - 

Valuation/Gross Cost at 1 April 2022 - Restated 37,642 8,941 46,583 

IFRS 16 Implementation - Re-Classification of Existing Finance Leased Assets to 
Right of Use Assets - - - 

Transfers by Absorption - - - 

Additions 299 3,827 4,126 

Impairments - - - 

Reversals of Impairments - - - 

Revaluations - - - 

Reclassifications - - - 

Transfers to/from Assets Held For Sale - - - 

Disposals/De-Recognition (351) - (351)

Valuation/Gross Cost at 31 March 2023 37,590 12,768 50,358 

Amortisation at 1 April 2022 - as Previously Stated 14,382 - 14,382 

Prior Period Adjustments - - - 

Amortisation at 1 April 2022 - Restated 14,382 - 14,382 

IFRS 16 Implementation - Reclassification of Existing Finance Leased Assets to 
Right of Use Assets - - - 

Transfers by Absorption - - - 

Provided During the Year 4,893 - 4,893 

Impairments - - - 

Reversals of Impairments - - - 

Revaluations - - - 

Reclassifications - - - 

Transfers to/from Assets Held for Sale - - - 

Disposals/De-Recognition (351) - (351)

Amortisation at 31 March 2023 18,924 - 18,924 

Net Book Value at 31 March 2023 18,666 12,768 31,434 

Net Book Value at 1 April 2022 23,260 8,941 32,201 

15.2 Intangible Assets - 2022/23
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16.1 Property, Plant and Equipment - 2023/24
Land Buildings

Excluding
Dwellings

Dwellings Assets 
Under

Construction

Plant 
and

Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information
Technology

Furniture
and 

Fittings

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Valuation/
Gross cost at 
1 April 2023 
- Brought 
Forward

7,634 179,343 119 48,938 37,367 - 21,446 8,878 303,725 

Transfers by 
Absorption - - - - - - - - - 

Additions - 2,402 - 13,035 4,129 - 284 0 19,850 

Impairments - (11,015) - - - - - - (11,015)
Reversals of 
Impairments - 130 - - - - - - 130 

Revaluations - 156 - - - - - - 156 

Reclassifications 1,008 22,227 - (24,167) - - 243 689 - 
Transfers to/ 
from Assets 
Held For Sale

- - - - - - - - - 

Disposals/ 
De-Recognition - - - - (4,002) - (2,071) - (6,073)

Valuation/Gross 
Cost at 31 
March 2024

8,642 193,243 119 37,806 37,494 - 19,902 9,567 306,773 

Accumulated 
Depreciation 
at 1 April 2023 
- Brought 
Forward

- - - - 23,954 - 10,120 3,308 37,382 

Transfers by 
Absorption - - - - - - - - - 

Provided During 
the Year - 4,974 4 - 3,182 - 2,339 913 11,412 

Impairments - - - - - - - - - 
Reversals of 
impairments - - - - - - - - - 

Revaluations - - - - - - - - - 

Reclassifications - - - - - - - - - 
Transfers to/ 
from Assets 
Held for Sale

- - - - - - - - - 

Disposals/
De-Recognition - - - - (3,812) - (1,713) - (5,525)

Accumulated 
Depreciation at 
31 March 2024

- 4,974 4 - 23,324 - 10,746 4,221 43,269 

Net Book Value 
at 31 March 
2024

8,642 188,269 115 37,806 14,170 - 9,156 5,346 263,504 

Net Book Value 
at 1 April 2023 7,634 179,343 119 48,938 13,413 - 11,326 5,570 266,343 
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16.2 Property, Plant and Equipment - 2022/23

Land Buildings 
Excluding 
Dwellings

Dwellings Assets 
Under 

Construction

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture 
& Fittings

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Valuation/Gross Cost 
at 1 April 2022 - as 
Previously Stated

4,028 163,605 103 44,018 35,312 - 21,633 6,749 275,448 

Prior Period Adjustments - - - - - - - - - 
Valuation/Gross 
Cost at 1 April 2022 - 
Restated

4,028 163,605 103 44,018 35,312 - 21,633 6,749 275,448 

IFRS 16 Implementation - 
Reclassification of Existing 
Finance Leased Assets to 
Right of Use Assets

- - - - (439) - - - (439)

Transfers by Absorption - - - - - - - - - 
Additions 2,000 - - 7,027 3,048 - 71 665 12,811 
Impairments - (4,725) - - - - - - (4,725)
Reversals of 
Impairments 636 - - - - - - - 636 
Revaluations 370 20,463 16 - - - - - 20,849 
Reclassifications 600 - - (2,107) 43 - - 1,464 - 
Transfers to/from Assets 
Held for Sale - - - - - - - - - 

Disposals/
De-Recognition - - - - (597) - (258) - (855)

Valuation/Gross Cost 
at 31 March 2023 7,634 179,343 119 48,938 37,367 - 21,446 8,878 303,725 

Accumulated 
Depreciation at 1 April 
2022 - as Previously 
Stated

- 10,187 12 - 21,512 - 8,005 2,606 42,322 

Prior Period Adjustments - - - - - - - - - 
Accumulated 
Depreciation at 1 April 
2022 - Restated

- 10,187 12 - 21,512 - 8,005 2,606 42,322 

IFRS 16 Implementation - 
Reclassification of Existing 
Finance Leased Assets to 
Right of Use Assets

- - - - (266) - - - (266)

Transfers by Absorption - - - - - - - - - 
Provided During the Year - 2,106 3 - 3,305 - 2,373 702 8,489 
Impairments - - - - - - - - - 
Reversals of 
Impairments - (13,634) - - - - - - (13,634)

Revaluations - 1,341 (15) - - - - - 1,326 
Reclassifications - - - - - - - - - 
Transfers to/from Assets 
Held for Sale - - - - - - - - - 

Disposals/
De-Recognition - - - - (597) - (258) - (855)

Accumulated 
Depreciation at 31 
March 2023

- - - - 23,954 - 10,120 3,308 37,382 

Net Book Value at 31 
March 2023 7,634 179,343 119 48,938 13,413 - 11,326 5,570 266,343 

Net Book Value at 1 
April 2022 4,028 153,418 91 44,018 13,800 - 13,628 4,143 233,126 
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16.3 Property, Plant and Equipment Financing - 31 March 2024

16.4 Property, Plant and Equipment Financing - 31 March 2023

Land Buildings
Excluding
Dwellings

Dwellings Assets 
Under

Construction

Plant 
and

Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information
Technology

Furniture
and 

Fittings

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Owned - 
Purchased 8,642 19,917 115 37,190 10,436 - 8,624 5,256 90,180 

On-SoFP PFI 
Contracts and 
Other Service 
Concession 
Arrangements

- 161,990 - - - - - - 161,990 

Off-SoFP 
PFI Residual 
Interests

- - - - - - - - - 

Owned - 
Donated/
Granted

- 6,362 - 616 3,734 - 532 90 11,334 

Total Net 
Book Value 
at 31 March 
2024

8,642 188,269 115 37,806 14,170 - 9,156 5,346 263,504 

Land Buildings
Excluding
Dwellings

Dwellings Assets 
Under

Construction

Plant 
and

Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information
Technology

Furniture
and 

Fittings

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Owned - 
Purchased 7,634 8,223 119 45,898 8,161 - 10,637 5,467 86,139 

On-SoFP PFI 
Contracts and 
Other Service 
Concession 
Arrangements

- 166,160 - - - - - - 166,160 

Off-SoFP 
PFI Residual 
Interests

- - - - - - - - - 

Owned - 
Donated/
Granted

- 4,960 - 3,040 5,252 - 689 103 14,044 

Total Net 
Book Value 
At 31 March 
2023

7,634 179,343 119 48,938 13,413 - 11,326 5,570 266,343 
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16.5 Property Plant And Equipment Assets Subject To An Operating Lease 
(Trust As A Lessor) - 31 March 2024

Land Buildings
Excluding
Dwellings

Dwellings Assets 
Under

Construction

Plant 
and

Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information
Technology

Furniture
and 

Fittings

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Subject to 
an Operating 
Lease

- 

Not Subject 
to an 
Operating 
Lease

- 

Total Net 
Book Value 
at 31 March 
2024

- - - - - - - - - 

16.6 Property Plant And Equipment Assets Subject To An Operating Lease 
(Trust As A Lessor) - 31 March 2023

Land Buildings
Excluding
Dwellings

Dwellings Assets 
Under

Construction

Plant 
and

Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information
Technology

Furniture
and 

Fittings

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Subject to 
an Operating 
Lease

- 

Not Subject 
to an 
Operating 
Lease

- 

Total Net 
Book Value 
at 31 March 
2023

- - - - - - - - - 

17. Donations of Property, Plant and Equipment
The Trust received £618k from The National Institute of Health Research (NIHR) towards the purchase of a MRI 
scanner, which is due to be completed in 2024/25.
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18. Revaluations of Property, 	
Plant and Equipment
All land and buildings were revalued as at 31 March 
2023. The valuation was carried out by an independent 
valuer, Cushman & Wakefield.

The basis of the valuation was to use the Depreciated 
Replacement Cost (DRC) approach. The DRC 
approach assumes that the asset would be replaced 
with a modern equivalent, not a building of identical 
design, with the same service potential as the existing 
asset. The modern equivalent may be smaller than 
the existing asset for example, due to technological 
advances in plant and machinery.

The ultimate objective of the valuation is to place 
a value upon the asset, and in this the value of the 
land in providing a modern equivalent facility must 
be considered. The modern equivalent asset may be 
located on a new site out of town, or be on a smaller 
site due to changes in the way services are provided. 

The site is valued based on the size of the modern 
equivalent, and not the actual site area occupied 
currently.

Asset values have been adjusted to reflect the latest 
BCIS “All in” Tender Price Indices to reflect change in 
valuation to 31 March 2024. 

19. Leases - Alder Hey Children’s 
NHS Foundation Trust as Lessee
This note details information about leases for which the 
Trust is a lessee.

The Trust is a lessee for several buildings and some 
cleaning and medical equipment. The leased buildings 
enable the Trust to provide services away from the 
main hospital site, as well as providing off-site working 
accommodation for staff.
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19.1 Right of Use Assets - 2023/24
Property  

(Land and 
Buildings)

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture & 
Fittings

Intangible 
Assets

Total Of Which: 
Leased From 

DHSC Group 
Bodies

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Valuation/Gross 
Cost at 1 April 2023 
- Brought Forward

5,247 448 - - - - 5,695 2,863 

Transfers by 
Absorption - - - - - - - - 

Additions 975 - - - - - 975 - 
Remeasurements of 
the Lease Liability 916 - - - - - 916 713 

Movements in 
Provisions for 
Restoration/
Removal Costs

- - - - - - - - 

Impairments - - - - - - - - 
Reversal of 
Impairments - - - - - - - - 

Revaluations - - - - - - - - 
Reclassifications - - - - - - - - 
Disposals/ 
De-Recognition (208) (448) - - - - (656) (169)

Valuation/Gross 
Cost at 31 March 
2024

6,930 - - - - - 6,930 3,407 

Accumulated 
Depreciation at 1 
April 2023 - Brought 
Forward

593 358 - - - - 951 286 

Transfers by Absorption - - - - - - - - 

Provided During the Year 832 90 - - - - 922 407 

Impairments - - - - - - - - 

Reversal of 
Impairments - - - - - - - - 

Revaluations - - - - - - - - 

Reclassifications - - - - - - - - 

Disposals/
De-Recognition (35) (448) - - - - (483) (21)

Accumulated 
Depreciation at 31 
March 2024

1,390 - - - - - 1,390 672 

Net Book Value at 
31 March 2024 5,540 - - - - - 5,540 2,735 

Net Book Value at 
1 April 2023 4,654 90 - - - - 4,744 2,577 

Net Book Value of 
Right of Use Assets 
Leased From Other 
NHS Providers

350 

Net Book Value of 
Right of Use Assets 
Leased from Other 
DHSC Group Bodies

2,385 
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19.2 Right of Use Assets - 2022/23

Property  
(Land and 
Buildings)

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture & 
Fittings

Intangible 
Assets

Total Of Which: 
Leased From 

DHSC Group 
Bodies

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Valuation/Gross 
Cost at 1 April 2022 
- Brought Forward

- - - - - - - - 

IFRS 16 Implementation - 
Reclassification of Existing 
Finance Leased Assets from 
PPE or Intangible Assets

439 - - - - 439 - 

IFRS 16 Implementation 
- Adjustments for 
Existing Operating 
Leases/Subleases

5,247 9 - - - - 5,256 2,863 

Transfers by 
Absorption - - - - - - - - 
Additions - - - - - - - - 
Remeasurements of 
the Lease Liability - - - - - - - - 

Movements in Provisions 
for Restoration/
Removal Costs

- - - - - - - - 

Impairments - - - - - - - - 
Reversal of 
Impairments - - - - - - - - 
Revaluations - - - - - - - - 
Reclassifications - - - - - - - - 
Disposals/De-
Recognition - - - - - - - - 
Valuation/Gross 
Cost at 31 March 
2023

5,247 448 - - - - 5,695 2,863 

Accumulated 
Depreciation at 1 
April 2022 - 
Brought Forward

- - - - - - - - 

IFRS 16 Implementation 
- Reclassification of 
Existing Finance Leased 
Assets From PPE or 
Intangible Assets

- 266 - - - - 266 - 

IFRS 16 Implementation 
- Adjustments for 
Existing Subleases

- - - - - - - - 

Transfers by Absorption - - - - - - - - 
Provided During the Year 593 92 - - - - 685 286 
Impairments - - - - - - - - 
Reversal of Impairments - - - - - - - - 
Revaluations - - - - - - - - 
Reclassifications - - - - - - - - 
Disposals/
De-Recognition - - - - - - - - 

Accumulated 
Depreciation at 31 
March 2023

593 358 - - - - 951 286 

Net Book Value at 31 
March 2023 4,654 90 - - - - 4,744 2,577

Net Book Value at 1 
April 2022 - - - - - - - -

Net Book Value of Right of 
Use Assets Leased from 
Other DHSC Group Bodies

533

Net Book Value of Right of 
Use Assets Leased from 
Other DHSC Group Bodies

2,044

- 
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19.3 Revaluations of Right of Use Assets (See Note 1.15.)	
See note 1.15.

19.4 Reconciliation of the Carrying Value of Lease Liabilities			 
Lease liabilities are included within borrowings in the statement of financial position. A breakdown of borrowings is 
disclosed in note 32.1.

Lease payments for short term leases, leases of low value underlying assets and variable lease payments not 
dependent on an index or rate are recognised in operating expenditure.
		
These payments are disclosed in Note 7.1. Cash outflows in respect of leases recognised on-SoFP are disclosed in 
the reconciliation above.
			 
Income generated from subleasing right of use assets in £0k and is included within revenue from operating leases in 
note 4.			 

2022/23 
£000

2022/23 
£000

Carrying Value at 31 March 4,915 342 
Prior Period Adjustments - 
Carrying Value at 31 March - Restated 4,915 342 
IFRS 16 Implementation - Adjustments for Existing Operating Leases 5,256 
Transfers by Absorption - - 
Lease Additions 975 - 
Lease Liability Remeasurements 916 - 
Interest Charge Arising in Year 46 44 
Early Terminations (176) - 
Lease Payments (Cash Outflows) (1,000) (727)
Other Changes - - 
Carrying Value at 31 March 5,676 4,915 

Total Of which Leased 
from DHSC 

Group Bodies:

Total Of which Leased 
from DHSC 

Group Bodies:
31 March 2024 31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2023

£000 £000 £000 £000
Undiscounted Future Lease Payments 
Payable in:

- Not Later Than One Year 590 418 801 299 

- Later Than One Year and Not Later Than Five Years 3,579 1,471 2,120 1,195 

- Later than Five Years 1,760 954 2,181 1,195 

Total Gross Future Lease Payments 5,929 2,843 5,102 2,689 

Finance Charges Allocated to Future Periods (253) (85) (187) (99)

Net Lease Liabilities at 31 March 2024 5,676 2,758 4,915 2,590 

Of which:

Leased From Other NHS Providers 354 536 

Leased From Other DHSC Group Bodies 2,404 2,054 

19.5 Maturity Analysis of Future
Lease Payments
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20.1 Investments Property Income and Expenses

19.6 Leases - Other Information			 
Nothing to disclose in this area.

2023/24
£000

2022/23
£000

Carrying Value at 1 April - Brought Forward - - 
Prior Period Adjustments
Carrying Value at 1 April - Restated - - 
IFRS 16 Implementation - Adjustments for Existing Operating Leases
Transfers by Absorption - - 
Acquisitions in Year - - 
Remeasurements of the Lease Liability - - 
Movements in Provisions for Restoration/Removal Costs - - 
Movement in Fair Value - - 
Reclassification to/from PPE or Right of Use Assets - - 
Transfers to/from Assets Held for Sale - - 
Disposals - - 
Carrying Value At 31 March - - 

20. Investment Property

2023/24
£000

2022/23
£000

Direct Operating Expense Arising from Investment Property which Generated Rental 
Income in the Period - - 
Direct Operating Expense Arising from Investment Property which did not Generate 
Rental Income in the Period - - 

Total Investment Property Expenses - - 
Investment Property Income - -

2023/24
£000

2022/23
£000

Carrying Value At 1 April - Brought Forward - - 
Prior Period Adjustments
Carrying Value At 1 April - Restated - - 
Transfers by Absorption - - 
Acquisitions in Year - - 
Share of Profit/(Loss) - - 
Net Impairments - - 
Transfers to/from Assets Held for Sale - - 
Disbursements/Dividends Received - - 
Disposals - - 
Share of Other Comprehensive Income - - 
Other Equity Movements - - 

Carrying Value at 31 March - - 

21. Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
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31 March 
2024
£000

31 March 
2023
£000

Loans Receivable within 12 Months Transferred from Non-Current Financial Assets - - 

Deposits with the National Loans Fund - - 
Other Current Financial Assets - - 
Total Current Investments/Financial Assets - - 

2023/24
£000

2022/23
£000

Carrying Value At 1 April - Brought Forward - - 
Prior Period Adjustments
Carrying Value At 1 April - Restated - - 
Transfers by Absorption - - 
Acquisitions in Year - - 
Movement in Fair Value Through Income and Expenditure - - 
Movement in Fair Value Through OCI - - 
Net Impairments - - 
Transfers to/from Assets Held For Sale - - 
Amortisation at the Effective Interest Rate - - 
Current Portion of Loans Receivable Transferred to Current Financial Assets - - 
Disposals - - 

Carrying Value at 31 March - - 

22. Other Investments/Financial Assets (Non-Current)

22.1 Other Investments/Financial Assets (Current)
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23. Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
The Trust has the following wholly owned subsidiaries:

Name/Purpose % Shareholding
Alder Hey Ventures Limited - Commercialisation and Exploitation of IP 100
Alder Hey Living Hospitals Limited - Development of Software Applications 100

Name % Shareholding
Hand Hygiene Solutions Ltd 20.70%
Audiology Metrics Ltd 23.60%
Optimising Care Ltd 19.17%
Acorn Partners Ltd 27.50%
Asthma Buddy Ltd 30.10%
Doctors Hours Ltd 30.10%
Bloom Revalidation Ltd 30.10%
Digital Audiology Technologies Ltd 30.10%
Blood Sense Ltd 30.00%

Alder Hey Ventures Limited is not yet trading and therefore not consolidated. The accounts of Alder Hey Living 
Hospitals Limited have not been consolidated as it is considered to be immaterial.			 
			 
The Trust has a number of interests in other entities for the commercialisation and exploitation of Intellectual 
Property (IP). These interests are not accounted for on the grounds of immateriality.

24. Inventories 31 March 
2023
£000

31 March 
2022
£000

Drugs 1,882 1,739 
Work in Progress - - 
Consumables 3,028 2,648 
Energy 62 62 
Other - - 
Total Inventories 4,972 4,449
Of Which:
Held at Fair Value Less Costs to Sell - -

Inventories recognised in expenses for the year were £57,626k (2022/23: £47,494k). Write-down of inventories 
recognised as expenses for the year were £0k (2022/23: £0k).

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Department of Health and Social Care centrally procured personal 
protective equipment and passed these to NHS providers free of charge. During 2023/24 the Trust received £33k of 
items purchased by DHSC (2022/23: £375k).

These inventories were recognised as additions to inventory at deemed cost with the corresponding benefit 
recognised in income. The utilisation of these items is included in the expenses disclosed above.

The deemed cost of these inventories was charged directly to expenditure on receipt with the corresponding benefit 
recognised in income.
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25.1. Receivables 31 March
2023

31 March
2022

£000 £000

Current
Contract Receivables 14,750 21,512 
Contract Assets - - 
Capital Receivables - - 
Allowance for Impaired Contract Receivables/Assets (1,092) (1,423)
Allowance for Other Impaired Receivables (771) (730)
Deposits and Advances - - 
Prepayments (non-PFI) 5,716 5,484 
PFI Prepayments - Capital Contributions - - 
PFi Lifecycle Prepayments - - 
Interest Receivable 375 - 
Finance Lease Receivables - - 
Operating Lease Receivables - - 
PDC Dividend Receivable 536 - 
VAt Receivable 938 2,737 
Corporation and Other Taxes Receivable - - 
Other Receivables 379 513 
Total Current Receivables 20,831 28,093 

Non-Current
Contract Receivables - - 
Contract Assets - - 
Capital Receivables - - 
Allowance for Impaired Contract Receivables/Assets - - 
Allowance for Other Impaired Receivables - - 
Deposits and Advances - - 
Prepayments (Non-PFI) - -
PFI Prepayments - Capital Contributions - - 
PFI Lifecycle Prepayments - - 
Interest Receivable - - 
Finance Lease Receivables - - 
Operating Lease Receivables - - 
VAT Receivable - - 
Corporation and Other Taxes Receivable - - 
Other Receivables 299 388 
Total Non-Current Receivables 299 388 
Of Which Receivables from NHS and DHSC Group Bodies: 
Current 9,181 13,994 
Non-Current 299 388 

The majority of trade is with Integrated Care Systems and NHS England, as commissioners for NHS patient care 
services. As these bodies are funded by government to buy NHS patient care services, no credit score of them is 
considered necessary.
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25.2 Allowances for Credit Losses
2023/24 2022/23

Contract Receivables 
and Contract Assets

All Other 
Receivables

Contract Receivables 
and Contract Assets

All Other 
Receivables

£000 £000 £000 £000
Allowances as at 1 April - Brought Forward 1,423 730 1,014 620 

Prior Period Adjustments - - 

Allowances as at 1 April - Restated 1,423 730 1,014 620 

Transfers by Absorption - - - - 

New Allowances Arising 416 285 513 298 

Changes in Existing Allowances - - - - 

Reversals of Allowances (395) (223) (97) (159)

Utilisation of Allowances (Write Offs) (352) (21) (7) (29)
Changes Arising Following Modification of 
Contractual Cash Flows - - - - 

Foreign Exchange and Other Changes - - - - 

Allowances as at 31 March 2024 1,092 771 1,423 730 

25.3 Exposure to Credit Risk			 
The Trust’s Financial risk management is set out in Note 40.1

26 Finance Leases (Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust 
as a Lessor)
This note discloses future lease payments receivable from lease arrangements classified as finance leases where 
the Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust is the lessor.

26.1 Reconciliation of the Carrying Value of Finance Lease Receivables
(Net Investment in the Lease)	

 2023/24  2022/23
£000 £000

Finance Lease Receivables at 31 March 2022 - 
IFRS 16 Implementation - Adjustments for Existing Subleases - 
Transfers by Absorption - 
Additions - 
Interest Arising (Unwinding of Discount) - 
Remeasurements of Lease Receivables - 
Lease Receipts (Cash Payments Received) - 
De-Recognition Due to Early Termination - 
Finance Lease Receivables at 31 March 2023 - 
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Total Of Which Leased 
to DHSC Group 

Bodies:

Total Of Which Leased 
to DHSC Group 

Bodies:
31 March 2024 31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2023

£000 £000 £000 £000
Undiscounted Future Lease Receipts 
Receivable in: - - - - 

- Not Later than One Year; - - - - 
- Later than One Year and Not Later than 
  Two Years; - - - - 

- Later than Two Years and not Later than 
  Three Years; - - - - 

- Later than Three Years and not Later than 
  Four Years; - - - - 

- Later than Four Years and not Later than 
  Five Years; - - - - 

- Later than Five Years. - - - - 
Total Future Finance Lease Payments to 
be Received - - - - 

Estimated Value of Unguaranteed Residual 
Interest - - - - 

Unearned Interest Income - - - - 
Allowance for Uncollectable Lease Payments - - - - 
Net Investment in Lease (Net Lease 
Receivable) - - - - 

Of Which those Receivable:
Leased to Other NHS Providers - - 
Leased to Other DHSC Group Bodies - - 

26.2 Finance Lease Receivables Maturity Analysis

26.3 Assets De-Recognised Under Finance Leases with Other DHSC Group Bodies
The Trust has nothing to disclose in this area.

27. Other Assets
31 March

2024
31 March

2023
£000 £000

Current

Other Assets - - 

Total Other Current Assets - - 
Non-Current

Net Defined Benefit Pension Scheme Asset - - 

Other Assets - - 

Total Other Non-Current Assets - - 
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28.1 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and 
Assets in Disposal Groups

2023/24
£000

2023/24
£000

NBV of Non-Current Assets for Sale and Assets In Disposal Groups at 1 April - - 
Prior Period Adjustment

NBV of Non-Current Assets For Sale And Assets In Disposal Groups at 
1 April - Restated - - 

Transfers By Absorption  - - 
Assets Classified as Available for Sale in the Year - - 
Assets Sold In Year - - 
Impairment of Assets Held for Sale - -

Reversal of Impairment of Assets Held for Sale - -

Assets no Longer Classified as Held for Sale, for Reasons Other than Sale - -
NBV of Non-Current Assets for Sale and Assets in Disposal Groups at 31 March - - 

28.2 Liabilities in Disposal Groups
31 March 

2024
£000

31 March 
2023
£000

Categorised as: - - 

Provisions - - 

Trade and Other Payables - - 
Other - - 
Total - - 
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29.1 Cash and Cash Equivalents Movements
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, in hand and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are readily 
convertible investments of known value which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.			 

29.2 Third Party Assets Held by The Trust
Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust held cash 
and cash equivalents which relate to monies held by 
the Trust on behalf of patients or other parties and in 
which the Trust has no beneficial interest. This has been 
excluded from the cash equivalents figure reported in 
the accounts.		

31 March
2024

31 March
2023

£000 £000

Bank Balances - - 

Monies on Deposit - - 

Total Third Party Assets - - 

2023/24 2022/23
£000 £000

At 1 April 83,478 91,463 
Prior Period Adjustments - 

At 1 April (Restated) 83,478 91,463 

Transfers by Absorption - - 

Net Change In Year (5,198) (7,985)

At 31 March 78,280 83,478 

Broken Down Into:

Cash at Commercial Banks and in Hand 268 1,034 

Cash with the Government Banking Service 78,012 72,444 

Deposits with the National Loan Fund - 10,000 

Other Current Investments - - 

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents as in SoFP 78,280 83,478 

Bank Overdrafts (GBS and Commercial Banks) - - 

Drawdown in Committed Facility - - 

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents as in SoCF 78,280 83,478 
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31 March
2024

31 March
2023

£000 £000
Current

Trade Payables 5,670 8,818 

Capital Payables 15,971 12,852 

Accruals 28,259 25,746 

Receipts in Advance and Payments on Account - - 

PFI Lifecycle Replacement Received in Advance - - 

Social Security Costs - - 

VAT Payables - - 

Other Taxes Payable 4,905 4,415 

PDC Dividend Payable - 1,218 

Pension Contributions Payable 3,107 2,819 

Other Payables 1,725 14,444 

Total Current Trade and Other Payables 59,637 70,312 

Non-Current

Trade Payables - - 

Capital Payables - - 

Accruals - - 

Receipts in Advance and Payments on Account - - 

PFI Lifecycle Replacement Received in Advance - - 

VAT Payables - - 

Other Taxes Payable - - 

Other Payables - - 

Total Non-Current Trade and Other Payables - - 

Of Which Payables from NHS and DHSC Group Bodies:
Current 8,423 3,359 

Non-Current - - 

31 March
2024

31 March
2024

31 March
2023

31 March
2023

£000 Number £000 Number 
- To Buy Out the Liability for Early Retirements Over 
  5 Years - - - - 

- Number of Cases Involved - - - - 

30.2 Early Retirements in NHS Payables Above		
The payables note above includes amounts in relation to early retirements as set out below:

30.1 Trade and Other Payables
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31 March
2024

31 March
2023

£000 £000
Current

Bank Overdrafts - - 
Drawdown in Committed Facility - - 
Loans from DHSC 2,808 2,806 
Other Loans - - 
Lease Liabilities 517 761 
Obligations under PFI, LIFT 
or Other Service Concession 
Contracts

6,814 2,465 

Total Current Borrowings 10,139 6,032 

Non-Current
Loans from DHSC 33,048 35,807 
Other Loans - - 
Lease Liabilities 5,159 4,154 
Obligations under PFI, LIFT 
or Other Service Concession 
Contracts

95,594 92,956 

Total Non-Current Borrowings 133,801 132,917 

31. Other Liabilities 32.1 Borrowings31 March
2024

31 March
2023

£000 £000
Current
Deferred Income: Contract 
Liabilities 1,818 4,005 

Deferred Grants - - 
Deferred PFI Credits/Income 137 137 
Other Deferred Income - - 

Total Other Current Liabilities 1,955 4,142 

Non-Current
Deferred Income: 
Contract Liabilities 40 120 

Deferred Grants - - 
Deferred PFI Credits/Income 2,810 2,947 
Other Deferred Income - - 
Net Pension Scheme Liability - - 

Total Other Non-Current 
Liabilities 2,850 3,067 

32.2 Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from
Financing Activities

Loans 
from 

DHSC

Other
Loans

Finance 
Leases

PFI and 
LIFT 

Schemes 

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Carrying Value at 1 April 2023 38,613 - 4,915 95,421 138,949
Cash Movements:
Financing Cash Flows - Payments and Receipts of Principal (2,759) - (954) (3,126) (6,839)
Financing Cash Flows - Payments of Interest (855) - (46) (7,836) (8,737)
Non-Cash Movements:
Application of IFRS 16 Measurement Principles to PFI 
Liability on 1 April 2023   6,143 6,143 

Transfers by Absorption - - - - - 
Additions - - 975 - 975 
Lease Liability Remeasurements - - 916 - 916 
Remeasurement of PFI/Other Service Concession Liability 
Resulting from Change in Index or Rate - - - 3,969 3,969 

Application of Effective Interest Rate 857 - 46 7,837 8,740 
Change in Effective Interest Rate - - - - - 
Changes in Fair Value - - - - - 
Early Terminations - - (176) - (176)
Other Changes - - - - - 
Carrying Value at 31 March 2024 35,856 - 4,915 102,408 143,940 
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Loans 
from 

DHSC

Other
Loans

Finance 
Leases

PFI and 
LIFT 

Schemes 

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Carrying Value at 1 April 2022 41,380 - 342 97,849 139,571 

Prior Period Adjustment - - - - - 

Carrying value at 31 March 2024 41,380 - 342 97,849 139,571 

Cash Movements:

Financing Cash Flows - Payments and Receipts of Principal (2,759) - (683) (2,429) (5,871)
Financing Cash Flows - Payments of Interest (923) - (44) (7,258) (8,225)
Non-Cash Movements:

Impact of Implementing IFRS 16 on 1 April 2022  5,256 5,256 

Transfers by Absorption - - - - - 

Additions - - - - - 

Lease Liability Re-measurements - - - - - 

Application of Effective Interest Rate 915 - 44 7,259 8,218 

Change in Effective Interest Rate - - - - - 

Changes in Fair Value - - - - - 

Early Terminations - - - - - 

Other Changes - - - - - 

Carrying Value at 31 March 2024 38,613 - 4,915 95,421 138,949 

33. Other Financial Liabilities 31 March
2024

31 March
2023

£000 £000
Current

Derivatives Held at Fair Value Through Income and Expenditure - - 

Other Financial Liabilities - - 

Total Current Other Financial Liabilities - - 

Non-Current

Derivatives Held at Fair Value Through Income and Expenditure - - 

Other Financial Liabilities - - 

Total Non-Current Other Financial Liabilities - - 
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Early departure costs and injury benefits for former 
employees have been estimated using life expectancy 
from the Government’s actuarial tables.

Legal claims relate to third party and employer liability 
claims and have been estimated by NHS Resolution.  
It is expected that these claims will be settled in the 
next year.

Provision liability arising from the 2019/20 pensions 
scheme derived from combining information on 
applications to join the 2019/20 scheme under the 
policy, together with information in the scheme pays 
election form where present.

The majority of the value in other provisions includes 
the anticipated costs to deliver on the Trust’s legal 
obligation towards the re-instatement of Springfield 
Park as part of the land agreement.

34.1 Provisions for Liabilities and Charges Analysis 

Pensions 
- Early 

Departure 
Costs

Pensions: 
Injury 

Benefits

Legal 
Claims

Re-
structuring

Equal Pay 
(including 

Agenda for 
Change)

Redundancy Other Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
At 1 April 2023 155 339 252 - - - 12,685 13,431 

Transfers by Absorption - - - - - - - - 

Change in the 
Discount Rate - - - - - - (68) (68)

Arising During the Year 35 33 148 - - - 1,804 2,020 

Utilised During the Year (55) (48) (70) - - - (2,593) (2,766)

Reclassified to Liabilities 
Held in Disposal Groups - - - - - - - - 

Reversed Unused - - (154) - - - (4,002) (4,156)

Unwinding of Discount (1) (7) - - - - 21 13 

At 31 March 2024 134 317 176 - - - 7,847 8,474 
Expected Timing of Cash 
Flows: 

- Not Later Than One 
Year; 59 56 176 - - - 7,548 7,839 

- Later Than One Year and 
not Later Than Five Years; 75 175 - - - - 21 271 

- Later Than Five Years. - 86 - - - - 278 364 

Total 134 317 176 - - - 7,847 8,474 
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34.2 Clinical Negligence Liabilities
At 31 March 2024, £165,649k was included in provisions of NHS Resolution in respect of clinical negligence liabilities 
of Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust (31 March 2023: £178,178k).

35. Contingent Assets and Liabilities 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
£000 £000

Value of Contingent Liabilities 

NHS Resolution Legal Claims - - 

Employment Tribunal and Other Employee Related Litigation - -

Redundancy - -

Other - - 

Gross Value of Contingent Liabilities - - 

Amounts Recoverable Against Liabilities - - 

Net Value of Contingent Liabilities - - 

Net Value of Contingent Assets - - 

36. Contractual Capital 
Commitments

31 March 
2024

31 March 
2023

£000 £000
Property, Plant and Equipment 112,904 95,907 

Intangible Assets - - 

Total 112,904 95,907 

37. Other Financial Commitments	
The Trust is committed to making payments under 
non-cancellable contracts (which are not leases, PFI 
contracts or other service concession arrangement), 
analysed by the period during which the payment  
is made:

38. Defined Benefit Pension 
Schemes
The Trust has no disclosures for defined benefit 
schemes.					   

31 March 
2024

31 March 
2023

£000 £000
Not Later Than One Year; - - 
After One Year and 
Not Later Than Five Years; - - 

Paid Thereafter - - 

Total - - 
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2023/24 2022/23
£000 £000

Present Value of the Defined Benefit Obligation at 1 April - - 
Prior Period Adjustment
Present Value of the Defined Benefit Obligation at 1 April - Restated - - 
Transfers by Absorption - - 
Current Service Cost - - 
Interest Cost - - 
Contribution by Plan Participants - - 
Remeasurement of the Net Defined Benefit (Liability)/Asset:

 - Actuarial (Gains)/Losses - - 
Benefits Paid - - 
Past Service Costs - - 
Business Combinations - - 
Curtailments and Settlements - - 
Present Value of the Defined Benefit Obligation at 31 March - - 

Plan Assets at Fair Value at 1 April - - 
Prior Period Adjustment
Plan Assets at Fair Value at 1 April - restated - - 
Transfers by Normal Absorption - - 
Interest Income - - 
Remeasurement of the Net Defined Benefit (Liability)/Asset:

 - Return on Plan Assets - - 
 - Actuarial Gain/(Losses) - - 
 - Changes in the Effect of Limiting a Net Defined Benefit Asset to the Asset Ceiling - - 

Contributions by the Employer - - 
Contributions by the Plan Participants - - 
Benefits Paid - - 
Business Combinations - - 
Settlements - - 
Plan Assets at Fair Value at 31 March - - 
Plan Surplus/(Deficit) at 31 March - - 

38.1 Changes in the Defined Benefit Obligation and Fair Value 
of Plan Assets During the Year
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31 March 
2024

31 March 
2023

£000 £000
Present Value of the Defined Benefit Obligation - - 

Plan Assets at Fair Value - - 

Net Defined Benefit (Obligation)/Asset Recognised in the SoFP - - 

Fair Value of any Reimbursement Right - - 

Net (Liability)/Asset After the Impact of Reimbursement Rights - - 

38.2 Reconciliation of the Present Value of the Defined Benefit Obligation and the Present 
Value of the Plan Assets to the Assets and Liabilities Recognised in the Balance Sheet	

38.3 Amounts Recognised in the SoCI

39. On-SoFP PFI, LIFT or Other 
Service Concession Arrangements
The PFI scheme relates to the main hospital building  
on East Prescot Road. The Trust has the right to use  
the buildings, however Alder Hey (Special Purpose 
Vehicle) Limited (Acorn Consortium) have responsibility 
for maintaining the buildings to an agreed standard.  
All lifecycle replacement is also the responsibility  
of Alder Hey (Special Purpose Vehicle) Limited.  
A key feature of the PFI scheme is that the operator  
is responsible for ensuring that the property is 
maintained to an agreed standard for the entire life of 
the contract. These are known as lifecycle costs. The 
costs which the operator expects to incur in doing this 
is reflected in the unitary payment. The contract with 
Alder Hey (Special Purpose Vehicle) Limited expires on 
21 June 2045, after which time the Trust will become 
responsible for the maintenance and lifecycle costs of 
those buildings.					  

2023/24 2022/23
£000 £000

Current Service Cost - - 

Interest Expense/Income - - 

Past Service Cost - - 

Gains/(Losses) on Curtailment and Settlement - - 

Total Net (Charge)/Gain Recognised In SoCI - - 
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39.1 On-SoFP PFI, LIFT or Other Service 
Concession Arrangement Obligations
The following obligations in respect of the PFI, LIFT or 
other service concession arrangements are recognised 
in the statement of financial position:		

39.2 Total on-SoFP PFI, LIFT and 
Other Service Concession Arrangement 
Commitments
Total future commitments under these on-SoFP 
schemes are as follows:

39.3 Analysis of Amounts Payable to 
Service Concession Operator
This note provides an analysis of the unitary payments 
made to the service concession operator:

31 March 
2024

31 March 
2023

£000 £000
Gross PFI, LIFT or Other 
Service Concession 
Liabilities

212,336 196,929 

Of Which Liabilities are Due
- Not Later Than One Year 10,270 9,542 

- Later Than One Year and 
Not Later Than Five Years 39,773 36,844 

- Later Than Five Years 162,293 150,543 

Finance Charges Allocated to 
Future Periods (109,928) (101,508)

Net PFI, LIFT or Other 
Service Concession 
Arrangement Obligation

102,408 95,421 

- Not Later Than One Year 6,814 2,465 

- Later Than One Year and 
Not Later Than Five Years 9,959 10,425 

- Later Than Five Years 85,635 82,531 

31 March 
2024

31 March 
2023

£000 £000

Total Future Payments 
Committed in Respect 
of the PFI, LIFT or Other 
Service Concession 
Arrangements

373,770 390,093 

Of Which Payments are 
Due:

- Not Later Than One Year
15,089 16,324 

- Later Than One Year and 
Not Later Than Five Years 62,141 61,558 

- Later Than Five Years 296,540 312,211 

2023/24 2022/23
£000 £000

Unitary Payment Payable 
to Service Concession 
Operator

16,062 15,524 

Consisting of:
- Interest Charge 7,837 7,259 

- Repayment of 
Balance Sheet Obligation 3,126 2,429 

- Service Element 
and Other Charges to 
Operating Expenditure

3,792 4,020 

- Capital Lifecycle 
  Maintenance - - 

- Revenue Lifecycle 
Maintenance 1,307 892 

- Contingent Rent - 924 

- Addition to Lifecycle 
  Prepayment - - 

- Other amounts paid 
to Operator Due to a 
Commitment Under the 
Service Concession 
Contract but not part of 
the Unitary Payment

- -

Total Amount Paid to 
Service Concession 
Operator

16,062 15,524 
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40.1 Impact of change in 
accounting policy for on-SoFP PFI, 
LIFT and other service concession 
liabilities
IFRS 16 liability measurement principles have been 
applied to PFI, LIFT and other service concession 
arrangement liabilities from 1 April 2023. When 
payments for the asset are uplifted for inflation, the 
imputed lease liability recognised on the SoFP is 
remeasured to reflect the increase in future payments. 
Such increases were previously recognised as 
contingent rent as incurred.

The change in measurement basis has been applied 
retrospectively without restatement of comparatives 
and with the cumulative impact on 1 April 2023 
recognised in the income and expenditure reserve.  
The incremental impact of applying the new accounting 
policy on (a) the allocation of the unitary charge in 
2023/24 and (b) the primary statements in 2023/24 is 
set out in the disclosures below.

FRS 16 Basis 
(New Basis)

2023/24

IAS 17 Basis
(Old Basis) 

2023/24

Impact of 
Change

2023/24
£000 £000 £000

Unitary Payment 
Payable 
to Service 
Concession 
Operator

16,062 16,062 - 

Consisting of:
- Interest
  Charge 7,837 7,079 758 

- Repayment of 
Balance Sheet 
Obligation

3,126 2,464 662 

- Service
  Element 3,792 4,242 (450)

- Lifecycle 
  Maintenance 1,307 1,307 - 

- Contingent
  Rent - 970 (970)

- Addition to
  Lifecycle 
  Prepayment

- - - 

40.2 Impact of Change in Accounting Policy on Primary Statements

Impact of Change in PFI Accounting 
Policy on 31 March 2024 Statement of 
Financial Position: £000
Increase in PFI/LIFT and Other Service 
Concession Liabilities (9,450) 

Decrease in PDC Dividend Payable/
Increase in PDC Dividend Receivable 177 

Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 
(Impact of PDC Dividend Only) - 

Impact on Net Assets as at 31 March 2024 (9,273) 

Impact of Change in PFI Accounting 
Policy on 2023/24 Statement of 
Comprehensive Income: £000
PFI Liability Remeasurement Charged to 
Finance Costs (3,969)

Increase in Interest Arising on PFI liability (758)

Reduction in Contingent Rent 1,420 
Reduction in PDC Dividend Charge 177 

Net Impact on Surplus/(Deficit) (3,130)

Impact of Change in PFI Accounting 
Policy on 2023/24 Statement of Changes 
in Equity: £000
Adjustment to Reserves for the Cumulative 
Retrospective Impact on 1 April 2023 (6,143)

Net Impact on 2023/24 Surplus/Deficit (3,130)

Impact on Equity as at 31 March 2024 (9,273)

Impact of Change in PFI Accounting 
Policy on 2023/24 Statement of Cash 
Flows: £000
Increase in Cash Outflows for Capital 
Element of PFI/LIFT (662)

Decrease in Cash Outflows for Financing 
Element of PFI/LIFT 662 

Decrease in Cash Outflows for PDC Dividend -
Net Impact on Cash Flows from 
Financing Activities - 
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41. Off-SoFP PFI, LIFT and Other 
Service Concession Arrangements
Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust incurred 
the following charges in respect of off-Statement of 
Financial Position PFI and LIFT arrangements: 

31 March 
2024

31 March 
2023

£000 £000

Charge in Respect of 
the Off SoFP PFI, LIFT or 
Other Service Concession 
Arrangement for the Period

- -

Commitments in Respect 
of off-SoFP PFI, LIFT or 
Other Service Concession 
Arrangements:

- Not Later Than One Year - -

- Later Than One Year and 
Not Later Than Five Years - -

- Later Than Five Years - -

Total - -

42. Financial Instruments
42.1 Financial Risk Management
Financial reporting standard IFRS7 requires disclosure 
of the role that financial instruments have had during 
the period in creating or changing the risks a body 
faces in undertaking its activities. Because of the 
continuing service provider relationship that the Trust 
has with intergrated care boards (ICB’s) and the way 
those ICBs are financed, the Trust is not exposed to 
the degree of financial risk faced by business activities. 
Also, financial instruments play a much more limited 
role in creating or changing risk than would be typical 
of listed companies, to which the financial reporting 
standards mainly apply.

The Trust’s treasury management operations are 
carried out by the Finance Department, within 
parameters defined formally within the Trust’s standing 
financial instructions and policies agreed by the Board 
of Directors. Trust treasury activity is subject to review 
by the Trust’s internal auditors.

Liquidity Risk
Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust net 
operating costs are incurred under legally binding 
contracts with local ICBs. The Trust receives regular 
monthly payments from ICBs based on an agreed 
contract value with adjustments made for actual 
services provided.

The Trust finances its capital expenditure from internally 
generated funds or Public Dividend Capital made 
available by the Department of Health and Social Care. 
The Trust is therefore not exposed to significant liquidity 
risks. 

Interest Rate Risk
All of the Trust’s financial assets carry nil or fixed rates 
of interest. The Trust is not exposed to significant 
interest rate risk.

Foreign Currency Risk
The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with 
the majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being 
in the UK and sterling based. The Trust has limited 
business with overseas clients. The Trust therefore has 
low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

Price Risk
The contracts from NHS commissioners in respect 
of healthcare services have a pre-determined price 
structure which negates the risk of price fluctuation.

Credit Risk
The contracts from NHS commissioners in respect of 
healthcare services are agreed annually and take into 
account the commissioners’ ability to pay and hence 
credit risk is minimal.
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42.2 Carrying Values of Financial Assets
Held at 

Amortised 
Cost

Held at 
Fair Value 

Through I&E

Held at 
Fair Value 

Through OCI
Total Book 

Value 

£000 £000 £000 £000

Carrying Values of Financial Assets as at 31 March 2024

Trade and Other Receivables Excluding 
Non Financial Assets 13,623 - - 13,623 

Other Investments/Financial Assets - - - - 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 78,280 - - 78,280 

Total at 31 March 2024 91,903 - - 91,903 

Held at 
Amortised 

Cost

Held at 
Fair Value 

Through I&E

Held at 
Fair Value 

Through OCI
Total Book 

Value 

£000 £000 £000 £000

Carrying Values of Financial Assets as at 31 March 2023

Trade and Other Receivables Excluding Non Financial 
Assets 19,872 - - 19,872 

Other Investments/Financial Assets - - - - 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 83,478 - - 83,478 

Total at 31 March 2023 103,350 - - 103,350 

42.3 Carrying Values of Financial Liabilities
Held at 

Amortised Cost
Held at 

Fair Value 
Through I&E

Total Book 
Value 

£000 £000 £000
Carrying Values of Financial Liabilities as at 31 March 2023

Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care 35,856 - 35,856 

Obligations Under Leases 5,676 - 5,676 

Obligations Under PFI, LIFT and Other Service Concession 
Contracts 102,408 - 102,408 

Other Borrowings - - - 

Trade and Other Payables Excluding Non Financial Liabilities 53,029 - 53,029 

Other Financial Liabilities - - - 

Provisions Under Contract - - - 
Total at 31 March 2024 196,969  196,969 
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42.3 Carrying Values of Financial Liabilities (continued)
Held at 

Amortised Cost
Held at 

Fair Value 
Through I&E

Total Book 
Value 

£000 £000 £000
Carrying Values of Financial Liabilities as at 31 March 2023

Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care 38,613 - 38,613 

Obligations Under Leases 4,915 - 4,915 

Obligations under PFI, LIFT and Other Service Concession Contracts 95,421 - 95,421 

Other Borrowings - - - 

Trade and Other Payables Excluding Non Financial Liabilities 65,882 - 65,882 

Other Financial Liabilities - - - 

Provisions Under Contract - - - 
Total at 31 March 2023 204,831 - 204,831 

42.4 Maturity of Financial Liabilities
The following maturity profile of financial liabilities is based on the contractual undiscounted cash flows. This differs 
to the amounts recognised in the statement of financial position which are discounted to present value.		

42.5 Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities
It is considered that the book value (carrying value) is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
£000 £000

In One Year or Less 67,440 79,836 

In More Than Two Year But Not More Than Five Years 55,376 51,672 

In More Than Five Years 190,546 182,084 

Total 313,362 313,592 
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2023/24 2022/23
Total Number 

of Cases
Total Value 

of Cases
Total Number 

of Cases
Total Value 

of Cases
Number £000 Number £000

Gifts Made - - - - 

44. Gifts

43. Losses and Special Payments
2023/24 2022/23

Total Number 
of Cases

Total Value 
of Cases

Total Number 
of Cases

Total Value 
of Cases

Number £000 Number £000
Losses
Cash Losses 13 42 23 29 
Fruitless Payments and Constructive Losses - - - - 

Bad Debts and Claims Abandoned 31 352 21 7 

Stores Losses and Damage to Property - - - - 

Total Losses 44 394 44 36 

Special Payments
Compensation Under Court Order or Legally 
Binding Arbitration Award - - - - 

Extra-Contractual Payments - - - - 
Ex-Gratia Payments 36 147 18 484 
Special Severance Payments - - - - 
Extra-Statutory and Extra-Regulatory Payments - - - - 
Total Special Payments 36 147 18 484 

Total Losses and Special Payments 80 541 62 520 

Compensation Payments Received

Details of Cases Individually over £300k		
In the prior year ex-gratia payments contains one cast of Lease Car VAT reimbursement to those members of the 
scheme who after a change in VAT laws where eligible for a refund of payments already made. As per NHS England 
guidance, this is classed as a single case and the total paid is £398k.
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50. Staff Costs

45. Related Parties
Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust is a public 
interest body authorised by NHS England. During the 
period, none of the Trust Board members or members 
of the key management staff, or parties related to any 
of them, has undertaken any transactions with Alder 
Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust. The Department 
of Health and Social Care is regarded as the parent 
department. During the period the Trust has had a 
significant number of transactions with the Department, 
and with other entities for which the Department is 
regarded as the parent Department. The transactions 
relate mainly to the provision of healthcare services and 
purchase of services in the ordinary course of business.

Paragraph 25 of IAS 24 allows entities which are related 
parties because they are under the same government 
control to reduce the volume of the detailed 
disclosures.

During the year the Trust had significant transactions 
with the following NHS bodies which are related by 
government oversight only – the Trust does not have 
any control over these entities: NHS England North 
West Specialist Commissioning Hub, NHS Cheshire 
and Merseyside Intergrated Care Board, NHS England 
and Health Education England. The Trust also had 
significant transactions with the following other 

government departments: Welsh Health Specialised 
Services Committee, HM Revenue & Customs, NHS 
Professionals and NHS Pension Scheme.

Transactions with related parties are on an arm’s length 
basis.

46. Transfers by Absorption
The Trust has nothing to disclose in this area.

47. Prior Period Adjustments
Trusts should comply with the disclosure requirements 
of IAS 8 where comparative information has been 
restated due to either a change in accounting policy or 
material prior period error.

48. Events after the Reporting 
Date 
The Trust has nothing to disclose in this area.

49. Final Period of Operation as a 
Trust Providing NHS Healthcare
Note is not applicable to Alder Hey Childrens NHS 
Foundation Trust.

2023/24                  2022/23
Permanent Other Total Total

Number £000 Number £000
Salaries and Wages 177,830 18,478 196,308 186,080 

Social Security Costs 19,183 - 19,183 17,199 

Apprenticeship Levy 929 - 929 806 
Employer's Contributions to NHS Pension 
Scheme 31,275 - 31,275 28,514 

Pension Cost - Other - - - - 

Other Post Employment Benefits - - - - 

Other Employment Benefits - - - - 

Termination Benefits - - - - 

Temporary Staff - 12,903 12,903 10,706 

Total Gross Staff Costs 229,216 31,381 260,598 243,305 

Compensation Payments Received (2,109) - (2,109) (1,998)

Total Staff Costs 227,107 31,381 258,489 241,307 

Of which

Costs Capitalised as Part of Assets 3,057 114 3,171 2,590 
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2023/24                  2022/23
Permanent Other Total Total

Number £000 Number £000
Medical and Dental 520 1 521 518 

Ambulance Staff - - - - 

Administration and Estates 907 36 943 904 

Healthcare Assistants and Other Support Staff 202 26 228 231 

Nursing, Midwifery and Health Visiting Staff 1,383 137 1,520 1,454 

Nursing, Midwifery and Health Visiting Learners - - - - 

Scientific, Therapeutic and Technical Staff 910 15 925 893 

Healthcare Science Staff - - - - 

Social Care Staff - - - - 

Other - - - - 

Total Average Numbers 3,922 215 4,137 4,000 

Of Which:
Number of Employees (WTE) Engaged on 
Capital Projects 47 1 48 47 

51. Average Number of Employees (WTE basis)

Number of Compulsory
Redundancies

Number of Other 
Departures Agreed

Total Number of
Exit Packages

Number Number Number 
Exit Package Cost Band
(Including Any Special Payment Element)
<£10,000 - 7 7 

£10,000 - £25,000 1 1 2 

£25,001 - 50,000 - - - 

£50,001 - £100,000 1 - 1 

£100,001 - £150,000 - - - 

£150,001 - £200,000 - - - 

>£200,000 - - - 

Total Number of Exit Packages by Type 2 8 10 
Total Cost (£) £79,000 £38,000 £117,000

52. Reporting of Compensation Schemes - Exit Packages 2023/24
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Payments Agrees Total Value of 
Agreements Payments Agrees Total Value of 

Agreements
Number £000 Number £000

Voluntary Redundancies Including Early 
Retirement Contractual Costs - - 2 18 

Mutually Agreed Resignations (MARS) 
Contractual Costs - - - - 

Early Retirements in the Efficiency of the 
Service Contractual Costs - - - - 

Contractual Payments in Lieu of Notice 8 38 17 86 
Exit Payments Following Employment 
Tribunals or Court Orders - - - - 

Non-Contractual Payments requiring HMT 
Approval - - - - 

Total Number of Exit Packages by Type 8 38 19 104 

Of which:

Non-Contractual Payments Requiring HMT 
Approval Made to Individuals where the 
Payment Value was More Than 12 months’ 
of Their Annual Salary

- - - - 

53. Reporting of Compensation Schemes - Exit Packages 2022/23
Number of Compulsory

Redundancies
Number of Other 

Departures Agreed
Total Number of Exit 

Packages
Number Number Number 

Exit Package Cost Band
(Including any Special Payment Element)
<£10,000 - 15 15 

£10,000 - £25,000 - 3 3 

£25,001 - 50,000 - 1 1 

£50,001 - £100,000 - - - 

£100,001 - £150,000 - - - 

£150,001 - £200,000 - - - 

>£200,000 - - - 

Total Number of Exit Packages by Type - 19 19 
Total Cost (£) £0 £103,930 £103,930

54. Exit Packages: Other (Non-Compulsory) Departure Payments

There have been no redundancy schemes in place in the current financial year, the majority of the exit packages 
relate to payments made to employees to terminate their employment in line with contractual obligations. 

Of the non-compulsory payments made in the table above, there was one instance where the payment made related 
to the financial year 2022/23, but wasn’t recorded in that period.



Alder Hey’s Innovation Strategy ‘Today’s Child, 
Tomorrow’s Healthier Adult’ aims to deliver 
solutions to healthcare problems faced by 
children and young people.
Some of Alder Hey Innovation projects include:
•	Little Hearts at Home; a remote monitoring 

solution that will enable new-born and infants 
with a severe Congenital Heart Defect to 
receive care within the comfort of their homes 
– the first of its kind in the UK.

•	The One Mental Health platform; a mental 
health integrated platform, co-created with 
children, young people and professionals, 
bringing together a single point of access for 
referrals, support and resources.

•	Lab 2 Life; A data lab committed to tackling 
healthcare inequalities caused by poverty 
in the UK. We are achieving this through 
research and programmes linking with national 
expertise.

•	Was Not Brought (WNB)– Reducing 
Healthcare Inequalities; using an artificial 
intelligence tool to quickly identify those 
children that have a higher predictability 
of a WNB, enabling staff to provide 
bespoke support to help them attend their 
appointments.

Alder Hey is a place of 
outstanding care, amazing 
people, and world leading 
clinicians. But our ambition 
goes beyond the day-to-
day and the bounds of our 
hospital. Our Innovation 
Strategy ensures that we 
focus on solving the real-
world problems children, 
young people and families 
face, providing solutions to 
create healthier, happier, 
fairer futures for children in 
our region and globally.

Our Innovation

Professor John Chester, 
Director of Research and 
Innovation said:

Revolutionising 
care
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the Council Of Governors 
of Alder Hey Children’s NHS 

Foundation Trust

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements 
of Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation 
Trust for the year ended 31 March 2024 
which comprise the Trust’s Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, Statement of 
Financial Position, Statement of Changes in 
Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, and the 
related notes 1 to 48, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.

The financial reporting framework that has 
been applied in their preparation is applicable 
law and UK adopted International Financial 
Reporting Standards as interpreted and 
adapted by the HM Treasury’s Financial 
Reporting Manual: 2023-24 as contained in 
the Department of Health and Social Care 
Group Accounting Manual 2023 to 2024 
and the Accounts Direction issued by NHS 
England with the approval of the Secretary 
of State as relevant to the National Health 
Service in England.

In our opinion the financial statements:
•	Give a true and fair view of the financial 

position of Alder Hey Children’s NHS 
Foundation Trust as at 31 March 2024 
and of the Foundation Trust’s income and 
expenditure for the year then ended;

•	Have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the Department of Health and Social 
Care Group Accounting Manual 2023 to 
2024; and

•	Have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the National Health Service Act 2006.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the financial statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Foundation Trust 
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the 
UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard and the 
Comptroller and Auditor General’s AGN01 and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Conclusions Relating to Going 
Concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded 
that the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not 
identified any material uncertainties relating to events 
or conditions that, individually or collectively, may 
cast significant doubt on the Foundation Trust’s ability 
to continue as a going concern for a period to 30th 
September 2025.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the 
Accountable Officer with respect to going concern 
are described in the relevant sections of this report. 
However, because not all future events or conditions can 
be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the 
Foundation Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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Other Information
The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The 
Accountable Officer is responsible for the other 
information contained within the annual report.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not 
cover the other information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit 
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If 
we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent 
material misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial 
statements themselves. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of the other information, we are required 
to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion On Other Matters 
Prescribed By The Code Of Audit 
Practice
In our opinion:
•	Other information published together with the audited 

financial statements is consistent with the financial 
statements; and

•	The parts of the Remuneration Report and Staff 
Report identified as subject to audit have been 
properly prepared in accordance with the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2023/24.

Matters on Which we are Required 
to Report By Exception
The Code of Audit Practice requires us to report to you 
if:
•	We issue a report in the public interest under 

schedule 10(3) of the National Health Service Act 
2006;

•	We refer the matter to the regulator under schedule 
10(6) of the National Health Service Act 2006 because 
we have reason to believe that the Foundation Trust, 
or a director or officer of the Foundation Trust, is 
about to make, or has made, a decision involving 
unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has 
taken, unlawful action likely to cause a loss or 
deficiency;

•	We are not satisfied that the Foundation Trust has put 
in place proper arrangements to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources;

•	We have been unable to satisfy ourselves that the 
Annual Governance Statement, and other information 
published with the financial statements meets 
the disclosure requirements set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2023/34 
and is not misleading or inconsistent with other 
information forthcoming from the audit; or

•	We have been unable to satisfy ourselves that proper 
practices have been observed in the compilation of 
the financial statements.

Responsibilities of the 
Accountable Officer
As explained more fully in the ‘Statement of 
the Chief Executive’s responsibilities as the 
Accountable Officer of Alder Hey Children’s 
NHS Foundation Trust’ set out on pages 122 
to 124 the Chief Executive is the Accountable 
Officer of Alder Hey Children’s NHS 
Foundation Trust. The Accountable Officer is 
responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view and for such internal 
control as the Accountable Officer determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the 
Accountable Officer is responsible for 
assessing the Foundation Trust’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the Council of Governors 
intend to cease operations of the Foundation 
Trust, or have no realistic alternative but to do 
so.

As explained in the Governance Statement, 
the Accountable Officer is responsible for the 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in the use of the Foundation 
Trust’s resources.
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Auditor’s Responsibility for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

Explanation as to What Extent the 
Audit was Considered Capable of 
Detecting Irregularities, including 
Fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined 
above, to detect irregularities, including fraud. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is 
higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, 
for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, 
or through collusion. The extent to which our 
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, 
including fraud is detailed below. However, the primary 
responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud 
rests with both those charged with governance of the 
entity and management.
•	We obtained an understanding of the legal and 

regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the 
Trust and determined that the most significant are 
the National Health Service Act 2006, the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012 and the Health and Care Act 
2022, as well as relevant employment laws of the 
United Kingdom. In addition, the Foundation Trust 
has to comply with laws and regulations in the areas 
of anti-bribery and corruption, data protection and 
health & safety.

•	We understood how Alder Hey Children’s NHS 
Foundation Trust is complying with those frameworks 
by understanding the incentive, opportunities and 
motives for non-compliance, including inquiring 
of management, internal audit and those charged 
with governance and obtaining and reviewing 
documentation relating to the procedures in 
place to identify, evaluate and comply with laws 
and regulations, and whether they are aware of 
instances of non-compliance. We corroborated this 

through our review of the Foundation Trust’s board 
minutes, through enquiry of employees to verify 
Foundation Trust policies, and through the inspection 
of employee handbooks and other information. 
Based on this understanding we designed our audit 
procedures to identify non-compliance with such 
laws and regulations. Our procedures had a focus on 
compliance with the accounting framework through 
obtaining sufficient audit evidence in line with the level 
of risk identified and with relevant legislation.

•	We assessed the susceptibility of the Foundation 
Trust’s financial statements to material misstatement, 
including how fraud might occur by understanding 
the potential incentives and pressures for 
management to manipulate the financial statements, 
and performed procedures to understand the areas in 
which this would most likely arise. Based on our risk 
assessment procedures, we identified manipulation 
of reported financial performance (through improper 
recognition of revenue), inappropriate capitalisation 
of revenue expenditure and management override of 
controls to be our fraud risks.

•	To address our fraud risk around the manipulation 
of reported financial performance through improper 
recognition of revenue, we performed procedures 
that tested whether income, and contract receivables 
were recorded in the correct financial year, 
challenging assumptions and reconciling income 
for the period to amounts notified by material 
commissioners.

•	To address our fraud risk around the manipulation 
of reported financial performance through improper 
recognition of expenditure, we performed procedures 
that tested whether expenditure, and liabilities were 
recorded in the correct financial year, challenging 
assumptions and testing the completeness of 
provisions at the date of the Statement of Financial 
Position.

•	To address our fraud risk of inappropriate 
capitalisation of revenue expenditure we tested 
the Trust’s capitalised expenditure to ensure the 
capitalisation criteria were properly met and the 
expenditure was genuine and incurred in the 
reporting period.

•	To address the presumed fraud risk of management 
override of controls, we implemented a journal entry 
testing strategy, assessed accounting estimates 
for evidence of management bias and evaluated 
the business rationale for significant unusual 
transactions. This included testing specific journal 
entries identified by applying risk criteria to the entire 
population of journals. For each journal selected, 
we tested specific transactions back to source 
documentation to confirm that the journals were 
authorised and accounted for appropriately.
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A further description of our responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at 
https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. 
This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Scope of the Review of 
Arrangements for Securing 
Economy, Efficiency and 
Effectiveness in the Use of 
Resources
We have undertaken our review in accordance with 
the Code of Audit Practice 2020, having regard to the 
guidance on the specified reporting criteria issued by 
the Comptroller and Auditor General in May 2024, as to 
whether the Foundation Trust had proper arrangements 
for financial sustainability, governance and improving 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness. The Comptroller 
and Auditor General determined these criteria as that 
necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit 
Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the Foundation 
Trust put in place proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources for the year ended 31 March 2024.

We planned our work in accordance with the Code 
of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we 
undertook such work as we considered necessary to 
form a view on whether, in all significant respects, the 
Foundation Trust had put in place proper arrangements 
to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 
use of resources.

We are required under schedule 10(1)(d) of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 to be satisfied that the 
Foundation Trust has made proper arrangements for 

securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 
use of resources. Under the Code of Audit Practice, we 
are required to report to you if the Foundation Trust has 
not made proper arrangement for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources.

We are not required to consider, nor have we 
considered, whether all aspects of the Foundation
Trust’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating 
effectively.

Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the 
accounts of Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation
Trust in accordance with the requirements of the 
National Health Service Act 2006 and the Code of
Audit Practice issued by the National Audit Office on 
behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General.

Use of our Report
This report is made solely to the Council of Governors 
of Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust in 
accordance with Schedule 10 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 and for no other purpose. To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Council of Governors, for our audit work, for this report, 
or for the opinions we have formed.

HASSAN ROHIMUN (Key Audit Partner)
Ernst & Young LLP (Local Auditor)
Manchester
28th June 2024



The news was incredibly painful 
to bear, especially considering 
that I was heavily pregnant at 
the time. But thankfully Max 
had approximately 85% of the 
tumour located in his right 
temporal lobe successfully 
removed by Alder Hey 
neurosurgeons Professor Conor 
Mallucci and Mr. Ellenbogen 
and their team in an 8-hour 
surgery in March. I can’t express 
how grateful I am to everyone 
involved in Max’s care.

day.  A follow up MRI scan at 14 
months old revealed that the lesion 
on his brain had grown and that 
Max would have to have surgery.
Surgeons at Alder Hey were able 
to successfully remove 85% of the 
growth on Max’s brain and since 
then Max has been seizure free. 
He has started attending nursery, 
making friends along the way. 

Max was around 12 days old when 
he experienced 18 episodes of 
apnoea, causing his lips to turn 
blue. He was transferred to Alder 
Hey’s intensive care unit to receive 
treatment but a later EEG scan 
confirmed he had a small lesion on 
his brain. Max was given epilepsy 
medication but he continued 
to have multiple seizures every 

Max’s 
Story

Mum Liane said:

Outstanding care



Our Staff Advice and Liaison Service (SALS) is an 
open access listening service available to all staff 
and learners at Alder Hey. The service has been 
developed and is delivered by Alder Hey staff for 
Alder Hey staff and is underpinned by the principles 
of person-centred compassionate care.

SALS acts as a hub within Alder Hey and has had 
over 12,000 contacts to date. These contacts 
represent over 1,900 individuals representing 
approximately 38% of the workforce. Feedback from 
staff accessing the service remains very positive with 
100% surveyed saying they ‘would recommend the 
service to friends or colleagues in the organisation’.

SALS is part of a wider community of stakeholders 
supporting professional wellbeing support. This 
includes our HR colleagues, the Organisational 
Development Team, the FTSU Guardian and 
champions, Occupational Health and clinical health 
psychology colleagues.

In October 2023, our SALS Team were recognised 
with the ‘Excellence Award for Healthcare Workers’ 
Wellbeing’ at the International Hospital Federation 
annual Award Ceremony and Gala Dinner.

Talking to SALS was 
really beneficial, 
I felt listened to, 
believed and saw 
actions immediately. I 
honestly felt that my 
best interests were 
at the centre of our 
conversations.

Our Staff 
Advice and 

Liaison
Service

Supporting 
our staff






